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Annex 234

Circular of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Bolivia, to the Legations of 
Bolivia Abroad, 25 January 1901

(Original in Spanish, English translation)

Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Bolivia, Report from the Minister of Foreign 
Affairs of Bolivia to the Regular Congress of 1901 (1902), pp. 97 - 101
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CHILE
------------

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Circular to the Legations of Bolivia Abroad
  La Paz, 25 January 1901

	 When	 I	 took	 office	 of	 the	 Foreign	 Ministry	 and	 among	
the	 first	 duties	 of	 my	 position,	 I	 found	 the	 painful,	 it	 is	 true,	 but	
inevitable task of rectifying diverse considerations and assertions 
contained in the Circular that was addressed by the Chilean 
Foreign	 Ministry	 to	 its	 Diplomatic	 Corps	 abroad	 on	 30	 September.	
	 The	 severe	 statements	 made	 therein,	 in	 the	 way	 of	 a	 simple	
explanation	 of	 the	 true	 scope	 of	 the	Note	 sent	 to	 our	Government	 by	
Plenipotentiary König, reveal, unfortunately, not only the natural and 
legitimate	purpose	of	justifying	the	conduct	followed	by	the	Government	
of Chile in its relations with Peru and Bolivia, but also an absolute 
ignorance	 of	 the	 rights	 that	 belong	 to	 them	 in	 the	 territories	 now	
occupied by Chile; and what is even stranger, this has occurred in a state 
of negotiations intended to bring together both countries and conclude 
a	definitive	peace	 agreement	between	 them,	 in	which	 it	 is	 possible	 to	
perceive	the	marked	tendency	to	attribute	to	the	Bolivian	policies	a	certain	
odious	 vainness	 in	 the	 fulfillment	 of	 its	 commitments,	 and	 an	 undue	
and tenacious aspiration to possess what in no way corresponds to it.

[...]
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          97
_______________________________________________________________

[...]

_____________

 The different accusations that I have addressed here refer to facts 
that relate to an epoch preceding the war of 1879, but since there are 
others	that	are	intimately	and	significantly	related	to	our	current	policy,	
I	must	take	them	into	account.
 Bolivia and Peru are credited with obstructing the noble intention 
of	 the	Government	of	Chile	 to	 reconcile	and	give	 full	 satisfaction	 to	
the aspirations and interests of both peoples, in order to ensure the 
achievement	of	a	definitive	peace	among	 the	 three	nations,	 and	with	
this	intention,	the	following	accusation	is	formulated:

“When, owing to our long years of efforts and very harsh 
sacrifices,	we	 thought	we	had	 reached	 the	outcome,	we	 saw	
a new unforeseen obstacle arise, and we were placed in a no-
win situation. Peru refused to discuss the plebiscitary protocol 
until	we	concluded	with	Bolivia	a	peace	treaty	from	which	all	
adventitious rights to the possession of Tacna and Arica would 
be	eliminated;	and	Bolivia,	in	turn,	postponed	the	discussion	
of	the	Peace	Treaty	until	after	we	came	to	an	agreement	on	the	
plebiscitary protocol with Peru and carried it out.”
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 It is not understandable that Bolivia ought to be attributed, in the 
aforementioned	 and	 still	 pending	 peace	 negotiations,	 a	 role	 that	 is	 so	
different	from	that	which	it	was	really	able	to	play	and	that	is	so	opposed	
to	 the	 aims	 it	 has	 pursued	with	 self-sacrifice	 and	 determination.If,	 on	
many	occasions,	it	becomes	difficult	to	discover	the	truth	of	past	events,	
which	are	hidden	in	the	darkness	of	times,	then	there	is	nothing	easier	
than	to	clarify	the	current	facts,	all	the	more	if	they	have	just	developed	
in our own sight.
 In the present case, in order to be able to discover with full clarity 
who is to be held responsible for the fact that it has not yet been possible 
to	reach	a	definitive	peace	agreement	 to	present,	 it	 is	enough	to	recall	
both	countries’	diplomatic	actions,	which	are	 recorded	 in	 the	different	
pacts	agreed	upon	in	the	last	period	and	in	the	efforts	to	put	them	into	
force.
	 The	truce	pact	was	signed	with	a	series	of	burdensome	conditions	
imposed	upon	Bolivia.	It	was	only	natural	that	the	latter	should	seek	to	
free	itself	from	it,	replacing	it	with	a	definitive	peace,	even	if	it	had	to	
resign	itself	to	accepting	painful	sacrifices.
 On the other hand, it was also natural for Chile to aspire to the 
consolidation of the property rights it desired to possess over the territories 
which it had occupied provisionally.
	 After	an	unsuccessful	attempt	at	settlement	and	in	the	aftermath	
of the civil war that broke out in Chile, the declaration of belligerence, 
sharply	requested	by	its	advocates,	was	produced	and	with	it,	came	about	
the	approximation	of	relations	between	the	Bolivian	Government	and	the	
triumphant	Government	Junta	of	Chile.
 The stipulation of a pact favorable to Bolivia was then only to be 
expected,	but	this	was	far	from	being	so.
	 The	Protocol	of	19	May	1891	was	formulated	by	the	Minister	of	
Chile, Juan Gonzalo Matta. In spite of its very heavy and inconvenient 
conditions	and	that	it	completely	ruled	out	the	idea	of	a	port	for	Bolivia,	
this protocol was, after serious resistance in the Bolivian Congress, 
approved	by	it,	and	then	the	Government	was	recommended	to	take	steps	
to	improve	it	as	much	as	possible.
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When the pact was taken to Chile, it was paralyzed there.
	 Shortly	afterwards,	the	Government	of	Chile	itself	initiated	again	
the	conclusion	of	a	definitive	peace	treaty,	which	would	harmonize	the	
interests	of	both	countries	as	much	as	possible.
Bolivia decidedly supported this purpose and instructed its Plenipotentiary 
in	Santiago	to	proceed	to	adjust	it.
	 After	serious	and	successive	meetings,	two	treaties	were	concluded,	
both	on	18	May	1895:	one	on	peace	and	friendship	and	another	one	on	
territory transfer.
	 In	the	former,	the	possession	of	the	territory	which	Chile	governed	
according	 to	 the	 Pact	 of	 Truce	 became	 an	 absolute	 and	 perpetual	
dominion;	and	in	the	second	one,	Chile	undertook	to	transfer	to	Bolivia	
the territories of Tacna and Arica, if, as a result of the plebiscite or by 
direct	arrangements,	it	acquired	them.	In	order	to	do	this,	Chile	committed	
to	make	all	efforts.
 However, if Chile could not obtain the territories of Tacna and 
Arica,	it	committed	itself	to	transfer	Vitor	inlet	or	an	analogous	one,	as	
well	as	the	sum	of	5,000,000	pesos	to	Bolivia.
	 With	these	treaties,	both	Governments	recognized	that	what	is	now	
regarded	in	the	Circular	as	a	tenacious	and	unjustified	obsession	to	obtain	
a	port	was	only	Bolivia’s	natural	and	just	aspiration	to	be	given	at	least	a	
strip of territory that allows its connection with the sea, in exchange for 
the	whole	of	the	coastal	territory	it	abandoned;	Bolivia	demanded	only	a	
port in return for the transfer of the four ports and seven coves which its 
coastal territory contained.
 Two additional protocols were concluded thereafter; one on 
Credit	Settlement,	concluded	in	Santiago	on	28	May	that	year;	and	an	
explanatory	protocol	 on	 the	obligations	 assumed	 in	 the	Treaties	 of	 18	
May	in	Sucre,	signed	on	9	December	that	year.
 This latter was entered into in order to record that the two Treaties 
of Peace and Transfer were an indivisible whole and of reciprocal 
stipulations; and that the port that Chile was bound to give to Bolivia in 
case it did not obtain Tacna and Arica, should broadly satisfy 
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the	present	and	future	needs	of	Bolivia’s	commerce	and	industry.
	 Since	 the	 scopes	of	 the	 above	condition	 still	 seemed	vague	and	
indeterminate	 to	 the	 Government	 of	 Chile,	 both	 countries	 agreed	 to	
clarify it, and a last explanatory protocol was concluded and signed in 
Santiago	on	30	April	1896.
 All these pacts were approved by the Bolivian Congress, without 
exception.	Chile,	on	the	other	hand,	only	approved	the	two	main	ones,	
leaving	the	legislative	approval	of	the	Protocols	of	9	December	1895	and	
30	April	1896	pending,	and	thus	hindered	the	definitive	conclusion	of	the	
arrangements;	all	this	in	spite	of	the	fact	that	these	Protocols	had	been	
widely discussed and already approved by the Council of State of that 
Republic.
 The text of the legislative approval given by the Bolivian Congress 
is	transcribed	below:

“Mariano Baptista
Constitutional President of the Republic of Bolivia.

Whereas the National Congress has sanctioned the following 
Law:
The National Congress
Decrees:
Sole Article - The two treaties of Peace and Territory Transfer, 
adjusted	in	the	city	of	Santiago	on	18	May	this	year	and	the	
Complementary	Protocols	–the	first	dated	the	28th	of	the	same	
month	 and	 the	 second	 dated	 today–	 the	 former	 three	 by	 the	
respective Plenipotentiaries, Mr. Heriberto Gutierrez and Mr. 
Luis Barros Borgoño, and the latter signed in that Capital by 
the	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs	of	Bolivia	Mr.	Emeterio	Cano	
and the Minister Plenipotentiary of Chile Mr. Juan Gonzalo 
Matta are hereby approved as a whole and as reciprocal and 
integral	stipulations	from	one	another.	
Inform	the	Executive	Branch	for	 the	constitutional	measures	
[that are to be taken to this end].
Session	Room	–	Sucre,	9	December	1895	–	Severo	Fernandez	
Alonso	–	Federico	Zuazo	–	Gil	Antonio	Peña,	Senator	Secretary	
–	Fanor	G.	Romero,	Deputy	Secretary	–	Adolfo	Trigo	Acha,	
Deputy Secretary.
Therefore,	I	promulgate	that	it	be	regarded	and	complied	with	
as a Law of the Republic.
House	 of	 Government	 of	 Sucre,	 10	 December	 1895	 -	 M.	
Baptista	-	Emeterio	Cano”.

	 This	 transcript	 evidences	 that	 Bolivia	 complied	 with	 its	
duty to sanction the stipulations agreed upon and that it was the 
Government	 of	 Chile	 which,	 in	 the	 midst	 of	 constant	 hesitation,	
delayed	 their	 definitive	 sanction, leaving to the present the approval 
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of	the	aforementioned	explanatory	Protocols	pending	by	its	Congress.
 Bolivia, however, persisted in its intention to uphold the stipulated 
arrangements	and	instructed	its	Legation	in	Chile	to	continue	taking	the	
steps	leading	to	the	approval	of	the	aforementioned	Protocols.
	 Nevertheless,	 despite	 every	 effort,	 by	 telegram	 received	 on	 the	
22nd,	 this	 Chancellery	 was	 informed	 that	 the	 Chilean	 Senate,	 at	 the	
request of the Executive, agreed at its last session to hand back to Bolivia 
the	Protocols	it	had	pending	with	it,	so	that	it	may	seek	the	solution	it	
desires,	 on	bases	 that	 are	different	 from	 those	proposed	and	approved	
earlier.
 And it will still be said that it was Bolivia that postponed the 
definitive	peace	arrangements	with	Chile!
-------------------
[…] 
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Annex 235

Telegram	723.2515/503	from	the	Charge	d’Affaires	of	the	United	States	
in Bolivia Goold to the Secretary of State,

	6	October	1919

(Original in English)

Department	of	State	of	the	United	States,	Papers relating to the Foreign 
Relations of the United States	(1919),	Volume	I,	p.	160
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Annex 236

Note	from	the	Minister	of	Foreign Affairs of Bolivia, Alberto Gutierrez, 
to the  Minister of  Foreign Affairs of Chile, Ernesto Barros Jarpa, 

20	December	1921

 (Original in Spanish, English translation)

Information	Service	of	the	Ministry	of	Foreign	Affairs	of	Chile,	Chile and the 
Aspiration of Bolivia for a Port in the Pacific	(1922),	pp.	135	-	138
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BOLIVIA AND THE BARROS JARPA-SOLOMON 
NEGOTIATION

LA	PAZ,	20-21	DECEMBER	1921

Your Excellency, Minister of Foreign Affairs, Santiago.

MR.	MINISTER:

	 On	the	13th	day	of	this	year	his	current	Servant	the	Chargé	d'Affaires	of	Chile	
was	pleased	to	communicate	to	this	Ministry	the	tenor	of	the	proposal	transmitted	by	
his	Government	to	the	Government	of	Peru,	to	resolve	by	means	of	a	plebiscite	that	
would be carried out on the bases that in 1912 had been proposed or discussed between 
the	two	Governments	regarding	the	definitive	nationality	of	the	Provinces	of	Tacna	
and	Arica.	On	the	16th	he	asked	the	undersigned	what	the	ideas	of	this	Government	
would	be	on	the	aforementioned	proposal.	The	undersigned	did	not	hesitate	to	express	
to the representative of Chile that, although he was pleased to see the possibility of 
a	settlement	of	the	issues	that	distanced	the	good	relations	between	his	country	and	
Peru,	he	did	not	believe	 that	 the	procedure	 indicated	by	 the	Government	of	Chile	
would give the desired results. However, the undersigned added, perhaps this would 
be 
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an	 opportunity	 for	 more	 effective	 initiatives	 to	 contribute	 to	 solving	 the	 Pacific	
issue	under	broad	and	just	conditions	that	would	definitively	settle	the	peace	on	the	
continent.

	 Yesterday	his	Servant	the	Chargé	d'Affaires	of	Peru	directed	a	Note	to	this	
Ministry	transmitting	the	text	of	the	cable	response	that	his	Government	had	given	to	
the	one	of	Chile.	In	it	the	Government	of	Peru	expressed	its	excuse	for	accepting	the	
plebiscitary	procedure	to	which	it	was	invited	and	proposed	to	submit	the	issue	of	the	

	 South	Pacific	in	all	its	integrity	to	an	arbitration	which	would	be	initiated	or	
agreed	under	the	auspices	of	the	Government	of	the	United	States.
My	Government	has	carefully	examined	both	communications	with	the	interest	of	
the	continental	 situation	of	Bolivia	 in	 the	Pacific	 issue,	whose	possible	 resolution	
imposes	a	definite	attitude	on	it	and	gives	it	an	undisputed	right	to	intervene	in	it.

 The question concerning the nationality of Tacna and Arica is not the only 
one	that	persists	as	a	result	of	the	War	of	the	Pacific	and	the	Treaties	which	resulted	
as	a	consequence	of	it.	The	problem	is	multiple	and	its	different	aspects	present	close	
connections	 that	 do	 not	make	 possible	 the	 solution	 for	 ones	 without	 causing	 the	
aggravation on the others. 

	 The	conflict	of	1879	was	concluded	with	pacts	that	only	translated	the	warlike	
state	of	that	time,	but	left	in	the	spirit	and	interests	of	the	vanquished	peoples	a	germ	
of disturbance that could not but to be the cause of constant international uneasiness.
 
	 The	 peace	 of	 the	 South	 American	 continent	 imposes	 the	 desirability	 of	
cementing	the	relations	of	these	peoples	in	the	principles	of	justice	and	reparation,	
which	will	be	the	sole	basis	for	peaceful	and	lasting	agreements.

	 Bolivia	does	not	ignore	the	duties	imposed	by	the	faith	of	the	Public	Treaties;	
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however,	it	would	not	only	be	a	question	of	examining	whether	they	had	been	fully	
complied	with	by	the	Contracting	Parties	but	also	whether	they	might	continue	to	be	
maintained	when	they	entailed	the	annulment	of	the	essential	elements	of	international	
life	and	of	the	attributes	peculiar	to	the	national	sovereignty	of	one	of	them.

	 Bolivia	convinced	that	is	assisted	by	the	right	to	claim	the	unjust	deprivation	
suffered of these gifts with which nature had endowed it and with which it had been 
born	 to	 independent	 life,	 it	 resorted	 to	 the	 justification	 of	 all	 civilized	 nations	 to	
submit	to	them	the	study	of	its	international	mutilation.

	 Article	19	of	the	Treaty	of	Versailles,	inspired	by	such	needs	and	doctrines,	
explicitly recognized that this kind of situations could occur and occur, consequently 
pointing	to	appropriate	procedures	to	remedy	them.	In	this	regard,	the	Bolivian	claim	
before	the	Assembly	of	Nations	of	last	September	had	this	purpose.

	 The	Government	of	Peru,	in	its	response	to	the	invitation	of	the	Chancellery	
of	Santiago,	has	stated,	based	on	reasons	proper	to	it	and	whose	examination	does	not	
correspond to that of Bolivia, its refusal to accept the plebiscite, instead proposing 
an	appeal	to	arbitration	which,	presided	by	the	US	Government,	would	resolve	in	its	
entirety	the	issue	of	the	Pacific.	
 
	 Considering	 the	Pacific	port	dispute,	my	Government	cannot	 remain	 silent	
and, with full independence in its actions, declares that it would gladly accept that the 
question	of	the	Pacific,	in	which	solution	the	rights	and	interests	of	Bolivia	should	be	
considered,	be	decided	by	means	of	a	purely	legal	procedure	such	as	that	of	arbitration	
that	would	surely	bring	an	era	of	peace	and	well-being	for	nations	that	would	submit	
their	differences	to	this	civilized	way	of	resolving	international	conflicts.
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 Moreover, as it is convenient to foresee the case that the Governments of Peru 
and Chile cannot agree to this end, mine proposes to hold an international conference 
composed of representatives of nations directly concerned on this serious issue of the 
Pacific and those other neighboring or friendly nations of the continent. 

 The Government of Bolivia recognizes that the Governments of Chile and Peru 
have given in considering the possibility of a solution by legal means, a proof of love 
of peace and a spirit of conciliation and wishes to take advantage of this opportunity 
to record their points of view and its rights in solving the Pacific issue.

 This is an occasion, Your Excellency, Mr. Minister, which gives me the pleasure 
to offer you the sentiments of my highest consideration – A. Gutierrez, Minister for 
Foreign Affairs.



28



29

Annex 237

Note from the Minister of Foreign Affairs of Chile, Ernesto 
Barros Jarpa, to the Minister Plenipotentiary of Bolivia to 

Chile, Macario Pinilla, N° 1.725, 21 December 1921

(Original in Spanish, English translation)

Archives of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Bolivia
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The Republic of Chile
Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Santiago,	21	December	1921

	 	 Diplomatic	Section
  Nº 1.725

	 Mr.	Minister:

 The Honorable Minister of Foreign Affairs of Bolivia, Mr. Alberto 

Gutierrez, has sent to the undersigned an attentive direct telegraphic 

communication,	 for	 whose	 reply	 I	 believe	 I	 should	 not	 exclude	Your	

Excellency, who has in our country the high representation of his country 

in	the	form	of	Envoy	Extraordinary	and	Minister	Plenipotentiary.

	 This	communication	expresses	the	wish	that,	given	the	diplomatic	

controversy in which Chile and Peru are currently engaged, the rights 

and	 interests	of	Bolivia	should	be	considered	 in	 relation	 to	 the	Pacific	

issue, regarding 

TO HIS EXCELLENCY, MR. MACARIO PINILLA,
ENVOY	EXTRAORDINARY	AND	MINISTER	PLENIPOTENTIARY	
OF	BOLIVIA	IN	CHILE	–	Santiago.
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which solution is suggested by His Excellency Minister of Foreign 

Affairs	of	Bolivia,	temperaments	that	in	his	opinion	would	be	adequate	

and appropriate. 

 In response, I would like to express to Your Excellency that the 

pending	negotiation	between	the	Governments	of	Chile	and	Peru	arises	

from	an	International	Treaty	signed	between	those	two	countries	and	in	

which Bolivia had neither direct nor indirect intervention.

	 Every	act	of	Bolivia	aimed	at	getting	involved	in	this	discrepancy,	

entails	an	intrusion	outside	diplomatic	uses	and	contrary	to	good	relations	

between our countries. 

	 The	negotiation	initiated	before	the	Government	of	Peru	obeys	the	

purpose	of	complying	with	clause	3	of	the	Treaty	of	1883,	in	what	is	still	

pending.	With	Bolivia,	the	situation	is	completely	different:	The	truce	of	

1884	was	transformed	into	the	Treaty	of	Peace	and	Friendship	of	1904	

signed on behalf of Bolivia by His Excellency Alberto Gutierrez, the 

current Minister of Foreign Affairs. That Treaty established the conditions 

of	justice	and	equity	convenient	to	both	countries,	and	in	it	the	current	

means	of	communication	between	Bolivia	and	the	coast	were	extended,	

assuming	Chile	at	its	expense	the	construction	of	the	Railroad	
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of Arica to La Paz whose half-part will pass to Bolivia in the near future, 
at no charge to that country. This way Bolivia was linked to the sea 
through	three	railroads:	those	of	Arica	and	Antofagasta	in	Chile	and	that	
of Mollendo in Peru.

 It is appropriate to point out that the Treaty in question has been 
applied	and	complied	with	without	any	controversy	ever	being	raised	in	
its	implementation	or	interpretation.

	 The	Government	of	Your	Excellency,	however,	has	been	publicly	
and	solemnly	invited	in	Geneva,	and	later	in	La	Paz	and	in	Santiago,	to	
express directly to Chile their views on their aspirations for a port in the 
Pacific.

	 But	by	Note	dated	16	November,	Your	Excellency	informed	me	the	
fact that he had received “instructions to declare that Your Excellency’s 
Mission did not include, for now, any proposal or initiative on the 
aspirations	 that	 Bolivia	 maintains	 for	 obtaining	 a	 port	 in	 the	 Pacific	
Ocean.”

	 The	antecedents	which	I	have	set	forth	lead	me	to	declare	to	Your	
Excellency	 that	 my	 Government	 is	 deemed	 excused	 to	 consider	 the	
proposals contained in the Telegraph Note which I reply; and in begging 
Your Excellency to convey this reply to Your 
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Illustrated	 Government,	 I	 am	 especially	 grateful	 to	 renew	 to	 Your	
Excellency	 the	 sentiments	 of	 my	 highest	 and	 most	 distinguished	
consideration. 

       [Signature]
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 Annex 238

Information	Service	of	 the	Ministry	of	Foreign	Affairs	of	Chile,	Chile 
and the Aspiration of Bolivia for a Port in the Pacific (1922), 

pp. 155 - 157 (extract)

(Original in Spanish, English translation)
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MEMORANDUM FROM THE URUGUAYAN GOVERNMENT

	 The	Government	of	Uruguay,	in	response	to	a	request	from	Boliv-
ia,	instructed	its	Ministers	in	Santiago	and	Lima	to	exchange	ideas	with	
the	Foreign	Ministries	of	both	countries	on	the	possibility	of	removing	
from	the	American	environment	 the	uncertainty	that	 the	persistence	of	
this	issue	would	mean	in	the	future	for	the	peace	and	tranquility	of	these	
nations.
 
	 The	Minister	of	Uruguay,	Mr.	Martinez	Thedy,	following	the	in-
structions of the Foreign Ministry of his country, conferred with the 
Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs	on	this	matter,	 in	order	to	inform	him	of	a	
Memorandum	that	the	Foreign	Ministry	of	Uruguay	had	just	sent	to	the	
Government	of	La	Paz,	referring	to	the	issues	that	this	country	has	raised	
before	various	South	American	Governments	in	relation	to	its	maritime	
aspirations.

	 This	Memorandum,	which	is	the	result	of	conversations	held	be-
tween	Mr.	Martinez	Thedy	and	Mr.	Barros	Jarpa,	says	as	follows:

“According	to	what	was	promised,	the	Foreign	Ministry	of	Uruguay	
sent a friendly word to the Chancellery of Chile, in the sense that it 
would	be	beneficial	for	the	American	harmony	to	leave	no	
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reasons	for	future	disagreements,	which	would	result	in	failure	to	seek	
within a broad spirit of cordiality and reciprocal interest, a solution to 
the issue that Bolivia insistently raises.
We	are	qualified	to	affirm	that	in	Chile,	the	issue	is	appreciated	in	the	
same	way,	dominating	 the	opinion	that	Bolivia	should	not	raise	 the	
matter	before	corporations	that	are	foreign	to	the	sovereignty	of	Chile.
Chile	believes	 that	 it	 is	not	appropriate	 to	discuss	 this	 issue	 jointly	
with	Peru	at	the	Washington	meeting	because	of	the	legal	nature	of	
the issue to be addressed there; but reiterates that it is willing, in this 
case, to consider solutions directly with Bolivia. Chile points out that 
it has always considered this issue with interest and a friendly spirit.
Our	impression	is	 that	Bolivia	will	not	 lose	anything	by	attempting	
to address this issue directly with Chile, rather it would have an 
opportunity	 to	 use	 the	 goodwill	 that	 the	 Government	 of	 Chile	
repeatedly expresses towards Bolivia.
From	the	antecedents	of	this	matter,	it	appears	that	the	presentation	of	
the	Bolivian	claim	before	different	nations	and	jurisdictions,	produces	
in	Chile	displeasure,	and	may	perhaps	frustrate	attempts	to	settle	this	
issue through direct negotiations.
Perhaps it is not appropriate to invoke, in order to reach success, reasons 
of	strictly	legal	nature,	but	of	solidarity	and	continental	harmony.”

_____________

 When the Minister of Foreign Affairs, Mr. Barros Jarpa, was 
interviewed,	he	made	the	following	statements	to	the	press	regarding	the	
Memorandum	transcribed	above:
 
	 “As	soon	as	I	returned	from	my	trip	to	Tacna,	I	received	the	visit	
of	the	Minister	of	Uruguay,	who	informed	me	of	all	the	proceedings	that	
had	been	carried	out	by	his	Government	in	order	to	take	an	active	part	
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in favor of the wishes of Bolivia, in order to participate in the Chilean-
Peruvian conferences of Washington.

	 I	told	Mr.	Martinez	Thedy	that	the	Government	of	Chile	was	not	in	
favor	of	accepting	requests	or	insinuations	about	its	external	problems;	
but that, on the other hand, was keenly pleased to exchange ideas about 
them	and	to	make	its	points	of	view	known.

	 Posed	with	the	acceptance	of	Mr.	Martinez	Thedy	on	this	subject,	
the	Uruguayan	diplomat	heard	an	extensive	and	frank	exposition	that	I	
made	about	the	position	of	our	country	regarding	the	Bolivian	aspirations.

	 I	also	expressed	to	the	distinguished	Uruguayan	diplomat	the	idea	
that	 it	 would	 be	 very	 interesting	 for	 the	American	 countries	 to	 try	 to	
persuade Bolivia that the path that it had adopted would bring no favorable 
resolution for its interests; and that, on the other hand, the good disposition 
of Chile gave Bolivia high hopes of success in its aspirations, as long as 
it	 seeks	 the	 satisfaction	 of	 these	 aspirations	within	 an	 environment	 of	
cordiality, friendly bonding and reciprocal concessions.
 
	 That	is	the	origin	of	the	Memorandum	passed	by	the	Uruguayan	
Government	to	that	of	Bolivia,	a	Memorandum	with	which	the	first	of	
these	countries	commits	once	again	the	gratitude	of	our	people,	lending	
itself	to	be	an	authorized	and	eloquent	spokesman	of	our	thesis,	and	adding	
on	its	part	recommendations	that,	inspired	by	a	high	spirit	of	continental	
harmony	and	a	full	understanding	of	the	problem,	make	a	real	historical	
justification	for	our	country.”

  _____________________
[...]



46



47

 Annex 239

Note	from	the	Chargé	d’Affaires	of	the	Bolivian	Legation	to	Chile,	Juan	
Salinas Lozada, to the Minister of Foreign Affairs of Bolivia, Alberto 

Gutierrez, N° 117, 27 January 1922

(Original in Spanish, English translation)

Archives of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Bolivia
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LEGATION OF BOLIVIA    
            Santiago, 27 January 1922

Nº 117
Subject:	Invitation	of	the	U.S.
    Tacna and Arica

Distinguished Minister,

 
 In	my	Note	Nº	 111	 of	 the	 20th	 of	 this	month,	 I	 had	 the	 pleasure	 of	
informing	Your	 Excellency	 of	 the	 views	 I	 had	 gathered	 from	 official	 and	
diplomatic	 circles	 in	 regard	 to	 the	 invitation	made	 by	 the	United	 States	 of	
America,	 of	 which	 you	 are	 aware	 already.	 The	 considerations	 that	 I	 had	
formulated,	and	that	were	contained	in	the	said	Note,	have	been	confirmed	by	
the	new	orientation	followed	by	the	Chilean	press	and	the	recent	statements	
made	by	Foreign	Minister	Barros	Jarpa.	

	 The	 Chilean	 press	 statements	 no	 longer	 insists	 in	 attributing	
to	 the	 invitation	 made	 by	 Mr.	 Harding	 the	 points	 of	 agreement	 which	
it	 uniformly	 had	 believed	 to	 have	 found	 in	 relation	 to	 the	 Chilean	
thesis	 of	 compliance	 with	 the	 Ancon	 Treaty	 from	 the	 beginning.

 “La Nacion” newspaper, in one of its latests editorials, held inter alia: 
“The	 invitation	made	by	 the	U.S.	can	be	perfectly	understood	 in	 two	ways:	
it regards the Chilean intention to exclusively resolve the question related 
to	 the	 plebiscite,	 as	 well	 as	 Peru’s	 desire	 to	 submit	 all	 pending	 questions	
to the arbitration. Either of the two parties can interpret it to its favor”.       

	 The	Government	of	Chile,	which	in	first	instance,					 			
______________         ____________________

To	His	Excellency,	Dr.	Mr.	Ricardo	Jaimes	Freyre,	Minister	of	Foreign	
Affairs and Worship       La Paz .- 
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had	also	shared	the	views	of	the	press	in	regard	to	this	matter,	understood,	
after	a	detailed	assessment,	that	the	wording	of	the	invitation	made	by	
the	U.S.	President	was	not	completely	favorable	to	it	–view	that	gained	
impetus	in	light	of	the	Peruvian	response-note.	In	this	circumstance,	it	
thought	it	would	be	fitting	to	request	clarifications	to	the	State	Department	
of Washington, which had in its turn approached the Foreign Ministry of 
Lima	–without	any	response	up	to	the	present.	

 In this Foreign Ministry, absolute reserve is kept in regard to this 
particular	aspect,	and	the	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs	has	limited	himself	
to	 stating	 that	 “the	 Chilean–Peruvian	 talks	 in	 Washington	 –which	
President	Harding	had	been	kind	enough	to	foster–	will	not	be	carried	
out	until	the	United	States	informs	Chile	officially	that	Peru	has	accepted	
the invitation sent to that end”.           

	 What	is	actually	being	expected	are	the	clarifications	requested	by	
Chile.	I	however	understand	that	these,	whichever	they	might	be,	do	not	
affect	at	all	the	course	of	the	negotiations,	for	I	am	becoming	increasingly	
convinced of the fact that Chile will take the solution to the longstanding 
conflict	of	the	Pacific	to	an	end.	

	 In	regard	to	this	final	aspect,	Foreign	Minister	Barros	Jarpa	made	
a	 recent	 statement	 to	 a	 journalist	 of	 “El	 Mercurio”	 from	 Valparaiso:	
“Telegram	 communications	 have	 been	 cut,	 he	 said,	 because	 Peru	
decided to use a tenor that has resulted in its international discredit, the 
Government	had	the	purpose of pushing Peru to the point of dragging it 
to	the	solution	the	latter	is	not	seeking”.	And	after	asking	him	how	the	
invitation	made	by	the	U.S.	was	put	forward,	he	replied	verbatim:	“I	am	
in position to declare
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that it was not surprising to us. We accepted it without hesitation”. 

	 This	statement	by	Mr.	Barros	Jarpa	allows	us	to	perceive	in	clear	terms	
that	it	had	actually	been	Chile	which	gave	place	to	the	invitation	made	by	Mr.	
Harding,	through	the	procedures	Your	Excellency	was	informed	of	in	the	note	
I had sent you. 

	 In	 this	 circumstance,	 I	 received	 past	 Saturday,	 a	 lengthy	 cable	 form	
Your	Excellency	by	which	I	was	instructed	to	inform	this	Government	of	the	
wording	of	 the	 communication	 sent	 by	Your	Excellency	 to	His	Excellency,	
the	 President	 of	 the	 United	 States,	 Mr.	 Harding,	 through	 our	 Legation	 in	
Washington.	 Since	 I	was	 not	 in	 the	 capital	 on	 that	 day	 and	 in	 light	 of	my	
desire	 not	 to	 delay	 its	 transcription,	 I	 used	 a	 telegraph	 to	 transmit	 its	
complete	wording	to	Mr.	Barros	Jarpa,	who	was	also	absent	in	Viña	del	Mar.	

	 For	that	reason,	I	sent	to	Your	Excellency	the	following	telegraph	from	
the	Cartagena	resort:	

 “Cartagena,	22	January	1922	–	Relations	–	La	Paz–	Since	neither	the	Honorable	
Minister of Foreign Affairs nor the undersigned are in Santiago, I hastened to send 
from	here	a	cable	to	Mr.	Barros	Jarpa,	informing	him	of	the	cable	Your	Excellency	
sent	to	our	Legation	in	Washington;	thereafter,	I	was	informed	that	my	telegram	
had	been	handed	the	night	before	at	9	p.m.	in	Viña	del	Mar–I	will	confirm	this	
via	a	note	tomorrow	–	Salinas–Lozada	–	Bolivian	Charge	d’Affaires	of	Bolivia”.	
 

	 The	telegram	I	sent	to	Mr.	Barros	Jarpa	was	worded	in	the	following	
terms:	

 
“Cartagena,	 21	 January	 1922	 –	 Minister	 of	 Foreign	 Affairs	 –	 Santiago	 –
To	 His	 Excellency,	 Mr.	 Minister:	 I	 hastened	 to	 inform	 Your	 Excellency	
of	 the	 wording	 of	 the	 telegram	 that	 my	 Government	 instructed	 me	 to	
bring	 to	 the	 notice	 of	 His	 Excellency	 and	 that	 has	 just	 been	 transmitted	
to	 this	 beach	 I	 am	 in	 for	 the	 moment	 (transcript	 of	 the	 cable	 sent	 by	
Your	 Excellency)	 –Salinas–Lozada–	 Charge	 d’Affaires	 of	 Bolivia”.	

 
 
 On Monday, I returned to this city and 
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  I	sent	the	following	note	to	the	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs:	
	 “Santiago,	 23	 January	 1922	 –	 Mr.	 Minister:	 Last	 Saturday,	 I	 received	
instructions	 from	my	 Government	 to	 inform	Your	 Excellency	 of	 the	 wording	 of	
the	communication	 that	by	means	of	 its	Legation	 in	Washington	had	been	sent	 to	
His	Excellency,	the	Secretary	of	State	of	the	United	States.	Since	I	was	not	in	the	
capital	city	on	that	day,	I	informed	Your	Excellency,	in	a	telegram,	of	the	wording	
of	that	communication,	which	I	am	honored	to	reiterate	today	in	the	present	note.	It	
reads	as	follows:	“The	Honorable	Government	of	the	United	States	has	invited	the	
Honorable	Governments	of	Chile	and	Peru	to	appoint	Plenipotentiaries	to	examine	
and	agree	on	the	way	to	put	an	end	to	the	existing	differences	between	them,	which	
result	from	the	Ancon	Treaty.	When	the	recent	demarches	were	commenced	by	these	
two	republics,	the	Government	of	Bolivia	thought	it	necessary	to	state	that	it	could	
not	be	separated	from	the	diplomatic	controversies	 in	which	questions	concerning	
the	South	Pacific	were	 discussed,	 for	 the	 solution	of	 the	questions	 resulting	 from	
the	war	of	1879	will	always	affect,	whatever	form	it	takes,	its	most	transcendental	
interests,	which	are	closely	related	to	modifications	of	 the	statu quo that the force 
of	circumstances	has	created	in	the	Pacific.	The	noble	interest	demonstrated	by	the	
Honorable	Government	of	the	United	States	to	facilitate	a	solution	to	this	problem	
that	 causes	 disturbance	 in	 the	 good	 relations	 of	 these	 peoples	 must	 also	 include	
Bolivia,	 who	 is	 condemned,	 owing	 to	 the	 consequences	 of	 a	 war	 that	 it	 did	 not	
provoke nor caused, to an absolutely unsustainable situation in the continent, which 
will	 give	 place,	 in	 the	 future,	 to	 nothing	 but	 uneasiness	 and	 unrest.	The	 problem	
of	the	Pacific	is	tripartite	and	so	must	its	solution.	Otherwise,	one	of	the	obstacles	
that	obstruct	definite	peace	and	cordiality	among	all	 the	nations	of	this	part	of	the	
Americas	will	not	be	overcome.	By	virtue	of	 that,	my	Government	has	 instructed	
me	to	request	the	Government	of	Your	Excellency	to	transmit	to	the	Government	of	
Bolivia,	in	due	course,	that	invitation	to	the	Plenipotentiary	meeting	that	would	be	
held in Washington, under the auspices of your great nation, because the concrete 
aspects related to that treaty concluded by the two countries will certainly not be 
the	only	ones	that	will	be	discussed	therein,	but	might	also	include	the	discussion	of	
the	situation	that	the	final	agreement	will	create	in	the	Content	–(Signed	by)	Jaimes	
Freyre–	Minister	 of	 Foreign	Affairs.”	 That	 is	 the	wording	 of	 the	 communication	
that	 my	 Government	 has	 instructed	 me	 to	 transmit	 to	 Your	 Excellency,	 and	 I	
am	 glad	 to	 reiterate	 to	 Your	 Excellency,	 the	 feelings	 of	 my	 most	 attentive	 and	
distinguished	consideration.	–	(Signed	by)	J.	Z.	Salinas-Lozada	–	to	His	Excellency,	
Mr. Barros Jarpa - Minister of Foreign Affairs and Worship. Hand delivered.” 

 In	the	days	that	followed,	I	continued	sending	numerous	informative	
cables	which	I	believe	ought	not	to	be	confirmed	in	this	communication.		
In	turn,	I	received	the	following	cable	from	Your	Excellency:	

TRANSLATION:	“La	Paz,	24	January	1922	–	Bolivian	Legation	–	Santiago	–	
We	have	learned	that	the	Government	of	the	U.S.	will	ask	Chile	and	Peru	whether	
they consent to the participation of Bolivia in the Washington Conference. 
You	are	hereby	instructed	to	make	the	necessary	efforts	to	secure	a	favorable	
response	from	the	Government.	Jaimes	Freyre”.	



56



57

	 I,	 thereafter,	 immediately,	replied	to	the	above	cable	in	the	following	
terms:	

TRANSLATION:	“Santiago,	25	January	1922	–	Relations	–	La	Paz	–	Because	
the	Foreign	Minister	was	unwell,	it	was	not	possible	to	see	him	today.	I	will	do	
so	tomorrow	–	Salinas-Lozada”.	

 
 Meanwhile,	 I	 thought	 it	 fitting	 to	 find	 out	 at	 the	U.S.	 Embassy	
whether	instructions	had	been	received	to	formalize	consultations	to	this	
Government	in	regard	to	the	request	for	Bolivia’s	participation.							
 
	 The	outcomes	of	this	inquiry	to	the	U.S.	Embassy	were	transmitted	
to	the	Ministry	in	the	following	encrypted	cable:	

TRANSLATION:	-	“Santiago,	26	January	1922	–	Relations	–	La	Paz	–	The	U.S.	
Embassy	has	not	yet	received	instructions	to	ask	Chile	whether	it	consents	to	
Bolivia’s participation in conferences to be held by Peru and Chile. We guess 
they	are	waiting	for	a	reply	from	Peru	to	the	preceding	clarifications	previously	
requested	by	Chile	through	Washington	in	relation	to	the	terms	of	its	acceptance	
note.	Meanwhile,	Chile	will	not	address	the	appointment	of	plenipotentiaries.	
The Ministry of Foreign Affairs is preparing a book entitled Chile and the 
Bolivian	aspiration	for	a	port	on	the	Pacific.	Said	book	will	contain	the	debate	
held within the League, opinions that are favorable to Chile, and the notes sent 
recently	by	Barros	Jarpa	and	Pinilla.	I	will	hold	a	meeting	with	the	Ministry	of	
Foreign Affairs today. Salinas-Lozada”. 

 
 The day after, I was received by Mr. Barros Jarpa and held a 
lengthy	and	cordial	meeting	which	I	am	trying	to	put	into	words,	in	the	
most	faithful	way	possible,	shaping	it	as	a	conversation:	
		 –	 [The	Minister	 of	Bolivia]:	 It	 is	 said	 ttthat	 the	Government	 of	
Your	Excellency	has	requested	Peru,	through	the	Department	of	State	of	
Washington,	certain	clarifications	on	 the	wording	of	 the	note	 in	which	
Mr. Harding’s invitation will be accepted.
	 –	 [The	Minister	 of	Chile]:	That	 is	 not	 evident	 by	 itself.	We	are	
simply	 awaiting	 a	 communication	 from	 Washington	 and	 we	 have	
instructed	our	Minister	to	request	it	from	the	Department	of	State.	That	
communication	must	 contain	 a	 statement	 to	 the	 effect	 that	 everything	
has	been	defined	and	that	we	are	able	to	proceed	to	the	appointment	of	
Ministers Plenipotentiary. 
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	 –	What	do	you	think	is	the	reason	why	the	Department	of	State	is	
taking	so	long	in	continuing	these	demarches?	
 
	 –	Minister,	apparently	Peru’s	response	was	not	found	clear	enough	
and	it	is	thus	expecting	the	corresponding	clarifications.	
 
	 –	Could	you	please	tell	me	which	those	clarifications	are?	
 
	 –	Minister,	they	refer,	with	no	doubt,	to	the	distorted	interpretation	
Peru has sought to give to the wording of that invitation, for while Chile 
comprehends	that	it	has	been	invited	to	study	the	way	to	give	friendly	
compliance	to	the	third	clause	of	the	Ancon	Treaty	–which	relates	to	the	
way	 in	which	 the	 plebiscite	 is	 to	 be	 carried	 out–	 Peru	 has	 responded	
that	 an	 arbitration	 settled	 by	 the	United	 States	will	 decide	 at	 last	 the	
differences	resulting	from	Ancon	Treaty.	
 
	 –	And	will	Chile	not	accept	arbitration	if	that	were	necessary?	
 
	 –	Minister,	it	is	not	possible	to	anticipate	what	might	happen.	That	
will depend on the direction the talks take. 
 
	 –	It	is	said	in	public	spheres	recently	that	there	is	a	formula	that	
might	come	about	in	the	course	of	discussions	as	the	only	one	capable	of	
saving the situation. It is said that Tacna will be given to Peru and Arica 
to Chile. 
 
	 –	Minister,	this	formula	labeled	as	the	division	formula	is	very	old	
and	it	is	true	that	it	has	many	supporters,	but	it	is	useless	to	think	of	it	
before the legal aspects of the dispute are resolved, which is what we are 
to uphold. 
 
	 		–	Fine	Mr.	Minister,	but	in	the	event	that	discussions	are	directed	
toward	studying	the	political	aspects	of	that	conflict,	do	you	think	that	
solution	will	be	possible?	
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	 –	Minister,	the	solution	might	be	either	that	one	or	any	other,	but	I	
insist	we	will	not	cease	requesting	that	the	Treaty	be	complied	with,	giving	
Peru	the	concessions	it	might	demand	within	this	process.	Besides,	I	am	
in	position	to	inform	you	that	my	Government	is	sure	of	this	solution,	as	
it was sure of the decision the League of Nations would take in regard 
to	your	claim,	so	much	so	that	we	have	already	drafted	the	message	we	
will send to the Congress to request the necessary authorization to raise 
an	internal	patriotic	loan	to	gather	the	amount	of	the	indemnification.	
 
	 –	Thus,	you	are	of	the	idea	that…
 
	 –	Minister,	 that	Tacna	and	Arica	will	be	definitely	transferred	to	
Chile. 
 
	 Given	 that	 the	 conversation	 drifted	 from	 the	 object	 the	Foreign	
Ministry had instructed to discuss, I tried to change its course by uttering 
the	following:	
 
	 	 	 –	 In	 my	 country,	 the	 attitude	 followed	 by	 Chile	 to	 launch	
conversations	with	Peru	to	solve	the	longstanding	dispute	of	the	Pacific	
has	been	perceived	in	positive	terms.	While	it	is	true	that	at	the	beginning	
it	was	perceived	as	a	mere	strategy,	opinion	shifted	thereafter	in	the	face	of	
numerous	expressions	of	rapprochement	by	Chile,	in	the	course	of	these	
demarches	and	within	that	generous	and	Americanist	spirit,	Bolivia	also	
hoped that its request for participation in the Washington Conferences 
would	also	be	favorably	welcomed.	
 
	 –	 Minister,	 we	 have	 evidently	 been	 informed	 that	 Bolivia	 is	
currently expecting a favorable change of opinion in Chile, even within 
the	republican	elements	that	had	always	shown	an	unfavorable	
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position	 to	 rapprochement	 between	 our	 countries.	We	 understand	 that	
this	change	has	occurred	by	virtue	of	the	rejections	experienced	by	you	
in	Geneva	and	recently	in	the	Foreign	Ministries	of	Argentina,	Uruguay	
and Brazil, as well as those that will be experienced in Washington in 
the	 coming	 days.	 This	 has	 been	 reaffirmed	 by	 the	 fact	 that	 the	 same	
plenipotentiary	who	had	sounded	out	from	up	close	the	public	opinions	
of	the	countries	I	have	just	mentioned	is	now	leading	the	Foreign	Ministry	
of your country. 
 
	 –	Perhaps	that	is	actually	not	the	reason,	Mr.	Minister,	because	I	
completely	ignore	the	rejection	you	are	referring	to	and	I	believe	that	if	
any	change	is	actually	being	experienced	it	is	owing	to	the	fact	that	my	
country	 is	 convinced	 to	 the	 objectives	 followed	by	Chile	 to	 solve	 the	
complex	conflict	of	the	Pacific	at	once.	
 
	 –	Minister,	that	is	partially	true,	but	the	press	in	your	country	hinders	
everything. It is way too violent against us. It is worse than Peru’s. 
 
	 –	I	will	do	as	much	as	I	am	able	to	Mr.	Minister	to	try	to	modulate	
the	views	expressed	by	that	press	campaign,	in	the	hope	that	you	will	also	
try	recommend	some	moderation	in	Chile.
 
	 –	 Minister,	 I	 believe	 that	 our	 campaign	 is,	 contrary	 to	 your	
view,	more	astute.	If	you	check	the	articles	signed	by,	for	instance,	Mr.	
Santelices,	you	will	be	able	to	find	that,	by	that	very	circumstance,	they	
lack	substance	for	Santelices	himself	is	a	discredited	man.			

	 –	Returning	to	the	beginning	of	our	conversation,	is	my	country	
able to count on Chile’s acceptance to Bolivia’s participation in the 
Washington	Conferences?	
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	 –	Minister,	the	current	Chilean	Government	has	always	been	willing	
to	help	Bolivia	in	pursuing	its	aspiration,	within	the	limits	imposed	by	
dignity	and	respect	for	treaties	in	force.	We	have	given	much	proof	of	
this (It would have been too lengthy to insert here the list of concessions 
that	the	Minister	assured	Chile	had	made	in	favor	of	Bolivia,	but	since	he	
concluded	that	explanation	referring	to	the	proposals	made	by	Mr.	Bello	
Codesido,	I	observed	the	following):	
  
	 –	But	Mr.	Minister,	the	proposals	made	by	Mr.	Bello	Codesido	did	
not	satisfy	the	needs	of	my	country.	Too	little	was	offered	and	too	much	
was	demanded	in	return.	

	 –	Minister,	those	proposals	were	made	in	the	beginning,	they	can	
now be deepened to satisfy Bolivia. 

	 –	To	see	whether	that	is	possible,	we	would	have	to	wait	for	the	
outcome	of	 the	 conversations	 to	 be	 held	 in	Washington,	 to	which	my	
country would not renounce. 

	 –	Minister,	 it	would	not	be	necessary	to	wait.	Chile	 is	confident	
that	the	outcome	will	be	favorable	to	it.	As	a	result,	any	negotiation	we	
seal today would be strictly observed. 

	 Given	 that	we	had	deviated	 from	 the	main	purpose	of	 the	 talks	
once	more,	after	a	brief	pause	I	asked,	
	 –	Has	the	Minister	received	a	consultation	from	the	Department	
of	State	of	Washington	in	relation	to	my	country’s	request	to	take	part	in	
these	Conferences?	
		 –	Minister,	we	have	not	received	anything.	
	 –	We	have	 learned	 that	 you	might	 receive	 it	 sooner	 rather	 than	
later.   
	 –	 Minister,	 we	 been	 told	 something	 different.	 I	 know	 that	 the	
Foreign Ministry is awaiting for President Saavedra’s second note to 
President Harding, which everyone is aware of due 
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to	the	publications	that	have	been	made	but	which	you	might	not	have	
received	officially,	because	 it	has	not	been	 transmitted	 to	us.	We	have	
been	informed	that	this	note	has	still	not	reached	the	White	House	and	
that it is being expected so it is replied to together with the one sent by 
your	Minister	in	Washington	to	the	Department	of	State.	Thus,	I	do	not	
believe	that	consultation	will	be	made	by	the	United	States.	The	Foreign	
Ministry	of	Washington	will	tell	you	to	make	it	directly	to	Peru	and	Chile.	

	 –	And,	in	the	event	that	this	happens,	what	would	Chile’s	attitude	
be?	
	 –	Minister,	that	would	depend	on	Peru’s	attitude,	the	reply	of	which	
we would be expecting in order to utter an opinion. 
	 –	 But	 could	 Chile	 not	 put	 forward	 guidelines	 vis-à-vis	 Peru	
beforehand?	
	 –	No,	in	any	case	we	are	expecting	Peru	to	put	them	forward.	
	 –	And,	 in	 the	event	 that	Peru’s	 response	 is	 favorable	 to	Bolivia,	
what	would	Chile	respond	to	Washington?	

  Minister, provided that the talks tackle the political aspects of 
the	 dispute,	 we	 would	 welcome	 Bolivia’s	 participation	 with	 certain	
reservations,	owing	to	the	steps	Bolivia	took	to	reach	this	end,	but	I	must	
warn you that we will always uphold the legal aspect of the dispute, 
namely	compliance	with	 the	Ancon	Treaty,	and	 in	such	a	case	Bolivia	
would	be	virtually	ruled	out	inasmuch	as	it	is	not	a	party	to	that	treaty.	

	 At	that	exact	moment,	an	officer	of	the	Presidency	rushed	into	the	
room	with	an	urgent	call	from	Mr.	Alessandri,	and	our	conversation	had	
to be paused.

	 My	personal	view,	of	which	I	informed	Your
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	Excellency	in	the	cable	that	has	been	confirmed	by	the	above	dialogue,	
is	quite	optimistic.	We	might	be	able	to	work	fruitfully	but,	as	an	initial	
step,	it	is	necessary	to	calm	down	the	press	campaign,	which	has	deep	
repercussions	here	and	affects	the	already	reduced	number	of	friends	we	
have in Chile. 

	 I	take	this	occasion	to	reiterate	to	you	the	assurances	of	my	highest	
and	most	distinguished	consideration.	

[Signature]          
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 Annex 240 

Note	from	the	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs	of	Bolivia,	Alberto	Gutierrez,	
to the Minister Plenipotentiary of Bolivia to Chile, Eduardo Diez de 

Medina,	N°	200,	31	March	1926
  

  (Original in Spanish, English translation)

Archives of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Bolivia
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Ministry of Foreign  
                                                                                                    Reserved 
Affairs and Worship 

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 La	Paz,	31	March	1926

 
Nº 200

	 Mr.	Minister:	

	 	 So	as	to	keep	you	informed	of	the	development	of	negotiations	
that	you	yourself	commenced	with	the	Memorandum	of	27	May	last	year,	
I	am	hereby	sending	you	copies	of	those	documents	and	those	that	were	
thereafter exchanged between the Chilean Legation in Bolivia and this 
Ministry.	You	ought	to	be	kept	informed	in	case	Mr.	Mathieu	initiated	a	
conversation to that effect.  

  To this end, the Minister of Bolivia in Washington has 
informed	 us	 that,	 when	 Mr.	 Mathieu	 discharged	 functions	 as	 Chile’s	
Ambassador,	 he	 stated	 in	 a	 meeting	 held	 with	 several	 people	 that	 he	
knew of a secret alliance treaty between Peru and Bolivia, which had 
been concluded by Presidents Saavedra and Leguia, on occasion of the 
Centenial Anniversary  

_ _ _ _ _ _           _ _ _ _ 

To His Excellency, Mr. Eduardo Diez de Medina 
Special Envoy and Minister 
Plenipotentiary of Bolivia in Chile 
  

Santiago
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Ministry of Foreign      --2--
Affairs and Worship 

of Ayacucho. He assures that he refuted that account. 

	 	 Jaimes	 referred	 to	 this	 incident	 to	 attribute	 to	 the	
negotiations launched by Chile the desire to inquire into the 
existence of this secret pact or to cause a tense situation with Peru. 

	 	 I	am	sending	you	this	information	for	the	consideration	of	
your	Administration	and	declare	myself	your	kind	servant.	

[Signature] 
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           Copy

     Reserved

 

	 The	 Government	 of	 Bolivia	 has	 the	 purpose	 of	 maintaining	

absolute neutrality in the advent of the arbitral Award to be issued by 

the	President	of	the	United	States	in	regard	to	the	Tacna-Arica	dispute,	

however,	in	view	of	the	repeated	insinuations	made	by	the	President	of	

Chile and the Chancellery of La Moneda to	the	Bolivian	diplomatic	Agent	

in	Santiago	to	obtain	Bolivia’s	support	in	the	conduction	of	the	coming	

plebiscite, assuring Bolivia that, once the said plebiscite is carried out, 

Bolivia’s	legitimate	longing	for	a	port	of	its	own	on	the	Pacific	will	be	

satisfied	with	a	port	that	broadly	meets	the	needs	of	this	sovereign	nation,	

the	Government	 of	Bolivia	 hereby	 responds:	 that	 it	would	 be	willing	

to collaborate in [Chile’s] success in the plebiscite provided that the 

Government	of	Chile	undertakes,	in	a	formal	protocol	and	abandoning	

with the offers that are ineffective, to transfer to Bolivia, without any 

territorial	 compensation,	 either	 of	 the	 following	 ports:	 Mejillones,	

Pisagua	or	Arica,	once	the	latter	is	transferred	to	Chile’s	dominion	as	a	

result of the plebiscite to be carried out, in order for Bolivia’s rights and 

full sovereignty to be thus reintegrated. 

  La Paz, 27 May 1925.
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   Copy 

CHILEAN LEGATION 

MEMORANDUM 

 

	 In	reference	to	the	confidential	memorandum	sent	by	the	Bolivian	

Minister of Foreign Affairs on 27 May 1925, the Envoy Special and 

Plenipotentiary	Minister	 of	Chile,	 duly	 authorized	by	 its	Government,	

hereby states that Chile accepts in principle the idea of transferring 

to	Bolivia	a	port	on	 the	Pacific,	 in	 accordance	 to	a	plan	 that	does	not	

contemplate	 territorial	 compensations	and	 that	 could	be	 studied	 in	 the	

future. 

 

	 To	 move	 forward	 with	 this	 negotiation,	 the	 Government	 of	

Chile	 would	 like	 the	 Government	 of	 Bolivia	 to	 detail	 its	 request	 of	

27 May by indicating concretely which the geographical lines that 

it would aspire to obtain in each of the solutions it has proposed are.   

La	Paz,	8	March	1926
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MEMORANDUM 

	 The	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs	is	pleased	to	have	been	informed,	
by	 the	 Memorandum	 sent	 by	 His	 Excellency	 the	 Special	 Envoy	 and	
Minister	Plenipotentiary	of	Chile	on	the	8th	of	the	current	month,	 that	
the	Government	of	Chile	accepts	in	principle	the	idea	of	transferring	a	
port	on	the	Pacific	to	Bolivia,	be	Mejillones,	Pisagua	or	Arica,	by	means	
of	compensations	that	do	not	affect	the	integrity	of	the	Bolivian	territory.	

	 Responding	 to	 the	 question	 formulated	 in	 the	 Memorandum	
referred to above, the Minister of Foreign Affairs, duly authorized, 
hereby states that, in the event of the transfer of any of the ports cited 
and	 those	 to	 which	 the	 confidential	 Memorandum	 of	 27	 May	 1924	
refers, he would also propose the cession of an area of territory of an 
extension	of	no	less	 than	five	kilometers	of	width	connecting,	 through	
the closest route, one of those ports with Bolivian territory. In the 
specific	 cases	 of	Mejillones	 and	 Pisagua,	 said	 area	would	 have	 to	 be	
established by expert geographers; and in the case of Arica, it would 
include	 the	 political	 circumscription	 denominated	 Arica	 Department.	

 Given that any initiative related to Bolivia’s participation 
or cooperation in the plebiscite concerning Tacna and Arica, 
alluded	 to	 in	 the	 Memorandum	 of	 17	 May,	 is	 untimely,	 this	
Government	 would	 give	 Chile’s,	 in	 return	 for	 the	 transfer	 of	 ports	
and	 territories,	 financial	 compensations	 that	 are	 in	 harmony	 with	
the	 financial	 resources	 of	 the	 Republic	 or	 commercial	 and	 customs	
franchises	 that	 do	 not	 affect	 the	 permanent	 interests	 of	 the	 country.	

	 	 	 	 	 	 La	Paz,	29	March	1926.																			
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 Annex 241

C. Rios Gallardo, After the Peace… The Chilean-Bolivian Relations	(1926),	
pp.	132	-	133,	214	-	215	(extract)

(Original in Spanish, English translation)
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[…]

	 	Whenever	Bolivia	 has	made	 any	 demonstration	 in	 favor	 of	 its	
aspiration	 over	 Tacna	 and	 Arica,	 it	 has	 found	 from	 Peru	 the	 most	
definitive	negative;	rejection	that,	as	the	one	of	March	1920,	almost	took	
both countries to war.
 This attitude has always contrasted with the deferential, friendly 
attitude of Chile, which has never refused to listen to the aspiration of 
Bolivia,	and,	on	 the	contrary,	has	promised	 to	 satisfy	 it	 in	 the	field	of	
mutual	compensations.
	 Unfortunately,	 the	 Bolivians	 have	 not	 taken	 advantage	 of	 these	
facts, their international policy is always oscillating between Chile and 
Peru,	 in	 circumstances	 that	 have	 long	 been	 due	 to	 take	 a	 defined	 and	
definitive	course.	
	 In	 1919,	 following	 the	 communication	 sent	 by	 the	Minister	 of	
Bolivia	in	Paris,	Mr.	Ismael	Montes,	to	the	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs	
of France, Mr. Stephan Pichon, regarding the Bolivian aspiration to 
[obtain] Tacna and Arica; the Peruvian Chancellery, as we have seen, 
considered in this case to send a circular to all its Legations, stating that 
the	 Government	 of	 Peru	 would	 never	 consent	 to	 cede	 its	 rights	 over	
Tacna	and	Arica	and	that	it	would	not	accept	any	kind	of	compensation	
for	those	territories	from	Bolivia.	
	 The	Chilean	Government	remained	silent.	In	1917,	
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its	Ambassador,	Mr.	Echenique	Gandarillas,	had	already	spoken	in	 the	
transmission	 of	Government	 and	 he	 stated:	 “...my	Government	 hopes	
that,	when	the	opportunity	arrives,	 it	will	find	the	means	to	satisfy	the	
most	valuable	aspirations	of	the	Bolivian	people	and	the	Chilean	people.”

	 Its	Ambassador’s	 statement	 was	 consistent	 with	 the	 unalterable	
conduct	 followed	by	Chile,	with	 the	 attitude	 it	 had	 followed	 in	 1883,	
1895, 1900, 1904, 1910 and with the conduct it had followed in 1920 and 
1922 as well as with its recent actions before the Washington Conferences.

[…]
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[…] 

 
 In order to get an idea of the unfaithful and friendly way in which 
Bolivia acted in regard to Chile in 1920 and 1921, it is necessary to recall 
some	facts	that	should	not	remain	in	the	shadows.	The	Bello	Codesido	
mission	 arrived	 in	 La	 Paz,	 after	 Pichon	 closed	 the	 doors	 of	 the	Quai	
d’Orsay	to	the	Minister	in	Paris,	Mr.	Ismael	Montes,	and	days	after	this	
new failure, he was dealing with Lansing and Colby. Chile knew about 
the adventures in Paris and the wanderings in Washington, and yet Mr. 
Bello	Codesido	 reached	 the	Government	of	Mr.	Gutierrez	Guerra	 in	a	
sincere	mission	of	friendship,	and	even	prepared	to	clear	the	horizon	for	
Bolivia	 to	 reach	 the	 sea.	Ambassador	Echenique	Gandarillas	 stated	 in	
1917,	“...my	Government	hopes	to	find,	when	the	opportunity	comes,	the	
means	to	satisfy	the	most	valuable	aspirations	of	the	Bolivian	people	and	
the Chilean people.” Consistent with this invariable policy of our country, 
cemented	in	the	field	of	mutual	compensations,	Mr.	Bello	Codesido,	in	
presenting his  
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credentials,	recorded	that	the	moment	was	approaching	and	that	it	was	
near.

	 When	was	it?	When	Chile	settled	its	difficulties	with	Peru,	when	
the	third	clause	of	 the	Treaty	of	Ancon	was	fulfilled	in	order	to	define	
the	nationality	of	Tacna	and	Arica.	This	is	indeed	the	only	moment	that	
Chile	expected	to	satisfy	in	the	realm	of	reality,	not	of	fantasy,	the	port	
aspirations	of	Bolivia.	Mr.	Bello	Codesido	had	the	mission	 to	say	 that	
this	time	was	coming,	that	Bolivia	had	to	rely	on	Chile’s	word	and	that	it	
should	wait	for	the	events	to	come.

[…]
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 Annex 242

Telegram	723.2515/1952	from	the	Ambassador	of	 the	United	States	 in	
Chile,	W.	Miller	Collier,	to	the	U.S.	Secretary	of	State,	Frank	B.	Kellogg,	

20	February	1926

(Original in English)

Department	 of	 State	 of	 the	 United	 States, Papers relating to the Foreign 
Relations of the United States (1926),	Volume	I,	pp.	306	-	308
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Annex 243 

Telegram	723.2515/2118	from	the	U.S.	Secretary	of	State,	Frank	B.	
Kellogg,	to	the	Ambassador	of	the	United	States	in	Chile,	W.	Miller	

Collier,	10	April	1926

(Original in English)

Department	 of	 State	 of	 the	 United	 States,	 Papers relating to the 
Foreign Relations of the United States	(1926),	Volume	I,	pp.	374	-	375
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Annex 244

Telegram	723.2515/2124	from	the	U.S.	Ambassador	in	Chile,	W.	Miller	
Collier,	to	the	U.S.	Secretary	of	State,	Frank	B.	Kellogg,	11	April	1926

(Original in English)

Department	of	State	of	the	United	States, Papers relating to the Foreign 
Relations of the United States	(1926),	Volume	I,	pp.	376	-	377
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 Annex 245

Telegram	723.2515/2143a	from	the	U.S.	Secretary	of	State,	Frank	B.	
Kellogg,	to	the	U.S.	Consul	at	Arica,	Von	Tresckow,	15	April	1926

(Original in English)

Department	of	State	of	the	United	States,	Papers relating to the Foreign 
Relations of the United States	(1926),	Volume	I,	pp.	384	-	385
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Annex 246

Letter	from	the	President	of	Bolivia,	Hernando	Siles,	to	the	President	of	
the	United	States,	Calvin	Coolidge,	19	April	1926

(Original in English)

Department	of	State	of	the	United	States,	Papers relating to the Foreign 
Relations of the United States	(1926),	Volume	I,	p.	396
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 Annex 247

Minutes	of	the	Meeting	of	the	Plenipotentiaries	of	Peru	and	Chile,	Under	
the	Extension	of	Good	Offices	of	the	U.S.	Secretary	of	State,	Frank	B.	

Kellogg,	4	June	1926

(Original in English)

Department	of	State	of	the	United	States,	Papers relating to the Foreign 
Relations of the United States	(1926),	Volume	I,	pp.	462	-	465
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Annex 248

Telegram	723.2515/2415	from	the	U.S.	Secretary	of	State,	Frank	B.	
Kellogg,	to	the	Ambassador	of	the	United	States	in	Chile,	W.	Miller	

Collier,	9	June	1926

(Original in English)

Department	of	State	of	the	United	States,	Papers relating to the Foreign 
Relations of the United States	(1926),	Volume	I,	pp.	475	-	476
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Annex  249

Note	from	the	Minister	Plenipotentiary	of	Bolivia	in	Peru,	Alberto	
Ostria Gutierrez, to the Minister of Foreign Affairs of Bolivia, Enrique 

Baldivieso,	N°	169,	11	June	1936

 (Original in Spanish, English translation)

Archives of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Bolivia
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LEGATION	OF	BOLIVIA	
Lima,	11	June	1936

Nº	169	 	 	 	 	 													CLASSIFIED
Subject:	Classified	instructions			
         dated 25 April 

Mr. Minister, 

	 With	regard	to	my	Note	Nº	152,	dated	the	26th	of	the	past	month,	
and	my	 cablegram	Nº	 96,	 of	 the	 4th	 of	 this	month,	 I	 hereby	 comply	
with	the	duty	of	informing	you	that,	following	a	lengthy	oral	address,	I	
submitted	to	the	Minister,	Mr.	Alberto	Ulloa,	the	bases	or	topics	–a	copy	
of	which	I	am	appending–	for	a	rapprochement	plan	between	Bolivian	
and	Peru,	in	accordance	with	the	instructions	I	received	from	that	Foreign	
Ministry	(Note	Nº	67,	dated	25	April,	and	confirmed	by	cable	Nº	1028,	of	
25	May	1936).	
 
	 The	Minister	 of	 Foreign	Affairs	welcomed	 said	 plan	with	 keen	
interest	and	promised	 to	study	 it	and,	after	exchanging	views	with	 the	
President	of	the	Republic,	submit	a	draft	–which	will	have	been	agreed	
to	already–	containing	all	the	topics	proposed	and	giving	them	the	form	
of a Covenant. 
 
	 From	the	begging,	however,	Mr.	Ulloa	put	forward	observations	to	
paragraph 1), which relates to Peru’s consent, prescribed as a condition 
under	Article	1	of	the	Complementary	Protocol	of	3	June	1929.	
 
 The Peruvian Foreign Minister said, on that occasion and in 
a subsequent conversation held, that the declaration planned would 
entail,	in	the	substance,	a	moral	coercion	against	Chile,	and	that	it	could	
create,	for	both	Peru	and	Bolivia,	a	tense	diplomatic	situation	with	that	
country. He added that, for that reason, Peru could not, be publically or 
confidentially,	 anticipate	 anything	 in	 relation	 to	 the	matter.	He	 finally	
said	that,	in	his	view,	the	fact	that	any	Peruvian	Government	could	refuse	
its	consent	to	the	cession	of	Arica	when	Chile	and	Bolivia	come	to	an	
understanding was inconceivable.               
_ _ _ _ _ _          _ _ _ _ 
To Mr. Enrique Baldivieso 
Minister of Foreign Affairs, 
LA	PAZ.								
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	 The	response	given	by	Mr.	Ulloa	is	thus	summarized	as	follows:	
Peru	cannot,	for	the	time	being,	anticipate	its	consent,	prescribed	under	
Article	1	of	 the	Complementary	Protocol	of	3	June	1929.	 It	 thus	must	
express	that	consent	once	the	Bolivian-Chilean	agreement	is	reached.	

	 The	observations	 I	made	on	 that	 regard	were	 fruitless,	 although	
I	first	 explained	 that	 any	consent	by	Peru	would	be	 subject	 to	 a	prior,	
friendly and loyal understanding with Chile. 

 In the substance, there can be no doubt that Peru, in light of the 
understanding	–mainly	commercial–	it	has	reached	with	Chile,	does	not	
wish	the	latter	to	find	any	grounds	for	distrust,	independently	of	whether	
it is unfounded, in relation to the attitude it follows in the face of Bolivia’s 
port	longing	and	also	wishes	to,	at	the	same	time,	preserve	its	–though	
nominal	 to	 the	 present–	 quality	 as	 third	 party	 to	 take	 part	 in	 a	 future	
agreement	between	Bolivia	and	Chile.	

	 As	 far	 as	 other	 matters	 are	 concerned	 –and	 particularly	 free	
transit–	Mr.	Ulloa	 expressed	 to	me	 his	 determined	willingness,	which	
he	ultimately	set	forth	in	the	following	terms:	“I	would	regard	myself	an	
unsuccessful	Foreign	Minister	if	I	failed	to	conclude	an	agreement	with	
you,	as	complete	as	possible,	to	secure	a	better	and	definite	rapprochement	
between Peru and Bolivia”. 

	 As	 soon	 as	 Mr.	 Ulloa	 submits	 the	 draft	 he	 promissed,	 I	 will	
immediatelly	 submit	 it	 for	 your	 consideration,	 so	 you	may	 impart	 the	
corresponding instructions. 

	 I	 take	 this	 opportunity	 to	 reiterate	 to	 you	 the	 assurances	 of	my	
highest	and	most	distinguished	consideration.	

      [Signature]
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 1) STATEMENT

 Bolivia hereby declares that it does not have, and does not intend 
to have, any right over the territory found to the south of Peru, which has 
been	recognized	and	delimited	already	under	Treaties	in	force	between	
both countries. 

 As a result, Bolivia hereby places on record that its national longing 
to	obtain	an	own	access	to	the	Pacific	Ocean	does	not	seek	and	will	not	
seek satisfaction through any of the portions of Peru’s southern coastline, 
the territorial proprietorship of which it shall always categorically respect.

 Peru hereby declares for its part that it does not have nor intends 
to have any right over the territory of Bolivia, which has been recognized 
and	delimited	already	under	Treaties	in	force	between	both	countries.	

	 At	the	same	time,	Peru	hereby	declares,	with	regard	to	Article	1	of	
the	Complementary	Protocol	to	the	Lima	Treaty	of	3	June	1929,	entered	
into between Peru and Chile, that it does not oppose to the satisfaction 
of Bolivia’s port longing, nor, consequently, to the cession of the entirety 
or part of the territory falling under Chilean sovereignty pursuant to 
the	Treaty	 of	 3	 June	 1929	which,	 resulting	 from	 a	 friendly,	 loyal	 and	
reciprocal	understanding,	Chile	might	make	 in	 the	 future	 in	benefit	of	
Bolivia.
 

[…] 
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Annex 250

Treaty of Peace, Friendship and Boundaries between Bolivia and Paraguay, 
signed	at	Buenos	Aires	on	21	July	1938	(Ratifications	exchanged	on	

29	August	1938)

(Original in Spanish, English translation)

www.latinamericanstudies.org/paraguay/chaco-treaty.pdf
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Annex 251

Note	from	the	Bolivian	Ambassador	to	Chile,	Alberto	Ostria	Gutierrez,	
to	the	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs	of	Bolivia,	Pedro	Zilveti	Arce,	

N°	280,	7	May	1943

(Original in Spanish, English translation)

Archives of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Bolivia
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PACIFIC OCEAN
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21 March 2017
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Nº	280	–	RESERVED	 	 	 	 	Santiago,	7	May	1943
Subject:	Statement	by	the	Chilean	Foreign	Minister.	 	   ANNEX
Attachments:	Several	newspaper	clippings.		 	 	 16	Pages		 	 	

        RESERVED
	 Mr.	Minister:

 Yesterday the Minister of Foreign Affairs of Chile presented the 
following	statement	to	the	press,	which,	because	of	its	importance,	was	
transmitted	to	you	by	cable:

“With	 reference	 to	 certain	 statements	 that	 appeared	 in	 the	 South	
American	 press	 and	 attributed	 to	 the	 Bolivian	 Foreign	 Minister,	 Dr.	
Tomas	 Elio,	 concerning	 the	 aspirations	 of	 the	 neighboring	 country	 to	
obtain	 what	 has	 been	 called	 its	 territorial	 and	 maritime	 reintegration,	
the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Chile believes it appropriate to 
state	 that	 the	Government	 of	 the	Republic	 considers	 that	 there	 are	 no	
pending territorial issues between Chile and Bolivia, which were 
definitively	 settled	 in	 the	 Treaty	 of	 Peace	 and	 Friendship	 of	 1904.
Every	 campaign	 that	 tries	 to	 revive	 an	 issue	 that	 has	 been	 totally	
resolved for nearly forty years by the free and spontaneous will of both 
Governments,	will	find	our	 country’s	 strong	 repudiation	 and	will	 only	
serve to divide two neighboring and friendly nations and will weaken the 
efforts	 that	 the	United	States	and	other	American	States	are	making	in	
favor	of	the	continental	defense	and	the	cause	of	democracy	in	the	world.”

	 The	statements	made	by	Foreign	Minister	Elio,	referred	to	in	this	
official	communiqué	that	was	published	in	Santiago,	were	in	the	sense	
that Bolivia longed for the revision of its boundary lines and that, to that 
end,	it	relied	on	the	support	of	the	peoples	of	the	Americas.

 Taking advantage of yesterday’s weekly audience, I discussed the 
matter	with	the	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs,	

-----------------------------                                  -------------------------------
To Mr. Pedro Zilveti Arce,                                  
 Acting Minister of Foreign Relations – La Paz
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Mr.	Fernandez,	to	whom	I	did	not	hide	my	annoyance	and	my	surprise	
at	the	violent	communiqué	he	had	published,	stating	above	all	that	the	
logical	 and	 the	 elemental	 course	of	 action	would	have	been	 to	utter	 a	
statement	on	the	official	thinking	of	the	Chancellery	of	Bolivia	and	not	
on	“statements	that	appeared	in	the	South	American	press	and	attributed 
to	Dr.	Elio,”	as	the	communiqué	itself	stated.

	 For	 	 that	 	 reason,	 Mr.	 Fernandez	 told	 me	 that	 the	 attitude	
of Chancellor Elio had provoked a serious setback in the Chilean 
Government,	especially	since	it	involved	“a	hostile	propaganda”	against	
this	country	in	the	rest	of	America	and	precisely	on	the	eve	of	President	
Rios’	trip	to	the	United	States.

 Mr. Fernandez added that every Chilean-Bolivian affair had to be 
settled directly between the two nations, and that his country would never 
accept	foreign	impositions.

 - Why don’t you speak directly to us, frankly and with loyalty, 
about	your	ideal	and	your	aspirations?	–he	said.

	 And	then	he	expressed	himself	more	or	less	in	these	terms:

	 -			There	is	no	question	that	cannot	be	settled	in	a	field	of	reciprocal	
conveniences,	 but	 the	 first	 thing	 to	 do	 is	 to	 create	 an	 environment	
conducive	to	understanding	and	affection,	instead	of	provoking	mistrust	
and	resentment.	

 The conversation then drifted to the general issue of the link 
between	Bolivia	and	Chile,	more	necessary	now	than	ever	in	this	critical	
hour	for	the	world	and	for	America.
-------------           --------------- 



140



141

 
-3-

He	 made	 reference	 of	 his	 affection	 for	 Bolivia,	 “even	 for	 having	
a daughter with Bolivian blood,” and suggested the desirability of 
ceasing	Chancellor	Elio’s	statements,	which	he	described	as	detrimental	
to a good understanding and cordiality between the two nations.

	 For	my	part,	I	once	again	insisted	on	what	I	had	said	at	the	outset	
of	our	conversation	and	emphasized,	as	always,	that	Bolivia’s	port	ideal	
was a national ideal that could only disappear with the nation itself.

	 Finally,	referring	to	the	press	campaign	against	Bolivia,	which	has	
become	more	pronounced	in	recent	days,	Mr.	Fernandez	has	spontaneously	
promised	to	bring	journalists	together	and	appeal	to	them	to	make	them	stop.

	 In	relation	to	both	this	campaign	and	the	attitude	of	 the	Chilean	
Government,	 I	 have	 had	 a	 calm	 and	 prudent	 attitude,	 while	 always	
dignified,	 encouraged	by	 the	 conviction	 that	 a	 confrontational	 attitude	
in newspapers or a violent and disruptive conduct could provoke serious 
situations	for	the	country,	which	in	my	opinion	should	be	avoided	at	all	costs.
 
	 In	requesting	that	this	information	be	brought	to	the	Government’s	
persuasion, because although the expressions of the Chilean Chancellor 
differ	from	his	own	public	declarations,	they	should	not	be	flatly	dismissed,	
even by the substance of reason that they contain in regard to the proposal 
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for a direct negotiation, I send to you several press clippings related to 
this	matter	and	I	take	the	opportunity	to	reiterate	the	assurances	of	my	
highest consideration.

[Signature]



144



145

Annex 252

Note	from	the	Bolivian	Ambassador	to	Chile,	Alberto	Ostria	Gutierrez,	
to	the	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs	of	Bolivia,	Pedro	Zilveti	Arce,	

N°	369,	11	June	1943

(Original in Spanish, English translation)

Archives of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Bolivia
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EMBASSY OF BOLIVIA

Nº	369	–	RESERVED		 	 	 	 					Santiago,	11	June	1943

Subject:	Meeting	with	the	
Minister for Foreign Affairs
 
	 Mr.	Minister:

	 I	am	pleased	to	refer	to	your	Note	P. y D. 423, dated the 1st of this 
month,	which	was	delivered	to	me	personally	by	the	Undersecretary	of	
Foreign	Affairs,	Mr.	Humberto	Palza.

 In accordance with the instructions contained in the above-
mentioned	Note,	I	spoke	yesterday	with	the	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs,	
Mr. Joaquin Fernandez, explaining the willingness of the Bolivian 
Government	to	initiate	direct	negotiations	with	the	Chilean	Government	
“independently	of	the	Treaty	of	1904,”	as	he	himself	proposed	to	me	in	
two	successive	meetings.	In	response,	the	Chilean	Chancellor	merely	told	
me	that	he	was	pleased	to	see	that	attitude	in	the	Bolivian	Government	
and	that	he	would	hurry	to	inform	the	President	of	the	Republic.

	 That,	for	the	moment,	is	what	I	have	to	inform	you	about	such	an	
important	matter.

	 I	reiterate	to	you	the	assurances	of	my	highest	consideration.	

[Signature]

To Mister 
Pedro	Zilveti	Arce,
Acting Minister of Foreign Affairs, 
        LA PAZ-
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Annex 253

Note	from	the	Bolivian	Ambassador	to	Chile,	Alberto	Ostria	Gutierrez,	
to	the	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs	of	Bolivia,	Pedro	Zilveti	Arce,	

N°	386,	18	June	1943

(Original in Spanish, English translation)

Archives of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Bolivia
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EMBASSY OF BOLIVIA    Annex
      2 pages
Nº	386	–	RESERVED		 	 	 	 					Santiago,	18	June	1943

Subject:	New	meeting	with	the	Chilean	Foreign	Minister.

 Mr.	Minister:

 With reference to your Note P.  y D. 423, of the 1st of the current 
month,	and	mine	of	the	11th	of	the	same	month,	as	well	as	the	cablegram	
N°	212	that	we	sent	yesterday	jointly	with	the	Undersecretary	of	Foreign	
Relations,	Mr.	Humberto	Palza,	 I	have	 the	pleasure	of	 informing	you	
that,	having	visited	the	Chancellor	of	Chile	to	introduce	that	high	official	
of the Chancellery of Bolivia, Mr. Fernandez expressed to both of us the 
following:

	 1).-	 That	 he	 ratified	 his	 invitation	 to	 begin	 direct	
negotiations	with	the	Government	of	Bolivia	regarding	the	port	
ideal of our country, but “independently of the Treaty of 1904.”

 2).- That, in declaring that, he also interpreted the 
thinking of the President of the Republic, Mr. Rios. 

	 3).-	 That	 he	 was	 very	 much	 pleased	 that	 the	
Bolivian	 Government	 was	 on	 the	 path	 of	 direct	 talks,	
stopping to seek solutions in Geneva, Washington or 
elsewhere in the world, which in his view only provoked 
an adverse reaction in the Chilean public opinion.

 4).- That in his opinion the talks could

-------------------                 -------------------

To	Mr.	Pedro	Zilveti	Arce,	
Acting Minister of Foreign Affairs,      La Paz-
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begin	 “when	 President	 Peñaranda	 finishes	 his	 tour	 of	 America	 and,	
consequently,	when	his	statements	to	the	press	of	the	different	countries	
of the continent conclude.”

 As you can see, what the Chilean Foreign Minister expressed to 
the	Undersecretary	of	Foreign	Affairs,	Mr.	Palza,	and	to	me,	absolutely	
confirms	what	I	previously	informed	you	by	cable	and	by	mail.

 In this situation, and in accordance with your instructions, 
verbally	 transmitted	 to	me	by	Mr.	Palza,	 I	will	propose	 to	 the	Chilean	
Foreign	 Minister	 to	 formalize	 through	 a	 note	 the	 beginning	 of	 that	
initial	negotiation,	which	has	not	yet	materialized,	but	aimed	at	a	direct	
understanding between the two countries.

	 I	reiterate	to	you	the	assurances	of	my	highest	consideration.	

[Signature]
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ANNEX	TO	NOTE	Nº	386
 

“LOS RECORTES”
Agustinas	1038	–	Phone	80172

______________

EL DIARIO ILUSTRADO NEWSPAPER
Moneda 1158

Santiago
17 JUNE 1943

The Ambassador of Bolivia in the Foreign Ministry
________

	 The	Ambassador	of	Bolivia,	His	Excellency,	Mr.	Alberto	Ostria	
Gutierrez, visited yesterday the Minister of Foreign Affairs, Mr. 
Fernandez,	 to	 whom	 he	 introduced	 to	 the	 Undersecretary	 of	 Foreign	
Affairs	 of	 Bolivia,	Mr.	 Humberto	 Palza,	 who	 is	 visiting	 Santiago,	 to	
address	personal	matters.

 His Excellency Ostria Gutierrez and Mr. Palza also visited the 
Undersecretary	of	Foreign	Affairs,	Mr.	Gajardo,	to	whom	they	presented	
their greetings. 
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Annex 254

Note	from	the	Bolivian	Ambassador	to	Chile,	Alberto	Ostria	Gutierrez,	
to	the	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs	of	Bolivia,	Pedro	Zilveti	Arce,	

N°	403,	25	June	1943

(Original in Spanish, English translation)

Archives of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Bolivia
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EMBASSY OF BOLIVIA

Nº	403	–	RESERVED		 	 	 	 					Santiago,	25	June	1943

Subject:	Proposal	to	the	Chilean	Chancellor

Mr.	Minister:
 
 In accordance with the thinking of that Foreign Ministry, the 
Undersecretary	of	Foreign	Affairs,	Mr.	Humberto	Palza,	inforned	me	in	
a	general	manner,	verbally,	and	which	I	have	seen	confirmed	in	Circular	
Note N° P. y D. 491	 –from	 which	 I	 just	 learned	 the	 written	 text	 of	
special	instructions,	although	only	in	part,	but	maintaining	my	ignorance	
of	 the	 rest	 of	 them–	 I	 proposed	 to	 the	 Chilean	 Foreign	Minister,	Mr.	
Joaquin	 Fernandez,	 to	 formalize	 through	 notes	 the	 proposal	 he	 made	
in	several	conversations	and	thereafter	in	the	presence	of	Mr.	Palza	–as	
recorded	in	our	cable	Nº	212,	dated	17	June	1943–	to	initiate	direct	talks	
independently of the Treaty of 1904, regarding the port issue of Bolivia.

	 In	reply,	Chancellor	Fernandez	told	me	that	he	would	consult	the	
issue with the President of the Republic, Mr. Rios, and that he would 
communicate	the	corresponding	result.

	 In	due	 course,	 if	my	proposal	 is	 accepted,	 I	will	 submit	 for	 the	
approval of that Ministry the draft of the

--------------                  -------------
To Mr. 
Pedro	Zilveti	Arce,
Acting	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs	.	 	 	 	 	 LA	PAZ.-
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EMBASSY OF BOLIVIA

-2-
--------------        -------------- 

respective note. 

	 	 I	reiterate	to	you	the	assurances	of	my	highest	consideration.

[Signature]
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Annex 255

Memorandum	of	the	Bolivian	Ambassador	to	the	United	States,	Luis	
Fernando	Guachalla,	submitted	to	the	U.S.	Secretary	of	State,	Cordell	

Hull,	15	September	1943

(Original in Spanish, English translation)

Archives of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of  Bolivia 
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Embassy	of	Bolivia			 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
Washington, D. C.      CONFIDENTIAL

MEMORANDUM 

	 	 The	Government	 of	 the	United	 States	 has	 been	 informed	
by H. E. the President of Bolivia, and his Minister of Foreign 
Affairs, on occasion of the talks held at the White House this past 
5	 May,	 of	 his	 Government’s	 criterion	 with	 regard	 to	 Bolivia’s	
landlocked	 condition.	 Such	 criterion	 can	 be	 summarized	 as	 follows:	

  1. Bolivia, faithful to its tradition of respect 
for international pacts, does not disown the legality of the 
territorial	 dominion	 Chile	 exercises	 over	 the	 Pacific	 coast	
in accordance with the public treaties it has entered into. 

	 	 2.	 However,	 Bolivia	 maintains	 its	 legitimate	
aspirations	 for	 a	 sovereign	 outlet	 to	 the	 Pacific	 Ocean	
through	territory	owned	by	Chile	and	it	supports	them	due	to		
political,	 financial	 and	 international	 justice	 related	 reasons.

	 	 3.	 Bolivia	fosters	a	direct	understanding	with	Chile	
on basis that take into account both countries’ advantages 
and high interests and does not wish to disturb continental 
harmony	 in	 its	 pursuit	 for	 a	 sovereign	 outlet	 to	 the	 sea.	 	 	 	 	 	

 

Washington, D. C.
15	September	1943.		 
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Annex 256

Note	from	the	Bolivian	Ambassador	to	Chile,	Alberto	Ostria	Gutierrez,	to	
the Minister of Foreign Affairs of Bolivia, Adolfo Costa du Rels,

N°	455/325,	2	June	1948

(Original in Spanish, English translation)

Archives of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Bolivia

(Submitted	by	Bolivia	as	Annex	61	to	its	Memorial)
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EMBASSY OF BOLIVIA     
CONFIDENTIAL

Nº455/325
Santiago, 2 June 1948

Subject:	Port	negotiations	with	the	Government	of	Chile

Distinguished	Minister:
   
	 I	have	received	 the	Note	Nº	G.S.6	of	19	April	of	 the	present	year,	containing	 the	
instructions	submitted	by	His	Excellency	the	President	of	the	Republic	and	by	you,	in	order	
to	begin	a	direct	negotiation	with	the	Government	of	Chile	aimed	at	solving	the	port	issue	of	
Bolivia.
 
 Without analyzing these instructions, which open a new era in the history of our 
diplomatic	 relations	with	Chile	and	 to	which	 I	 referred	already	 in	 the	personal	 letter	 that	
I	 addressed	 to	 you	 on	 30	April,	 I	 am	 pleased	 to	 inform	 you	 about	 the	 conversation	 that	
–considering	 those	 instructions–	 I	held	yesterday	with	 the	President	of	 the	Republic,	Mr.	
Gabriel	Gonzalez	Videla,	and	from	which	I	forwarded	to	you	a	synthesis	in	my	cablegram	Nº	
116,	strictly	confidential.

	 Mr.	Gonzalez	Videla,	of	course,	asked	me	if	I	had	already	received	instructions	from	
the	Government	of	Bolivia	regarding	the	conversations	we	previously	had.

	 In	replying	to	him	in	the	affirmative,	the	President	of	Chile	asked	me	to	clarify	to	him	
in a clearly and frankly way the thinking of Bolivia.

	 Bolivia	needs	to	have	its	own	outlet	to	the	sea	–I	frankly	stated–.	And	then	I	said	that	
the	port	ideal	was	rooted	deep	within	the	Bolivian	national	consciousness,	that	the	problem,	
until it was resolved, would last for the duration of the nation’s existence and that if all 
Bolivians	disappeared,	leaving	only	one,	that	Bolivian	would	never	stop	claiming	an	own	
outlet	to	the	sea	for	his	country.	I	also	noted	that,	although	the	port	problem	had	been	raised	
in	the	past,	there	had	been	some	internal	discrepancies,	and	the	Bolivian	people	remained	
firm	and	united	 around	 their	 port	 ideal.	 In	 addition,	 I	 stressed	 that	 as	 long	 as	 this	 vitally	
important	issue	for	Bolivia	was	not	satisfactorily	resolved,	nothing	could	be	built	between	
the	 two	countries	and	 that	 their	neighborliness	with	Chile	would	be	meaningless,	 leading	
Bolivia to work with other countries of its neighborhood, as had already been done with 
Argentina.

	 With	great	nobility,	President	Gonzalez	Videla	told	me	that	he	not	only	understood	
the	significance	of	our	problem,	but	that	it	inspired	him	with	the	most	sympathy	and	that	he,	
if he had been a Bolivian, 

To Mr. Adolfo Costa du Rels,
Minister of Foreign Relations and Worship,
La Paz, Bolivia.
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would	have	thought	and	felt	just	like	us.	“It	has	to	be	recognized	that	it	is	a	legitimate	
aspiration,	even	more	so	if	it	is	considered	that	Bolivia	had	an	outlet	to	the	sea,”	he	
concluded.
	 Mr.	Gonzalez	Videla	later	proposed	that	we	treat	the	matter	from	a	concrete,	
realistic	point	of	view	and	insisted	that	I	submit	a	proposal	based	on	the	instructions	
I had received.
	 	 -	 That	 proposal	 necessarily	 has	 to	 depend	 –already	 known	 the	
fundamental	thinking	of	Bolivia	in	the	sense	of	obtaining	its	own	outlet	to	the	sea–	of	
the extent to which Chile is willing to satisfy the Bolivian port ideal, I said.
	 Then	the	President	of	the	Republic	said	to	me,	continuing	the	conversation	in	
a	field	of	great	frankness,	that	his	Government	was	willing:
	 	 1	°	 To	cede	to	Bolivia	a	territorial	strip	about	five	kilometers	north	
of Arica;
  2 ° To accept that Bolivia builds a detour of the Arica-La Paz 
railway line up to the Bo-livian port;
	 	 3	°	 To	negotiate	with	Bolivia	the	lease	or	transfer	of	the	Chilean	
section of said railway.
	 	 With	regard	to	the	area	located	in	the	north	of	Arica,	he	told	me	that	the	
Chilean	Navy	did	some	studies,	and	based	on	the	information	he	had,	the	possibility	
to construct a port there was deduced. He also stated that once the work is concluded, 
it	would	not	be	difficult	to	obtain	a	loan	from	the	Government	of	the	United	States	as	
well as the construction of the detour of the railway, and that Chile would cooperate 
with Bolivian to obtain that loan.
	 	 He	then	mentioned	the	Bolivian	aspiration	to	obtain	Arica	and	declared	
that in his opin-ion there would be no one who would accept this in Chile.
There	are	many	prominent	Chileans	who	accept	it	–I	interrupted	him–,	then	quoting	
the	opinion	of	Mr.	Juvenal	Hernandez.	On	the	other	hand,	I	emphasized	the	fact	that,	
as	 the	Bolivi-an	writer	Sanchez	Bustamante	had	once	 said,	 “Arica	could	not	be	a	
matter	of	dispute,	but	a	mat-ter	of	negotiation.”
	 	 Gonzalez	Videla	 replied	 that	Arica	was	 a	 sanctuary	 of	 the	warlike	
glories	of	Chile	and	that	in	his	opinion	the	Army	would	not	accept	its	cession	to	another	
country.	He	referred	to	the	nationalist	sentiment	of	Chile,	which	was	reinforced	by	
the	incorporation	of	Antarctica,	and	he	said	that,	as	the	Chilean	people	had	given	him	
their	full	support	in	this	matter,	they	could	deny	their	acceptance	to	the	transfer	of	that	
port.
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	 That	would	not	be	the	case	–he	told	me–	for	a	territorial	strip	north	of	Arica.	
The	Army	would	not	oppose	 to	 this,	 because	 it	would	mean	 the	 suppression	of	 a	
boundary.	On	the	other	hand,	I	am	ready	to	fight	for	this	and	win	that	fight	during	my	
Government,	not	only	because	it	is	an	act	of	justice	towards	Bolivia,	but	because	it	is	
convenient for the future of our two countries.
	 When	I	mentioned	the	point	concerning	the	railway	from	Arica	to	La	Paz,	he	
asked	me	if	we	were	really	interested	in	taking	charge	of	that	railway,	as	part	of	a	
gradual	solution	and	with	the	respective	compensations.
	 I	told	him	that	its	isolated	transfer	was	not	of	interest	to	us,	because	it	would	
only	create	economic	and	even	social	problems	(in	Arica)	for	Bolivia;	but	I	added	
that we would accept it as part of an overall solution, or as an integral part of the 
outlet	to	the	sea	for	Bolivia.	With	regard	to	compensations,	I	strongly	emphasized	
that, with regard to any of the aspects to be negotiated, Bolivia would not accept 
giving	 anything	 in	 the	 territorial	 nature,	 limiting	 its	 assent	 to	 compensations	 that,	
after being considered fair, such as that relating to the railway line or to rolling stock, 
for	example,	were	exclusively	of	an	economic	or	commercial	nature.
 The President of Chile also spoke of the Peruvian proposal and of the 
possibility	of	an	unjustified	opposition	arising	from	the	complications	of	Peruvian	
domestic	politics.	He	also	told	me	that	 in	his	opinion,	Peru	should	be	informed	in	
due	course	–as	was	established	in	the	Chilean-Peruvian	Treaty	of	1929–	as	regards	
the	negotiation	with	Bolivia,	but	he	agreed	with	me	on	the	desirability	of	maintaining	
this	merely	preliminary	stage	of	our	conversations	as	confidential.	Finally,	he	asked	
me	–on	the	bases	indicated	by	him–	that	the	Government	of	Bolivia	pronounces	in	
this	regard	or	to	make	its	contraposition,	in	order	to	study	it	in	detail.
	 As	for	the	possibility	of	formalizing	the	negotiations	in	writing,	Mr.	Gonzalez	
Videla	told	me	that	he	had	no	objection,	but	that	he	would	do	so	when	I	received	the	
Bolivian	Government’s	reply.
	 The	 meeting	 concluded,	 which	 was	 characterized	 by	 great	 cordiality	 and	
mutual	trust,	and	President	Gonzalez	Videla	suggested	that	I	visit	him	again	when	I	
received	the	reply	from	La	Paz.

--------

	 Today,	I	also	visited	the	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs,	German	Vergara	Donoso,	
who	was	very	interested	in	the	outcome	of	my	conversation	with	the	President	of	the	
Republic,	whom	I	had	not	yet	had	the	opportunity	to	see.
	 Sincerely,	 I	 explained	 to	Mr.	Vergara	Donoso	 the	 fundamental	 part	 of	my	
conversation	with	President	Gonzalez	Videla.
	 After	listening	to	me,	Mr.	Vergara	Donoso	asked	me	
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whether we had actually dealt with the gradual aspect of the negotiation, concretizing 
the	Arica-La	Paz	railroad	in	its	first	stage.
 I then took the opportunity to express what the President of the Republic had 
already expressed, that is, the railroad, considered in isolation, was of no interest for 
Bolivia.	On	the	other	hand,	I	pointed	out	that	the	matter	we	were	dealing	with	had	
two	different	aspects;	the	one	regarding	transit,	which	was	of	secondary	importance,	
and	the	one	of	the	outlet	to	the	sea	for	Bolivia,	which	was	the	fundamental	one,	the	
one	that	President	Gonzalez	Videla	himself	had	address	and	that	we	had	to	resolve,	
laying	the	foundations	for	a	great	work	of	rapprochement	between	our	two	countries.
	 Mr.	Vergara	Donoso	was	especially	concerned	about	the	need	to	inform	Peru	
about	the	negotiations	with	Bolivia	and	asked	me	if	we	had	done	any	survey	before	
the	Government	of	that	country	and	what	I	thought	would	be	the	reaction	of	President	
Bustamante	and	Rivero.
	 According	to	the	truth,	I	told	him	that	years	ago,	in	1936,	when	I	had	held	
the	position	of	Minister	 in	Lima,	by	 instructions	of	 the	Government	of	Bolivia,	 I	
had	negotiated	the	assent	of	the	Government	of	Peru	in	the	case	of	the	transfer	of	a	
Chilean	port	to	Bolivia,	and	that	Chancellor	Ulloa	had	not	rejected	the	idea,	merely	
considering	 that	 the	 approach	was	 premature	 and	 that	 acceptance	 at	 that	moment	
would	amount	to	putting	pressure	on	Chile.	I	further	noted	that	this	negotiation	had	
not	 subsequently	been	 repeated	and	 that	 the	 information	 to	Peru	of	 any	 territorial	
arrangement	in	the	Arica	area	corresponded	not	to	Bolivia	but	to	Chile,	which	had	
an	express	agreement	with	Peru	 in	 that	 regard.	As	 far	 as	 the	opinion	of	President	
Bustamante	and	Rivero	was	concerned,	I	said	that	I	had	no	evidence	to	pronounce	on	
this,	but	that	I	considered	him	to	be	a	true	statesman	and	a	friend	of	Bolivia,	capable	
of	demonstrating,	as	President	Gonzalez	Videla	did,	a	thorough	understanding	of	the	
Bolivian port issue.
	 The	Chilean	Foreign	Minister	pointed	out	 to	me	 that	 the	negotiations	with	
Bolivia	had	to	be	consulted,	at	a	certain	point,	to	the	Diplomatic	Committee	of	the	
Senate, and that, of course, the reservation could disappear, so that in his opinion 
Peru	should	be	 informed,	as	soon	as	 those	negotiations	were	 formalized,	after	 the	
arrival	of	the	response	of	the	Bolivian	Government.
	 Mr.	Vergara	Donoso	also	insisted	that	the	negotiations	would	be	long	and	that	
it would face serious obstacles.
	 Obstacles	are	overcome	when	there	 is	 the	will	 to	solve	 the	problem,	I	 told	
him.
	 It	is	evident,	but	for	the	very	success	of	the	solution	we	must	go	slowly,	very	
slowly, he replied, repeating what he had already expressed in Rio de Janeiro to 
Chancellor Luis Fernando Guachalla.
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	 With	 regard	 to	 formalizing	 the	 negotiations,	 opening	 that	 stage	 by	means	
of	 exchange	 of	 notes,	 for	 example,	 Mr.	 Vergara	 Donoso	 also	 expressed	 his	 full	
agreement.
	 In	summary,	although	the	Chilean	Foreign	Minister	was	not	as	expressive	as	
President	Gonzalez	Videla	and	on	the	contrary	he	was	excessively	cautious,	he	did	
not	at	 any	 time	discard	 the	negotiation	on	 the	 fundamental	aspect	of	 the	Bolivian	
issue,	that	is	to	say,	the	outlet	to	the	sea	for	our	country,	manifesting	his	desire	and	
his hope of reaching an understanding and of carrying out a really constructive work 
between the two nations.

-----------
	 Before	 returning	 to	La	Paz,	 the	Chilean	Ambassador	 to	Bolivia,	Mr.	 Jorge	
Saavedra	 Agüero,	 confidentially	 told	 me,	 referring	 to	 Peru’s	 position	 regarding	
Chile’s negotiations with Bolivia, that if it was negative, it would reveal to Chile 
that	Peru	projected	 the	vindication	of	Arica,	noting	here	 this	serious	warning,	and	
that	on	the	other	hand	it	might	tend	to	obtain	advantages	from	Bolivia,	to	only	after	
obtaining	them	to	give	its	assent.	In	any	case,	the	Chilean	Ambassador	considered	
that	the	Peruvian	position	would	be	defeated	with	the	assistance	of	the	United	States	
Government,	which	could	reasonably	say	to	Peru:	“Do	not	bother	by	opposing	to	the	
cession of a territory that is not yours.” (sic)
	 In	concluding	this	strictly	confidential	information,	which	I	ask	you	to	bring	
to the attention of His Excellency the President of the Republic, Dr. Hertzog, I would 
like	to	point	out	that	with	the	negotiation	initiated	with	the	President	of	Chile	–albeit	
only	in	a	verbal	form–	regarding	the	port	issue	of	Bolivia,	the	fundamental	problem	of	
our	country	has	been	addressed	–in	a	concrete	way–		for	the	first	time	since	Peru	and	
Chile settled the dispute over Tacna and Arica, in relation to which we had previously 
found	in	Chile	sometimes	angry	rejections	and	others	discreet	evasions.
	 It	is	now	up	to	the	Bolivian	Government	to	assume	its	historical	responsibility,	
to	study	the	bases	indicated	by	the	President	of	Chile	and	to	make	the	counterproposal	
it	deems	appropriate	for	the	national	interests.
	 For	my	part,	if	the	foundations	laid	down	by	President	Gonzalez	Videla	are	
considered acceptable in principle, I would suggest that in Bolivia’s counterproposal 
the territorial strip that Chile would cede be extended to an extension that includes 
the	railway	line	itself,	to	the	area	before	Arica,	that	is	to	say,	from	where	the	detour	of	
the railway line to the Bolivian port would take place, and that the solution itself, that 
is to say, Bolivia’s own outlet to the sea is conditioned on the possibility of building 
a real port in the ceded territory.
	 I	reiterate	to	you	the	assurances	of	my	highest	consideration.

[Illegible Signature]
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Annex 257

Note	from	the	Bolivian	Ambassador	to	Chile,	Alberto	Ostria	Gutierrez,	to	
the Minister of Foreign Affairs of Bolivia, Adolfo Costa du Rels, 

Nº	515/375,	28	June	1948

(Original in Spanish, English translation)

Archives of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Bolivia

(Submitted	by	Bolivia	as	Annex	62	to	its	Memorial)
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EMBASSY	OF	BOLIVIA
STRICTLY CONFIDENTIAL

Nº	515/375	
Subject:	Negotiations	
with Chile

      Santiago, 28 June 1948.

Mr.	Minister:
		 Following	the	dispatch	of	my	note	Nº	455/325,	dated	2	June,	in	which	I	
inform	you	of	the	conversations	I	held	with	the	President	of	Chile,	Mr.	Gabriel	
Gonzalez	Videla,	and	with	the	Minister	of	Foreign	affairs,	Mr.	German	Vergara	
Donoso, I received new instructions enclosed in the letter dated 4 June, sent 
by H.E. the President of the Republic, Dr. Enrique Hertzog, and by you, as a 
result	of	the	information	I	transmitted	in	my	encrypted	cablegram	Nº	115,	of	
the	first	of	this	month.	

		 Immediately	 thereafter,	 I	met	with	 the	minister	 of	 Foreign	Affairs,	
who	had	requested	me	to	provide	him	information	on	the	main	points	which,	
in	accordance	with	 the	 instructions	 I	would	 receive,	 I	was	 to	communicate	
to	 the	President	of	 the	Republic.	 I	 informed	Mr.	Vergara	Donoso	about	 the	
content	of	the	Bolivian	counterproposal	in	frank	terms.	

		 The	Chilean	Foreign	Minister	heard	me	silently	and	 then	made	 the	
following	observation:	

		 -Has	the	president	of	the	Republic	not	told	you	about	the	impossibility	
of	transferring	Arica?

		 -Yes,	 he	 did,	 I	 replied,	 but	 he	 also	 invited	me	 to,	 after	making	 the	
respective	consultation	with	the	Foreign	Ministry	of	La	Paz,	communicate	to	
you,	in	clear	and	faithful	terms,	the	view	of	the	Government	of	Bolivia.	And	
that	is	what	I	am	determined	to	do.

								 Mr.	Vergara	Donoso	said	nothing	in	response	to	this	assertion	and,	with	
the	extreme	caution	 that	 characterizes	him,	only	agreed	on	 the	advisability	
of	moving	 forward	with	 the	 negotiations,	 and	 also	 promised	 to	 schedule	 a	
meeting	with	the	President	of	the	Republic.	

		 On	 Thursday	 17	 of	 this	 month,	 at	 12:30	 p.m.,	 I	 was	 granted	 that	
meeting	and	President	Gonzalez	Videla	received	me	with	much	cordiality,	as	
always.	Then,	consistently	with	his	very	invitation	and	just	as	I	had	told	the	
Foreign	Minister,	I	faithfully	informed	him	of	the	view	of	the	Government	of	
Bolivia, proposing “the cession of the port of Arica and of the coastal strip 
to	 the	 north,	 up	 to	 the	Peruvian	border”	 –following	 the	 instructions	 issued	
by H.E. the President of the Republic and yours, on 4 June (letter a). I also 
proposed the transference of the “Chilean section of the Arica-La Paz railway, 
including its dependencies, warehouses, etc.”, (letter b) and I explained
-----------        -----------

To Mr. Adolfo Costa du Rels 
Minister of Foreign Affairs
LA	PAZ	.
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to	him	that	the	respective	compensations,	both	for	the	cession	as	for	the	transfer,	
would	be	subject	to	a	subsequent	agreement	to	be	entered	into	within	a	term	of	
fifteen	days	(letter c).	Finally,	I	suggested	that	the	Government	of	Chile	should	
inform	the	government	of	Peru	–as	prescribed	under	the	additional	protocol	
concluded	between	both	countries	in	1929–	of	the	agreements	reached	with	
Bolivia, because our country “did not want the solution to its port issue to 
cause disturbances in its friendship with the sister Republic of Peru”, (letter 
d).

		 When	I	made	 that	proposal,	 I	also	explained	 to	President	Gonzalez	
Videla	the	geographic	and	financial	aspects	that	made	advisable	the	cession	
of	Arica	to	Bolivia	–port	which	in	reality	was	nothing	but	an	“onerous	port”	
for	 Chile,	 according	 to	 the	 categorical	 statements	 of	 an	 eminent	 Chilean	
intellectual and politician.
 
		 After	 hearing	 me	 with	 great	 attention,	 President	 Gonzalez	 Videla	
addressed	the	arguments	that	he	had	put	forward	in	the	meeting	we	held	on	
1	June	and	about	which	I	informed	you	in	my	Noteº	455/325,	dated	2	June.	
After	 that,	he	added	firmly	 that	ceding	Arica	was	 impossible,	 regardless	of	
the conditions proposed, and he insisted that that city was a real sanctuary of 
the	warlike	glories	of	Chile	and	that,	hence,	 the	Army	would	not	accept	its	
cession.
 
		 –You	will	tell	me	that	I	ought	not	to	request	consent	from	the	Army	
–he	added–	That	is	true.	But	as	the	Head	of	the	State	it	is	my	duty	to	give	an	
ear	to	their	opinion,	and	I	know	the	Army	opposes	to	that	idea.	
 
		 I	 then	proposed,	 in	 accordance	with	 the	 instructions	 imparted	on	4	
June, (letter e)	that,	since	what	mattered	to	Bolivia	was	the port of Arica, the 
Morro of Arica, where the “warlike glories of Chile” were actually located, 
should	be	excluded	from	the	transfer	by	means	of	a	modus	vivendi. 
 
		 However,	I	could	not	make	any	progress	with	our	purpose,	because	
President	Gonzalez	Videla	 remained	 inflexible	 in	 his	 view	opposing	 to	 the	
cession of Arica. 

		 –Even	if	I	accepted	this	transfer	–he	said–	the	Congress	would	reject	
it	unanimously.	To	be	honest	there	would	not	be	a	single	vote	in	favor	of	it.	
Why	head	towards	a	forced	failure	then?	Were	I	not	acting	in	good	faith,	it	
would	be	easy	to	accept	the	Bolivian	proposal	and	limit	myself	to	expect	the	
Congress	 to	 reject	 it.	But	 that	 is	not	and	 it	cannot	be	my	 intention.	On	 the	
contrary,	I	want	to	take	things	to	a	realistic	field	so	Chile	and	Bolivia	come	
to	an	understanding.	Furthermore,	I	understand	the	need	that	Bolivia	has	for	
an	access	to	the	Pacific	Ocean.	I	was	born	in	La	Serena,	I	am	a	seaman	and	
I	realize	what	not	having	an	access	to	the	ocean	means	for	a	country,	all	the	
more	when	 this	 country	did	have,	 as	 in	 the	 case	of	Bolivia,	 one.	 If	 I	were	
Bolivian,	I	would	keep	the	same	ideal	you	do.
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		 Then,	 insisting	on	his	 rejection	 to	our	counterproposal,	he	declared	
that he could accept the transfer of a strip of territory, “but not of a town”. 
On the other hand, he noted that Peru’s reluctance would be unavoidable in 
case Arica were transferred to Bolivia, which would not happen, according to 
him,	if	such	transfer	merely	concerned	a	semi	deserted	territory	to	the	north	of	
that	city.	“With	no	doubt”	–he	finally	said–	“the	first	transfer	mentioned	[that	
of	Arica]	would	cause	enmity	in	Peru	not	only	against	Chile	but	also	against	
Bolivia…”
 
		 He	then	continued	insisting	on	taking	the	matter	to	a	realistic	ground	
and	he	noted,	once	more,	the	viability	of	transferring	a	strip	of	territory	north	
of Arica. 
  
		 In	light	of	that	situation,	with	the	impossibility	of	securing	his	consent	
with regard to transferring Arica, and proceeding in accordance with what 
expressed by H.E the president of the Republic, Doctor Enrique Hertzog, in 
a note addressed to you on 17 April 1948 (letter a)  and with the express 
authorization	contained	in	cablegram	Nº	77		addressed	by	you	on	10	June,	(“if	
this	were	not	possible,	you	may	move	on	with	the	negotiations	as	expressed	in	
the	last	paragraph	of	your	note	Nº	325”),	I	proposed	that	the	transfer	of	a	strip	
of	territory	to	the	north	of	Arica	should	have	the	following	fundamental	bases:	
1st, the inclusion, in the zone transferred up to the Peruvian border, of the 
Arica–La	Paz	railway; 2nd, the possibility of building a true port	that	satisfies	
Bolivia’s trade needs in the said strip.

		 I	 also	 reiterated	what	 I	 had	 already	 told	President	Gonzalez	Videla	
in	 the	meeting	we	had	held	on	1	June;	namely,	 that	 the	compensations	that	
Bolivia was to give in return for said transfer could never be territorial in 
nature,	because	the	Bolivian	Nation	had	reached	the	maximum	of	sacrifices	by	
transferring to Chile, as a result of defeat, its large and wealthy coastal territory 
on	the	Pacific	Ocean,	and	that,	in	consequence,	only	financial	compensations	
had to be considered. 
 
		 President	Gonzalez	accepted,	with	no	reluctance,	the	two	fundamental	
bases	 to	which	I	 referred	and,	with	regard	 to	 the	compensations,	he	agreed	
with	me	on	the	fact	that	they	would	only	be	financial	or	commercial	in	nature.	
“The	railway	could	easily	be	subjected	to	an	appraisal”,	he	highlighted	when	
expressing his view. 
 
  Thus, after having accepted that basic aspect and referring to Peru’s 
consent,	 the	 President	 of	Chile	 told	me	 that,	 in	 due	 course,	 he	would	 call	
the	Ambassador	 of	 Peru	 to	 formalize	 the	 negotiation,	 in	 keeping	with	 the	
restriction	imposed	under	the	Chilean–Peruvian	protocol	of	1929.	
-----------        -----------
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  With regard to the way to put into effect what has been agreed upon 
verbally,	 President	Gonzalez	Videla	 told	me	 that,	 in	 order	 to	 exchange	 the	
respective	 notes,	 I	was	 to	 approach	 the	Foreign	Minister,	 to	whom	he	was	
going to give new instructions to that end.                                                           
              
											At	the	end	of	our	meeting,	President	Gonzalez	Videla	expressed	his	
legitimate	desire	to	link	his	name	to	a	historical	solution,	not	only	as	viewed	
by	our	two	countries	but	also	on	account	of	its	great	American	transcendence,	
which rightfully I praised.

--- 

		 Thereafter,	 I	 met	 the	 Foreign	 Minister	 with	 the	 main	 purpose	 of	
agreeing on the wording of the notes we were to exchange. 

		 Mr.	Vergara	Donoso	asked	me	 to	 inform	him	about	 the	most	 recent	
conversation	I	had	held	with	the	President	of	the	Republic,	so	as	to	define	our	
ideas. I did so, although I noted that he was already aware of that conversation, 
because	he	had	held	a	lengthy	meeting	with	President	Gonzalez	Videla	on	that	
very day.
 
		 Chancellor	Vergara	Donoso	agreed	with	me	in	regard	to	the	advisability	
of	specifying,	by	means	of	notes,	the	results	of	the	negotiation	carried	out	with	
the President of the Republic. However, when analyzing the possible content 
of the notes, he suggested that the transfer of Arica ought to appear as proposed 
by	Bolivia	as	well	as	the	transfer	of	the	strip	of	territory	in	replacement	for	
the	latter,	aspect	to	which	I	firmly	opposed,	first,	because	it	was	not	consistent	
with	the	historical	reality	and,	second,	because	of	the	adverse	meaning	that	a	
proposal like that one, presented as though Bolivia had put it forward, would 
receive in the national public opinion.
   
		 Upon	 that	 request,	 Chancellor	 Vergara	 Donoso	 suggested	 that	 I	
prepared a draft note; which I suggested to divide in two stages; one to agree 
upon, in principle, the transfer to Bolivia of an own access to the sea, and 
another one to specify the territorial aspect.  
 
		 On	that	same	occasion,	 the	Foreign	Minister	expressed	his	fear	 that	
the	planned	agreement	with	Bolivia	would	stumble	upon	the	opposition	of	the	
extreme	right	wing	in	Chile	and,	as	to	neutralize	it,	he	suggested	that,	when	
repatriating	the	remains	of	Marshal	Santa	Cruz,	the	grandson	of	the	victor	of	
Yungay, Mr. Manuel Bulnes Sanfuentes, who was a close friend of President 
Gonzalez	Videla,	ought	to	attend	the	respective	ceremony	on	behalf	of	Chile.	
To	 that	 end,	 he	 asked	me	 to	 ask	 the	Bolivian	Government	 for	 its	 opinion,	
which	I	am	hereby	submitting	to	your	consideration.
 
  Pursuant to what agreed upon with the Foreign Minister, I carefully 
prepared, on basis of
-----------            ----------------
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the	precedents	of	the	instructions	imparted	on	19	April	(note	Nº	G.S.6),	the	
draft	for	a	first	note,	which	I	submitted	to	Mr.	Vergara	Donoso	in	a	new	meeting	
and	which	reads	as	follows:	

“Draft note”
 

“Mr. Minister. 
	 The	Government	of	Chile,	on	different	occasions	and	specifically	
in the Treaty of 18 May 1895 and in the Act of 10 January 1920 entered 
into	with	 Bolivia,	 although	 not	 ratified	 by	 the	 respective	 Legislative	
Powers,	 accepted	 the	 cession	 to	my	 country	of	 its	 own	 access	 to	 the	
Pacific	Ocean.
	 Subsequently,	on	the	occasion	of	the	claim	presented	by	Bolivia	
on	1	November	1920,	at	the	First	Assembly	of	the	League	of	Nations,	
the Delegate of Chile, His Excellency Agustín Edwards, stated as 
follows:	 “Bolivia	 can	 seek	 satisfaction	 through	 the	medium	of	 direct	
negotiations of our own arranging. Chile has never closed that door to 
Bolivia,	and	I	am	in	a	position	to	state	that	nothing	would	please	us	better	
than	to	sit	down	with	her	and	discuss	the	best	means	of	facilitating	her	
development.	It	is	her	friendship	we	desire.	Our	earnest	wish	is	that	she	
may	be	happy	and	prosperous.	Lest	it	be	thought	otherwise,	I	may	add	
that it is to our interest that she should be so, since she is our neighbour, 
and her prosperity can but conduce to our own.”
 Later on, His Excellency the President of Chile, Mr. Arturo 
Alessandri, in a Message addressed to the Chilean Congress of 1922, 
also	declared	the	following:	“It	will	be	necessary	that	Bolivia	secures	the	
conviction	that,	within	the	framework	of	an	atmosphere	of	brotherhood	
and	harmony,	it	will	find	in	our	country	but	a	friendly	desire	of	seeking	
for	formulas	which	consulting	our	legitimate	rights,	satisfy	inasmuch	as	
possible its aspirations.”
	 In	turn,	on	6	February	1923,	His	Excellency	the	Minister	of	Foreign	
Affairs of Chile, Mr. Luis Izquierdo, stated in a note addressed to the 
Minister	of	Bolivia,	Mr.	Ricardo	Jaimes	Freyre,	that	the	Government	of	
Chile	“maintains	the	purpose	of	listening,	with	the	most	elevated	spirit	
of	conciliation	and	equity,	to	the	proposals	that	the	Government	of	Your	
Excellency wishes to present to it in order to conclude a new Pact which 
responds	 to	 the	 situation	of	Bolivia,	without	modifying	 the	Treaty	of	
Peace and without interrupting the territorial continuity of the Chilean 
territory.”
 On the other hand, concerning the proposal of the Secretary of 
State	of	 the	United	States,	His	Excellency	Mr.	Frank	B.	Kellogg,	 for	
Chile and Peru to cede to Bolivia “all right, title and interest which either 
may	have	in	the	Provinces	of	Tacna	and	Arica”,	His	Excellency	Mr.	Jorge	
Matte,	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs	of	Chile,	stated	that	“the	Government	
of	Chile	has	not	rejected	the	idea	of	granting	a	strip	of	territory	and	a	
port to the Bolivian nation” and that it accepts “to consider, in principle, 
the proposal.

-----------        -------------- 
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	 Upon	 taking	 office,	 His	 Excellency	 the	 President	 of	 the	 Republic,	
Mr.	 Gabriel	 González	 Videla,	 demonstrated	 the	 same	 willingness	 in	 his	
conversations with the Minister of Foreign Affairs of Bolivia, His Excellency 
Mr.	Aniceto	Solares	–who	attended	his	presidential	inauguration,	in	November	
1946,	 as	 well	 as	 in	 the	 numerous	 meetings	 granted	 to	 the	 undersigned	
Ambassador	of	Bolivia	to	Chile.
	 With	 such	 important	 precedents,	 which	 reveal	 a	 clear	 orientation	 of	
the international policy followed by the Chilean Republic concerning this 
issue,	I	have	the	honor	of	proposing	to	Your	Excellency	that	the	Governments	
of	 Bolivia	 and	 Chile	 formally	 enter	 into	 a	 direct	 negotiation	 to	 satisfy	 the	
fundamental	 need	 of	Bolivia	 to	 obtain	 its	 own	 and	 sovereign	 access	 to	 the	
Pacific	Ocean,	thus	solving	the	problem	of	the	landlocked	condition	of	Bolivia	
on	bases	that	take	into	account	the	mutual	benefits	and	true	interests	of	both	
peoples.
	 Confident	 that	 the	 Government	 of	 Your	 Excellency	 will	 express	 its	
acceptance,	and	thus	begin	a	work	of	great	future	projections	for	Bolivia	as	well	
as	for	Chile,	I	reiterate	the	assurances	of	my	highest	and	most	distinguished	
consideration.

To	His	Excellency	Mr.	Germán	Vergara	Donoso
Minister of Foreign Affairs
Hand delivered”

---
  

  After reading this draft note with careful attention, the Minister of 
Foreign	Affairs	asked	me	if	I	would	be	willing	to	make	some	modifications	of	
detail,	to	which	I	agreed,	but	added	that	those	modifications	should	not	change	
the	fundamental	bases	contained	in	the	Bolivian	proposal.	
 
		 Chancellor	Vergara	Donoso	then	declared	that	he	agreed	“in	princi-
ple”	with	the	terms	of	my	note,	but	that	in	order	to	reply	in	the	affirmative	he	
needed	to	examine	that	project	with	the	President	of	the	Republic	and	with	his	
counsels of the Chancellery.
 
		 I	thought	his	reply	was	just	and,	moving	on	to	address	the	territorial	
aspect,	I	limited	myself	to	tell	him	that,	in	accordance	with	our	most	recent	
conversation,	I	would	prepare	a	draft	Protocol	in	order	to	submit	it	to	his	con-
sideration.
 
		 With	 that	purpose	 in	mind,	Mr.	Vergara	Donoso	pointed	 to	 the	 fact	
that any Protocol required the approval of the Congress and added that, in his 
view,	it	would	be	convenient	to	give	the	agreement	the	form	of	an	exchange	
of notes.
 
  Yet, the Chilean Minister continued 

 -----------        -----------
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insisting on his view that the proposal for the cession of a strip of territory 
should	 be	 made	 by	 the	 Government	 of	 Bolivia	 and	 he	 even	 proposed	 the	
exchange	of	two	additional	notes	asides	from	the	draft	submitted;	I,	however,	
told	him	anew	that	I	disagreed	with	that	and	agreed	only	with	the	idea	that	a	
second note should be exchanged, seeking a proper way to show that neither 
Bolivia nor Chile proposed that solution. 

  Another point that the Foreign Minister proposed was that, in the draft 
submitted,	 the	 Government	 of	 Bolivia	 should	 specify	 its	 view	 either	 with	
regard to Arica or to the strip of territory to the north, but I pointed to Mr. 
Vergara	Donoso	 that,	 in	strict	 logic,	 the	Bolivian	general	proposal	ought	 to	
come	first,	 followed	by	 the	Chilean	acceptance	 to	whichever	concretion,	as	
the	ones	he	had	suggested,	and	which	could	only	be	 the	 result	of	 the	main	
agreement.
 
		 It	was	categorically	agreed,	in	regard	to	the	draft	note	submitted,	that	
Mr.	Vergara	Donoso	would	make	the	corresponding	consultations	and	that	he	
would	respond	to	me	the	soonest	possible,	although	he	reiterated	that	his	reply	
would be favorable  “in principle” and that it would also entail a draft that 
would	be	subject	to	our	consideration.	
 
		 Thereafter,	 the	 political	 situation	 gave	 rise	 to	 a	 ministerial	 crisis	
which	is	still	in	place	and	Mr.	Vergara	Donoso	rushed	to	tell	me	that,	in	these	
conditions	and	so	long	as	his	permanence	in	the	Ministry	was	not	defined,	it	
would	be	 impossible	 to	 assume	any	 responsibility	 and	 that,	 as	 a	 result,	 the	
response he was to prepare would have to be delayed. 
 
		 I	emphasized	to	the	Minister	the	precedents	of	the	conversations	I	held	
with	 the	President	of	 the	Republic,	which	gave	a	permanent	nature	 to	what	
had been agreed upon, despite any possible changes in the Ministry, and I 
asked	him	to	ask	the	President	anyways;	but	the	trip	to	La	Serena	made	by	Mr.	
Gonzalez	Videla,	who	is	still	absent,	made	it	impossible	to	make	any	progress	
to date. 
 
		 Anyhow,	the	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs	promised,	in	our	most	recent	
meeting,	to	talk	to	President	Gonzalez	Videla	as	soon	as	he	is	back	from	La	
Serena	and	to	call	me	immediately	after	so	as	to	move	on	with	the	negotiation	
in course. 
 
		 Meanwhile,	in	the	event	that	my	draft	note	were	accepted,	I	also	put	
forward the wording of a draft Protocol, to which on account of the observation 
of	form	made	by	Minister	Vergara	Donoso,	I	was	to	give	the	wording	of	an	
exchange	 of	 notes,	 but	 whose	 fundamental	 bases	 were	 concretized	 in	 the	
following	terms:	

--------                   ----------- 
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DRAFT PROTOCOL.

“Given	that	the	direct	negotiation	entered	into	to	fulfill	Bolivia’s	fundamental	
need	 to	obtain	an	own	and	sovereign	access	 to	 the	Pacific,	which	had	been	
agreed	 to	 between	 the	 Governments	 of	 Bolivia	 and	 Chile,	 through	 notes	
dated…,	that	the	Government	of	Bolivia	has	proposed	the	cession	of	the	port	of	
Arica,	and	that	the	Government	of	Chile	has	refused	to	consider	that	proposal,	
both	Governments	have	agreed	to	the	following:	
First. –The	government	of	Chile	cedes	to	the	government	of	Bolivia	a	strip	of	
territory to the north of Arica, up to the current border with Peru, and including 
within its area the Arica-La Paz railway, on basis of the fact that this strip has 
an	appropriate	coastal	area	for	the	construction	of	a	proper	port	that	may	serve	
the trade needs of Bolivia.
Second.	–The	Government	of	Chile	transfers	to	the	Government	of	Bolivia	the	
Chilean section of the Arica-La Paz railway, up to a distance close to the city 
of	Arica,	from	which	Bolivia	will	build	a	prolongation	stretching	towards	the	
port that will be built.
Third. –The	Governments	 of	 Bolivia	 and	Chile	 shall	 agree	 on	 commercial	
or	 financial	 compensations	which	Bolivia	 shall	 give	Chile	 in	 return	 for	 the	
cessions	to	which	the	first	and	second	points	refer.
Fourth.	–The	Government	of	Chile	undertakes	to	carry	out	demarches	to	obtain	
the	consent	of	the	Government	of	Peru	for	the	cessions	referred	to	in	the	first	
and second points, pursuant to the additional protocol to the Treaty of 1929, 
concluded between both countries.
Fifth. –The	new	border	to	the	south	of	the	territory	ceded	to	Bolivia	shall	be	
subject	 to	 a	 technical	 study	 carried	 out	 in	 a	way	 that	 takes	 both	 countries’	
interests into account.
Sixth.	 –This	 agreement	 does	 not	 include	 any	 secret,	 political	 or	 military	
clauses. It is inspired in the spirit of continental solidarity and in the purposes 
that encourage both parties to intensify their brotherly relations with all 
neighboring	countries	and	will	be	registered	in	the	Organization	of	American	
States	and	in	the	United	Nations.”

--- 

   This draft, which abides by the instructions I received and 
which	 I	 had	 intended	 to	 submit	 to	 the	 Foreign	Minister	 of	 Chile	 after	 the	
signing	of	the	first	note	was	agreed	to,	is	hereby	submitted	to	the	consideration	
of His Excellency, the President of the Republic of Bolivia, and to yours, to 
whether keep it as it is, or give it the wording of an exchange of notes. In this 
connection,	I	am	expecting	the	new	instructions	that	you	may	impart.	
 
		 	 In	 conclusion,	 the	 negotiation	 concerning	 Bolivia’s	 most	
essential	 problem	 has	 been	 open,	 within	 scopes	 that	 could	 entail	 not	
only obtaining of a sovereign access to the sea and ownership over a                                                                                                          
-----------        ----------
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-----------        
railway	in	all	its	extent,	but	also	the	growth	of	the	national	territory	–a	purpose	that	
had never been achieved before in the course of our unfortunate history.

	 I	reiterate	to	you,	Mr.	Minister,	the	assurances	of	my	highest	and	most	dis-
tinguished consideration.                         

    [Signature]
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              Santiago, 15 July 1948

Nº	598/424.	 	 	 	 	 Strictly	confidential.	  
Subject:	Port	negotiations	
with Chile.

	Mr.	Minister:

		 My	Notes	 Nº	 455/325	 and	 515/375,	 dated	 2	 and	 28	 June,	 contain	
complete	 information	 on	 the	 port	 negotiations	 carried	 out	 both	 with	 the	
President	of	the	Republic,	Mr.	Gabriel	Gonzalez	Videla,	and	with	the	Minister	
of	Foreign	Affairs,	Mr.	German	Vergara	Donoso,	and	 I	 refer	 to	 them	as	an	
indispensable antecedent of what I express below.
 
		 With	the	ministerial	crisis	having	extended,	which	caused	Chancellor	
Vergara	Donoso	to	excuse	himself	from	subscribing	the	response	draft	of	the	
note	that	I	gave	him,	only	a	new	Ministry	was	formed	on	the	7th	of	this	month,	
and	Mr.	German	Riesco	Errazuriz	was	appointed	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs.
 
		 I	 immediately	 tried	 to	 continue	 the	 negotiations	 with	 the	 new	
Chancellor,	who	asked	me	for	a	short	time	both	to	speak	with	the	President	of	
the	Republic	and	to	study	the	antecedents	of	the	matter,	and	only	yesterday	I	
was	able	to	talk	to	him.	
 
		 Certainly,	Mr.	German	Riesco	Errazuriz	told	me	that	he	had	studied	
the	matter	 and	 that	 his	 opinion	 was	 favorable,	 but	 that,	 unfortunately,	 the	
political	situation	of	the	country	had	been	complicated	in	such	a	way	that	the	
President of the Republic considered it essential to postpone the negotiations 
for	 a	 prudential	 period	 of	 time,	 perhaps	 until	 the	 parliamentary	 elections,	
which	shall	be	held	on	the	first	Sunday	of	March	next	year.	He	then	referred	
to the situation of belligerence created by the leaders of the conservative 
party, Mr. Horacio Walker and Eduardo Cruz Cocke, and the opposition that, 
based on the territorial cession to Bolivia, those politicians would put forward, 
compromising	the	electoral	position	of	the	governmental	parties.
 
		 Faced	with	 this	 last	 argument,	 I	 pointed	out	 to	Mr.	Riesco	 that	 the	
opposition to any international work of transcendence was inevitable and that 
it	would	certainly	occur	in	some	political	sectors	of	Bolivia	as	well.
 
		 –Yes,	 that	 is	 always	 possible	 –he	 said–	 but	 the	 case	 is	 different,	
because	the	Bolivian	Government	would	be	attacked	for	not	obtaining	much,	
instead the

 -----------        -----------

To Mr. Adolfo Costa du Rels,
Minister of Foreign Affairs.
La Paz.
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Government	of	Chile	would	be	attacked	for	giving	too	much...

	 He	also	pointed	out	that	the	negotiation	formally	proposed	six	months	or	a	
year	ago	would	have	been	able	to	achieve	a	solution	without	major	difficulties,	
given	 the	 tranquility	 of	 domestic	 politics	 during	 the	 first	 half	 of	 the	 current	
Administration.	

	 On	the	other	hand,	he	pointed	out	to	me,	with	special	emphasis,	that	President	
Gonzalez	Videla	maintained	everything	that	had	been	agreed	to	with	me	and	that	
he	only	 requested	a	deferment	 for	 the	 respective	concretion	of	 an	 international	
instrument.	

	 From	 the	 first	 moment,	 in	 anticipation	 of	 what	 you	 have	 expressed	 in	
your	 cablegram	Nº	 98,	 I	made	 the	Chilean	 Foreign	Minister	 see	 the	 profound	
disappointment	 that	 this	 attitude	would	 cause	 in	 the	Bolivian	Government	 and	
stressed	the	need	to	take	at	least	a	first	step,	of	a	general	nature,	in	the	negotiations,	
subscribing the draft note already accepted “in principle” by his predecessor, Mr. 
Vergara	Donoso.	In	order	to	convince	him,	I	added	several	considerations	related	
to	the	current	international	situation	of	Bolivia,	mainly	in	relation	to	Argentina.	

 I also pointed out to Mr. Riesco that the quality of the conservative leaders, 
Mr. Walker Larrain and Cruz Cocke, suggested that they would address the issue 
of	Bolivia	with	great	elevation	and	patriotism,	and	that	even	their	opinion	would	
be	favorable	to	the	solution	reached.	But	the	Chilean	Chancellor	told	me	that	his	
impression	was	different,	especially	after	a	conversation	he	had	with	the	President	
of	the	Senate’s	Diplomatic	Commission,	Mr.	Jose	Maza.

	 In	conclusion,	Mr.	Riesco	neither	accepted	nor	rejected	the	signing	of	the	draft	
note	delivered	by	me	to	his	predecessor,	Mr.	Vergara	Donoso,	and	merely	told	me	
that	he	would	consult	with	the	President	of	the	Republic.	Further	expressing	to	me	
that	Mr.	Gonzalez	Videla	wanted	to	talk	to	me	and	that	he	would	receive	me	the	
next	day	at	12:30	pm.

	 Indeed,	today	I	had	a	long	meeting	with	President	Gonzalez	Videla,	who	went	
ahead and presented his excuses for having to postpone the negotiations that had 
begun.	He	then	explained	to	me	that	the	internal	situation	was	very	serious,	that	
the conservative sector presided over by Senators Horacio Walker Larrain and 
Eduardo	Cruz	Cocke	had	practically	made	common	cause	with	the	Communists	
and	that	even	a	conspiracy	had	been	discovered	in	which	six	Officers	of	Regiment	
Buin	 were	 involved.	 He	 told	me	 that	 under	 those	 circumstances	 he	 could	 not	
give	a	weapon	to	the	intransigent	conservative	opposition,	which	would	make	a	
resounding scandal for the territorial cession to Bolivia, without regard for the true 
interests of Chile and perhaps going so far as

------------        --------------------
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to accuse the President of the Republic of being a traitor to the country.

	 –Do	not	believe	that	I	am	looking	for	a	pretext	to	get	out	of	my	commitment	
and	I	beg	you	to	say	so	in	particular	to	the	President	of	Bolivia	–he	told	me.–	Even	
more:	I	maintain	my	unwavering	determination	to	reach	the	goal	verbally	agreed	
with	you,	because	I	believe	it	benefits	Chile	as	much	as	Bolivia.	But	for	the	sake	
of the negotiation itself, that is to say of its success, I wish to take advantage of 
an	opportune	moment,	so	 that	 the	agreement	with	your	country	 is	not	going	 to	
“mosquear,”	(1)	as	has	happened	with	the	Treaty	with	Argentina.	Be	certain	that	
after	the	March	elections,	in	which	the	Government	will	win	the	majority	in	the	
Congress,	we	will	conclude	the	proposed	agreement,	which	in	my	opinion	could	
only	be	obstructed	by	a	single	event:	my	death.

	 Mr.	Gonzalez	Videla	also	 told	me	 that	after	 the	parliamentary	elections	he	
would	not	mind	any	opposition	to	the	agreement	with	Bolivia,	because	he	would	
have	the	necessary	political	support	to	overcome	it.	“I’m	not	afraid	of	a	fight	–
he	said–	I	am	even	waiting	for	it,	but	on	condition	of	being	able	to	win,	which	
currently is not the case. In addition, I was also head of the opposition and I cannot 
fail	to	take	into	account	the	danger	that	would	mean	giving	a	powerful	weapon	to	
the	demagogic	elements	of	the	ultra-nationalism,	as	are	the	intransigent	leaders	of	
the conservative party.” 

 At one point he also referred to the delicate political situation in Peru, and 
stated	that	it	wasn’t	the	appropriate	moment	to	negotiate	Peru’s	consent;	however,	
I	pointed	out	that	the	coup	d’état	of	Puno	and	Juliaca	had	just	been	suppressed,	and	
that	this	fact	strengthened	the	position	of	President	Bustamante	y	Rivero.

 On the other hand, following your instructions, I pointed out to President 
Gonzalez	 Videla	 “the	 deep	 disappointment”	 that	 had	 caused	 in	 the	 Bolivian	
Government	what	the	Foreign	Minister	had	already	advanced	to	me	yesterday	and	
I	was	able	to	read	to	him	the	main	parts	of	the	cablegram	Nº	98,	of	you,	stressing	
that you were putting the cards on the table.

	 –I	fully	understand	that	state	of	mind	in	the	Government	of	Bolivia	–he	said–	
but	I	say	again:	for	the	success	of	the	negotiation,	my	resolution	is	unwavering	in	
the sense of deferring it.  

	 In	 that	situation,	 I	pointed	out	 the	need	 to	 take	at	 least	 the	first	step	 in	 the	
negotiations,	 by	 subscribing	 the	draft	 note	presented	by	me	and	 about	which	 I	
made	several	reflections,	emphasizing	above	all	
-----------         -----------
 (1)	Term	that	is	used	in	Chile	to	refer	to	a	thing	that	is	broken	by	force	or	by	being	
manipulated.
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that	 it	 was	 something	 that	 had	 already	 been	 basically	 accepted,	 on	 several	
occasions, by the Chilean Foreign Ministry.
 
	 I	was	then	surprised	to	corroborate	 that	President	Gonzalez	Videla	had	not	
read	the		 text	of	the	draft	note,	and	I	hastened	to	let	him	know	of	it	by	giving	
him	a	copy	I	had	with	me	for	precaution.

	 After	reading	it	carefully,	President	Gonzalez	Videla	told	me	that	he	did	not	
think	there	was	any	inconvenience	for	the	signing	of	that	document,	but	that	before	
pronouncing	on	it	he	would	consult	the	Diplomatic	Commissions	of	the	Chamber	
of Deputies and the Senate and that, if he found opposition, he would also be 
forced	to	defer	the	corresponding	subscription,	all	of	which	would	be	informed	to	
me	through	the	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs.
 
 Despite this declaration, which opens a possibility to the signing of said note 
and	that	was	made	at	the	conclusion	of	our	interview,	and	although	I	have	faith	
in	 the	 intentions	of	Mr.	Gonzalez	Videla,	 I	do	not	have	any	optimism	about	an	
immediate	favorable	outcome,	for	the	obvious	thing	to	expect	is	that	the	domestic	
policy	of	this	country	has	interfered	in	the	negotiations,	if	not	by	frustrating	them,	
by	postponing	them	for	the	time	indicated	by	the	President	of	Chile.
 
	 Faced	with	a	reality	like	this,	which	we	cannot	modify	by	our	own	will,	I	think	
we have nothing to do but to wait faithfully for the deadline indicated, without 
prejudice,	however,	to	outline,	in	the	meantime,	a	plan	of	action	for	the	case	that	
the	port	negotiations	with	Chile	definitely	fail;	an	action	plan	that	must	regard	the	
implementation	 of	 a	 determined	 policy	with	 other	 neighboring	 countries,	 such	
as	to	divert	traffic	from	Arica	and	to	turn,	for	a	very	long	time,	our	backs	to	the	
Pacific,	hoping	 that	 the	nation	will	better	 reach	 its	destination	 through	 the	new	
channels	of	communication	that	are	being	built	towards	Argentina	and	Brazil.	
 
	 I	 reiterate	 to	 you	 the	 assurances	 of	 my	 highest	 and	 most	 distinguished	
consideration.

     [Signature]
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Embassy of Bolivia’s
Strictly confidential

Santiago, 28 July 1948
Note	Nº	648/460
Subject:	Port	negotiations	
 with Chile

Distinguished Minister,

	 I	refer	to,	specifically,	my	Notes	Nº	455/325,	Nº	515/375	and	Nº	598/424	of	2	
and	28	June	and	15	July,	which	contain	complete	information	on	the	port	negotiations	
conducted with the President of the Republic and the Foreign Minister of Chile.
After	 the	 dispatch	 of	 those	 Notes,	 as	 I	 have	 informed	 you	 in	 various	 encrypted	
telegrams	and	specifically	 those	numbered	162	and	165,	of	21	and	23	July,	 I	met	
again	with	President	Gonzalez	Videla	 and	Foreign	Minister	Riesco	 to	 address	 the	
matter.

	 Foreign	Minister	Riesco	told	me	that,	unfortunately,	in	his	conversations	with	
the	Presidents	of	the	Senate	and	Chamber	of	Deputies	Diplomatic	Commissions,	Mr.	
Jose	Maza	and	Mr.	Enrique	Cañas	Flores,	he	had	met	objections	to	the	commencement	
of	negotiations,	but	said	that	these	objections	were	based	exclusively	on	grounds	of	
convenience,	 respecting	 the	very	substance	of	 the	matter.	He	added	 they	had	both	
expressed	their	confidence	that	a	solution,	as	the	one	being	considered,	would	serve	
as	a	political	flag	for	those	who	oppose	the	Government	and	that	it	should,	in	no	way,	
be	made	public	before	the	parliamentary	elections	to	be	held	in	March	next	year.

	 For	my	part,	I	insisted	that,	even	taking	into	account	the	objections	made	by	
the	Presidents	 of	 the	Diplomatic	Commissions	of	 the	Senate	 and	 the	Chamber	of	
Deputies,	the	signing	of	the	draft	note	that	officially	opened	the	direct	negotiations	
would	be	pushed	forward,	and	I	even	suggested	that	a	counter-project	including	some	
formal	amendments	should	be	submitted,	idea	that	Mr.	Riesco	promised	me	to	study	
with special attention.

	 Later,	on	the	23rd,	I	was	called	to	La	Moneda	Palace	by	the	President	of	the	
Republic,	who	confirmed	to	me	what	the	Foreign	Minister	had	already	said,	insisting	
that	the	Presidents	of	the	Congressional	Diplomatic	Commissions	did	not	oppose	to	
the	Bolivian	port	solution	accepted	by	him,	and	that	objections	had	been	put	forward	
only	owing	to	grounds	of	convenience,	in	the	face	of	the	parliamentary	elections.	He	
told	me	that	Senator	Maza	had	told	him	that	a	negotiation	of	this	kind	should	never	
be	made	on	the	eve	of	a	popular	plebiscite,	as	is	the	case	of	the	coming	elections,	
because	that	would	be	tantamount	to	giving	a	powerful	weapon	to	the	opposition,	and	
would	thus	compromise	the	electoral	position	of	the	governmental	political	forces.

-------------------------------------------
To Mr. Adolfo Costa du Rels,
Minister of Foreign Relations and Worship
La Paz, Bolivia
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 I	 understand	 the	disappointment	 that	 the	postponement	of	 the	negotiations	
might	have	produced	in	 the	Bolivian	Government,	President	Gonzalez	Videla	 told	
me.	What’s	more,	I	myself	might	have	lost	confidence	in	them.	However,	faced	with	
the	dilemma	of	either	losing	this	confidence	or	losing	the	election,	I	prefer	the	former,	
because	after	winning	 latter,	 the	 former	could	be	 resumed	with	 the	 signing	of	 the	
agreements,	whereas	the	other,	 losing	the	elections,	would	have	been	irremediable	
and	would	have	also	resulted	in	the	failure	of	the	commenced	negotiations.

 In spite of everything, I thought it advisable to insist, as I already had done 
with	Minister	Riesco,	on	signing	the	first	note	at	least,	 inasmuch	as	it	actually	did	
not contain any details on territorial aspects and therefore, in strict logic, it could 
not	 serve	as	 a	political	weapon	 for	 the	opposition;	but	President	Gonzalez	Videla	
replied that, in the face of the adverse opinions of the Presidents of the Congressional 
Diplomatic	Commissions,	it	was	impossible	for	him	to	take	any	steps	in	this	direction	
and	 that,	on	 the	other	hand,	at	 the	beginning	of	 that	first	 stage,	he	considered	 it	a	
duty	to	inform	those	Commissions	of	everything	that	was	being	projected	and	to	also	
inform	the	Government	of	Peru	 [of	any	progress],	which	would	put	an	end	 to	 the	
reticence Peru preserved until that day.

	 President	Gonzalez	Videla	emphatically	declared:	“once	more	I	must	tell	you	
that	I	keep	my	word	with	regard	to	what	I	have	told	you	on	former	occassions.	What	
has been verbally agreed is as if it were already written. After the elections, in March, 
we	shall	finish	the	negotiation.	What	do	you	want?	…I	could	not	foresee	the	internal	
complications	that	have	emerged.	It	is	important	to	consider	that	the	Foreign	Minister	
is a politician and that has to act like one, looking after the position of his party.”

	 The	President	of	Chile	 then	 referred	 to	 the	 invitation	made	 to	you	 to	visit	
Chile once you are back in Bolivia and expressed his special interest in talking to you 
to	explain	in	frank	terms	what	the	situation	is,	to	convince	you	of	the	sincerity	of	his	
purposes,	and	to	exchange	ideas	on	different	matters	which	he	considered	useful	for	
the international policy followed by both countries.

	 Of	 course,	 I	went	 on	 to	point	 out	 that	 the	official	 visits	 of	Heads	of	State	
or	Foreign	Ministers	must	have	a	specific	purpose,	as	he	was	aware	from	his	own	
experience,	and	that	in	your	case,	your	visit	would	be	justified	only	if	the	draft	note	
were signed, for this would open a new period in the relations between our countries.
Our	 meeting	 ended	 with	 the	 reiterated	 statements	 made	 by	 President	 Gonzalez	
Videla	in	order	to	complete	the	negotiations	after	the	electoral	digression,	and	thus	
confirmed	the	pessimistic	impression	that	I	transmitted	to	you,	at	the	end	of	my	Note	
Nº	598/424,	dated	15th	of	the	current
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month,	 in	 regard	 to	 the	possibility	of	 signing	 the	draft	 note	 that	officially	opened	
direct	negotiations	“to	satisfy	the	fundamental	Bolivian	need	to	obtain	a	proper	and	
sovereign	outlet	of	the	Pacific	Ocean.”

	 However,	 confirming	what	 I	 also	 stated	 in	 that	note,	 I	must	 tell	you	 that	 I	
maintain	my	confidence	in	the	good	intentions	of	President	Gonzalez	Videla	and	that	
it	would	be	absurd	to	attribute	bad	faith	to	him	in	the	dealings	related	to	this	matter,	
because	 it	would	have	been	enough	 for	him	 to	 reject	 any	of	our	 attempts	 to	hold	
direct	negotiations	to	define	his	position	from	the	outset,	and,	at	most,	what	could	be	
thought	of	his	current	attitude	is	that	he	might	have	rushed	a	little	–which	is	inherent	
to his personal character.

	 	 On	the	other	hand,	although	our	conversations	have	not	been	formalized	
(in	a	protocol),	they	have	existed	and	in	reality	they	entail	an	acknowledgement	of	
Bolivia’s need for a port, and no precedent opposing to our country’s aspirations has 
arisen	out	of	these	circumstances,	because	the	only	thing	that	has	been	submitted	to	
the Chilean Foreign Ministry is the draft note intended to enter into direct negotiations 
“to solve the Bolivian landlocked condition on grounds that take into consideration 
both	 countries’	 interests”	 and,	 furthermore,	 in	 those	 conversations,	 the	 concretion	
of	territorial	aspects	was	subjected	to	the	granting	[by	Chile]	of	a	“real	port	to	serve	
Bolivia’s	commercial	needs”.

	 I	 reiterate	 to	 you	 the	 assurances	 of	 my	 highest	 and	 most	 distinguished	
consideration.

    [Signature]
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Note	from	the	Bolivian	Ambassador	to	Chile,	Alberto	Ostria	Gutierrez,	
to	the	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs	of	Bolivia,	Pedro	Zilveti	Arce,	

N°	457/310,	25	May	1950

(Original in Spanish, English translation)
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       Santiago, 25 May 1950
CLASSIFIED.
Nº	457/310
Subject:	Port	negotiations	

Annex:	Copy	of	a		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 													
draft note.           
 (Sent by plane).
 

Mr. Minister,

		 Confirming	my	cablegram	Nº	113,	sent	yesterday,	 I	have	 the	honor	
to	inform	you	that	I	have	just	given	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs,	Mr.	Horacio	
Walker Larrain, a draft note in which, after recalling different precedents, it 
is	proposed	that	“the	Governments	of	Bolivia	and	Chile	formally	enter	into	
a	direct	negotiation	 to	satisfy	 the	fundamental	need	of	Bolivia	 to	obtain	 its	
own	and	sovereign	access	to	the	Pacific	Ocean,	thus	solving	the	problem	of	
the	landlocked	condition	of	Bolivia	on	bases	that	take	into	account	the	mutual	
benefits	and	true	interests	of	both	peoples.”
 
		 As	 you	will	 be	 able	 to	 confirm,	 this	 text	 is	 the	 same	 one	 that	was	
consulted upon and approved of earlier by that Foreign Ministry and which I 
transcribed	in	my	classified	note	Nº	375	of	28	June	1948.	
 
		 The	submission	of	 this	note	–a	copy	of	which	I	am	enclosing–	was	
agreed	to	with	the	Under-Secretary	of	Foreign	Affairs,	Mr.	Manuel	Trucco,	
and	has	the	aim	of	taking	the	port	negotiation	out	of	the	field	of	mere	personal	
talks	–which	could	prolong	indefinitely,	as	has	already	happened	since	August	
1946–	to	formalize	it	and	place	it	on	due	record.
 
		 The	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs,	as	 I	have	already	 informed	you	 in	
my	Cablegram	Nº	113,	 told	me	he	would	 examine	 the	draft	 note	 and	 that,	
probably	this	week,	we	might	be	able	to	conclude	the	respective	exchange	of	
notes,	for	the	President	of	the	Republic	has	already	made	progress	in	some	of	
his consultations with the heads of the political parties and with the Congress 
commissions.
 
		 If	 this	 were	 to	 happen	 and	 we	 were	 to	 manage	 to	 conclude	 the	
exchange of the said notes, we would be taking a particularly transcendental 
step,	even	if	it	would	only	probably	be	in	the	general	terms	of	the	negotiation,	
namely,	to	acknowledge	“the	fundamental	need	of	Bolivia	to	obtain	its	own	
and	sovereign	access	to	the	Pacific	Ocean”.
 
  Logically, to enter into the details of the negotiation, I will strictly 
abide	by	the	instructions	imparted	by	the	Foreign	Ministry	–particularly	to	the	
most	recent	ones,	i.e.	those	of	27	February	this	year–	and	to	the	ones	you	have	
given	to	me	in	your	cablegram	Nº	60,	which	I	have	just	received.
 
		 I	reiterate	to	you	the	assurances	of	my	highest	and	most	distinguished	
consideration.   

[      Signature]

To	Mr.	Pedro	Zilveti	Arce
Minister of Foreign Affairs, LA	PAZ.			   
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Draft Note.

Santiago, 24 May 1950.

Mr. Minister,
 
 	 The	Government	of	Chile,	on	different	occasions	and	specifically	in	
the Treaty of 18 May 1895 and in the Act of 10 January 1920 entered into with 
Bolivia,	although	not	ratified	by	the	respective	Legislative	Powers,	accepted	
the	cession	to	my	country	of	its	own	access	to	the	Pacific	Ocean.

		 Subsequently,	on	the	occasion	of	the	claim	presented	by	Bolivia	on	1	
November	1920,	at	the	First	Assembly	of	the	League	of	Nations,	the	Delegate	
of	Chile,	His	Excellency	Agustin	Edwards,	stated	as	follows:	

“Bolivia	 can	 seek	 satisfaction	 through	 the	 medium	 of	 direct	
negotiations of our own arranging. Chile has never closed that 
door	 to	 Bolivia,	 and	 I	 am	 in	 a	 position	 to	 state	 that	 nothing	
would please us better than to sit down with her and discuss the 
best	means	of	facilitating	her	development.	It	is	her	friendship	
we	 desire.	 Our	 earnest	 wish	 is	 that	 she	 may	 be	 happy	 and	
prosperous.	Lest	it	be	thought	otherwise,	I	may	add	that	it	is	to	
our interest that she should be so, since she is our neighbour, and 
her prosperity can but conduce to our own.”

  Later on, His Excellency the President of Chile, Mr. Arturo Alessan-
dri, in a Message addressed to the Chilean Congress of 1922, also declared the 
following:

 
“It will be necessary that Bolivia secures the conviction that, 
within	 the	 framework	 of	 an	 atmosphere	 of	 brotherhood	 and	
harmony,	 it	 will	 find	 in	 our	 country	 but	 a	 friendly	 desire	 of	
seeking	 for	 formulas	 which	 consulting	 our	 legitimate	 rights,	
satisfy	inasmuch	as	possible	its	aspirations.”

 -----------        -----------

 To His Excellency Mr. Horacio Walker Larrain,
 Minister of Foreign Affairs,
 Hand delivered.
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  In	turn,	on	6	February	1923,	His	Excellency	the	Minister	of	Foreign	
Affairs of Chile, Mr. Luis Izquierdo, stated in a note addressed to the Minister 
of	Bolivia,	Mr.	Ricardo	Jaimes	Freyre,	that	the	Government	of	Chile	“maintains	
the	 purpose	 of	 listening,	 with	 the	 most	 elevated	 spirit	 of	 conciliation	 and	
equity,	 to	 the	proposals	 that	 the	Government	of	Your	Excellency	wishes	 to	
present to it in order to conclude a new Pact which responds to the situation of 
Bolivia,	without	modifying	the	Treaty	of	Peace	and	without	interrupting	the	
territorial continuity of the Chilean territory.”
  
  On the other hand, concerning the proposal of the Secretary of State 
of	the	United	States,	His	Excellency	Mr.	Frank	B.	Kellogg,	for	Chile	and	Peru	
to	cede	to	Bolivia	“all	right,	 title	and	interest	which	either	may	have	in	the	
Provinces of Tacna and Arica”, His Excellency Mr. Jorge Matte, Minister of 
Foreign	Affairs	of	Chile,	stated	that	“the	Government	of	Chile	has	not	rejected	
the idea of granting a strip of territory and a port to the Bolivian nation” and 
that it accepts “to consider, in principle, the proposal.”
 
		 Upon	 taking	 office,	 His	 Excellency	 the	 President	 of	 the	 Republic,	
Mr.	 Gabriel	 González	 Videla,	 demonstrated	 the	 same	 willingness	 in	 his	
conversations	with	the	Member	of	the	Bolivian	Government	Junta	and	Minister	
of	 Foreign	Affairs,	His	Excellency	Mr.	Aniceto	 Solares	 –who	 attended	 his	
presidential	inauguration,	in	November	1946;	subsequently,	 in	his	meetings	
with	the	former	President	of	Bolivia	and	current	Ambassador	 in	Spain,	His	
Excellency	Mr.	Enrique	Hertzog,	during	his	 stay	 in	Santiago,	 in	December	
1949;	and,	finally,	 in	 the	numerous	meetings	granted	 to	 the	undersigned	 to	
address	this	issue.	With	such	important	precedents,	which				       ----
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reveal a clear orientation of the international policy followed by the Chilean 
Republic concerning this issue, I have the honor of proposing to Your 
Excellency	that	the	Governments	of	Bolivia	and	Chile	formally	enter	into	a	
direct	negotiation	to	satisfy	the	fundamental	need	of	Bolivia	to	obtain	its	own	
and	sovereign	access	 to	 the	Pacific	Ocean,	 thus	solving	 the	problem	of	 the	
landlocked	condition	of	Bolivia	on	bases	 that	 take	 into	account	 the	mutual	
benefits	and	true	interests	of	both	peoples.

		 Confident	 that	 the	Government	 of	Your	Excellency	will	 express	 its	
acceptance,	and	thus	begin	a	work	of	great	future	projections	for	Bolivia	as	well	
as	for	Chile,	I	reiterate	the	assurances	of	my	highest	and	most	distinguished	
consideration.

     [Signature]
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Note	from	the	Bolivian	Ambassador	to	Chile,	Alberto	Ostria	Gutierrez,	
to	the	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs	of	Bolivia,	Pedro	Zilveti	Arce,	

N°	470/322,	27	May	1950

(Original in Spanish, English translation)
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         CLASSIFIED

Santiago, 27 May 1950.
Nº	470/322
Subject:	Port	
negotiations.

Mr. Minister,
  
  I	am	pleased	to	acknowledge	receipt	of	your	classified	note	Nº	P.	y	
D.	 16,	 of	 the	17th	 this	month,	 in	which	you	 transcribe	 the	 communication	
that, on 19 April and referring to the conversation you held in Washington 
with	 the	 President	 of	Chile,	Mr.	Gabriel	Gonzalez	Videla,	was	 sent	 to	 the	
Bolivian	Ambassador	to	the	United	States	by	the	President	of	the	Republic,	
Mr.	Mamerto	Urriolagoitia.
 
		 With	reference	to	said	communication,	of	which	I	have	been	informed	
with	a	delay	of	more	than	two	months,	I	hereby	allow	myself	to	recall	what	I	
have	already	informed	to	you	in	my	note	Nº	412/287,	of	the	13th	this	month,	
i.e. that the Chilean Foreign Minister, Mr. Horacio Walker Larraín, believes 
such	communication	is,	in	a	sense,	an	official	one,	inasmuch	as	its	text	was	
consulted	 upon	 by	 the	 Bolivian	Ambassador	 to	 the	 United	 States,	 before	
informing	H.	E.	President	Urriolagoitia	of	it.	
 
		 In	regard	to	the	substance	of	this	communication,	it	is	interesting	to	
underscore	the	statement	made	by	President	Gonzalez	Videla	to	the	effect	that	
“Chile	will	demand	for	neither	territorial	nor	financial	compensations”.
 
		 The	first	aspect	had	been	established	in	all	 the	conversations	I	held	
with	the	President	of	Chile,	unlike	the	second	one	–financial	compensation–	
which,	with	the	approval	of	the	Chilean	Foreign	Minister,	seems	to	now	have	
been enshrined as well.        
 
		 Concerning	 the	 paragraph	 in	 which	 President	 Gonzalez	 Videla	
suggested	 that	 it	 should	be	Bolivia	who	commences	 the	official	demarches	
–confirming	those	already	carried	out	by	him	in	his	meetings	with	President	
Truman–	before	the	Government	of	the	United	States,	as	well	as	before	that	
of	Peru,	I	allow	myself	to	recall	the	observation	I	put	forward	to	the	Head	of	
State	of	Chile	–see	my	note	Nº	398/277,	of	9	May–	in	the	sense	that	“this	is	
a	matter	that	had	to	be	overcome	between	Bolivia	and	Chile	in	its	first	stage,	
between	Chile	and	Peru	in	the	second	one	and	with	the	United	States,	as	an	
amicable	mediator,	in	them	both”.
      
		 With	regard	to	the	question	put	to	the	President	of	Chile	by	Ambassador	
Vargas	concerning	 the	Chilean	section	of	 the	Arica-La	Paz	 railroad,	 I	must	
emphasize	that	this	question	was	unnecessary	because	the	transfer	or	sale	of	
that section to Bolivia is, along with the indispensable existence of a proper 
port to the north of Arica, a sine-qua-non condition of the negotiations 
commenced	in	Santiago

 -----------        -----------

To	Mr.	Pedro	Zilveti	Arce,
Minister of Foreign Affairs and Worship,
LA	PAZ.
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and	is	consistent	with	the	instructions	imparted	to	me	by	H.E.	the	President	of	
the	Republic	and	that	Foreign	Ministry,	welcoming	the	recommendation	I	had	
made	in	that	sense.			

		 Apart	 from	all	 that,	 I	 am	urgently	waiting	 for	 the	 new	 instructions	
that	you	anticipated	to	me	in	your	encrypted	cablegram	Nº	60,	of	the	24th	this	
month,	and	that	with	no	doubt	referred	to	the	content	of	the	note	to	which	I	am	
hereby responding. 

		 I	reiterate	to	you	the	assurances	of	my	highest	consideration.	

        [Signature]
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       Santiago, 10 June 1950  
Nº	510/349
Subject:	Port	negotiations	
Annexes:	Two	note	copies.		 	 	 	 	 		

Mr. Minister, 

		 Confirming	my	classified	cablegrams	Nº	128	and	Nº	129,	of	the	7th	
and	9th	this	month,	I	am	pleased	to	inform	you	of	the	port	negotiations	carried	
out	with	the	Government	of	Chile.
 
		 Naturally,	I	hereby	confirm	that	the	draft	note	approved	by	that	Foreign	
Ministry	–which	I	sent	to	you	along	with	my	note	Nº	457/310,	on	the	25th	of	
last	month,	and	of	which	I	am	also	enclosing	a	new	copy–	although	it	was	
subject	to	some	observations	by	the	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs,	Mr.	Horacio	
Walker Larrain, was accepted in its entirety.
        
  In this connection, we have achieved what we have been trying to 
achieve	from	the	Government	of	Chile	for	two	years	–you	might	well	recall	
the	demarches	carried	out	with	the	President	of	the	Republic,	Mr.	Gonzalez	
Videla,	and	Foreign	Ministers	Vergara	Donoso	and	Riesco	Errazuriz–	namely,	
the	 implicit	 recognition	 of	 “the	 fundamental	 need	 of	 Bolivia	 to	 obtain	 its	
own	and	 sovereign	access	 to	 the	Pacific	Ocean”,	 the	main	objective	of	 the	
instructions	I	received	from	His	Excellency	the	President	of	the	Republic	and	
that Chancellery, on 19 April 1948.
 
		 I	am	also,	on	the	other	hand,	enclosing	to	this	note	the	draft	response	
of	the	Chilean	Foreign	Ministry,	which	has	just	been	sent	by	the	Minister	of	
Foreign	Affairs	and	of	which	I	had	informed	you	in	the	main	paragraph	of	my	
cablegram	Nº	129,	sent	last	night.
  
		 As	 you	will	well	 be	 able	 to	 see,	 said	 draft	 response	 eliminates	 the	
reference	to	territory,	i.e.	to	the	area	north	of	Arica,	to	which	I	objected	because	
it	was	inconvenient	for	the	commencement	of	negotiations,	and	even	because	
reference	to	that	determined	territory	implied	for	Chile	the	obligation	to	secure	
Peru’s consent beforehand, which was best to leave for another stage. Asides 
from	this,	the	fundamental	phrase	of	the	Bolivian	draft	is	reproduced,	without	
any	modification,	which	undoubtedly	gives	more	significance	to	the	implicit	
recognition that the acceptance of the whole text of that draft entailed. 

		 In	 regard	 to	 the	 reference	 to	 the	 1904	 Treaty,	 which	 is	 not	 made	
in	 the	Bolivian	draft	note,	but	 is	made	 in	 the	Chilean	one,	 this	has	 a	 clear	
explanation:	that	since	the	commencement	of	direct	talks,	i.e.	since	1943,	the	
Chilean	Government
-----------        -----------

To	Mr.	Pedro	Zilveti	Arce	
Minister of Foreign Affairs and Worship, 
LA	PAZ.
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has established as a sine-qua-non condition for the negotiations that these be 
carried out “independently of the 1904 Treaty”, the revision of which has been 
and	will	always	be	rejected	by	that	country,	inflexibly	and	unanimously.

		 On	 the	other	hand,	 the	 reference	made	 to	 the	1904	Treaty	does	not	
affect	at	all	our	country’s	position,	 inasmuch	as	the	Government	of	Bolivia	
itself,	in	a	Memorandum	submitted	by	the	Bolivian	Ambassador	to	the	United	
States,	 Mr.	 Luis	 Fernando	 Guachalla,	 to	 the	 U.S.	 Secretary	 of	 State,	 Mr.	
Cordell	Hull,	on	15	September	1943	–Memorandum	which	is	now	reproduced	
in	both	the	letter	sent	by	President	Urriolagoitia	to	President	Truman	on	31	
May 1950 and the note addressed to the Secretary of State, Mr. Dean Acheson, 
on	that	same	date–	it	is	stated	that	“Bolivia,	faithful	to	its	tradition	of	respect	
for	international	pacts,	does	not	disown	the	legality	of	the	territorial	dominion	
Chile	exercises	over	the	Pacific	coast	in	accordance	with	the	public	treaties	it	
has entered into”.
 
		 There	is	another	highly	important	aspect	in	the	Chilean	draft	response:	
that	 the	Government	of	 that	country	declares	that	“motivated	by	a	fraternal	
spirit	of	friendship	towards	Bolivia,	is	willing	to	formally	enter	into	a	direct	
negotiation	aimed	at	searching	for	a	formula	 that	could	make	it	possible	 to	
give	Bolivia	its	own	and	sovereign	access	to	the	Pacific	Ocean”.	
 
		 However,	 in	 my	 view,	 the	 phrase	 with	 which	 this	 acceptance	 is	
complemented	 ought	 to	 be	 objected	 to,	 namely,	 “and	 for	 Chile	 to	 obtain	
compensations	 that	effectively	 take	 into	account	 its	 interests”,	 inasmuch	as	
territorial	 compensation	does	not	 seem	 to	be	excluded	–compensation	 that,	
ever	 since	 the	 commencement	 of	 talks	 with	 President	 Gonzalez	 Videla,	
we	have	resolutely	rejected.	In	 this	connection,	 if	H.E.	 the	President	of	 the	
Republic	and	you	authorize	me	to	do	so,	I	could	propose	that	said	phrase	be	
drafted	in	the	following	way:	“and	for	Chile	to	obtain	compensation	of	a	non-
territorial character that effectively takes into account its interests”.
 
		 Finally,	 the	 reference	 made	 to	 the	 consultation	 that	 the	 Chilean	
Government	 must	 make	 to	 that	 of	 Peru,	 “in	 compliance	 with	 the	 Treaties	
concluded	with	that	country”,	is	a	guarantee	for	the	good	harmony	that	Bolivia	
and	Chile	both	must	maintain	with	Peru	and	evidences	 that	 they	are	doing	
nothing secret or concealed behind Peru’s back.
 
  As regards the opportuneness of that consultation, the Chilean 
Government	 believes	 that	 it	 shall	 be	 made	 only	 when	 negotiations	 move	
forward in regard to the territorial aspect, independently of the fact that the 
Peruvian	Government	will	indeed	be	informed	of	the	initial	exchange	of	notes	
between Bolivia and Chile as soon as the current election process in that 
country	is	over,	and	the	new	President	of	the	Peruvian	Republic	takes	office,	
namely,	on	the	coming	28	July.	



238



239

EMBASSY	OF	BOLIVIA		 	 	 COPY

-3-

  In	conclusion,	with	the	notes	that	have	already	been	agreed	to	–salve	
for	the	aspect	I	mentioned–	it	is	my	view	that	a	historical	step	is	being	taken	
in	the	port	negotiations	with	Chile	and	that	this	country,	for	the	first	time	since	
the war of 1879, accepts to give Bolivia an own and sovereign access to the 
Pacific	Ocean,	no	longer	through	territory	disputed	with	Peru,	as	it	did	in	the	
1895	Treaty	or	the	Act	of	1920	–which	were	not	ratified–	but	through	purely	
and legally Chilean territory.

		 In	return	for	that,	in	its	note,	Bolivia	has	not	made	any	commitment	and	
allows	the	solution	for	the	fundamental	problem	of	its	landlocked	condition.	
 

-----

		 To	 end	 these	 brief	 considerations,	 I	 allow	 myself	 to	 suggest	 to	
you and, through you, to His Excellency, the President of the Republic, 
the indispensable need that his instructions be sent urgently and by cable 
concerning the exchange of notes with the Minister of Foreign Affairs of 
Chile,	for	the	current	opportuneness	might	vary	due	to	the	internal	situation,	
which	is	critical	here	–copper	and	saltpeter	exploitation	activities	have	been	
paralyzed	and	a	general	strike	has	been	announced	for	Tuesday	the	13th–	and	
even	owing	to	the	ministerial	crisis,	which	would	cause	Walker	Larrain,	whose	
decision	and	moral	authority	constitute	an	element	of	exceptional	importance	
in	this	matter,	to	leave	office	as	Foreign	Minister.										
  
		 I	reiterate	to	you	the	assurances	of	my	highest	consideration.	

        [Signature]
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DRAFT NOTE
    Santiago, 9 June 1950.

 
Mr.	Ambassador,

   I have had the honor of receiving the note of Your Excellency 
dated	on	the	24th	of	the	last	month.
 
   Your Excellency refers therein to the orientation of the 
international policy followed by Chile concerning the aspirations of Bolivia 
to	obtain	its	own	access	to	the	Pacific	Ocean	and	recalls	the	terms	of	the	Treaty	
and	the	Act,	signed,	although	not	ratified	by	the	Legislative	Powers,	on	18	May	
1895 and 10 January 1920, respectively. Likewise, Your Excellency recalls 
the	 statements	 uttered	 by	 the	Delegate	 of	 Chile	 to	 the	 League	 of	Nations,	
Mr. Agustin Edwards, in 1920; by the President of the Republic, Mr. Arturo 
Alessandri, two years later; and by the Minister of Foreign Affairs, Mr. Luis 
Izquierdo,	in	1923.	Your	Excellency	immediately	refers	to	the	answer	given	
by	Mr.	 Jorge	Matte	 to	 the	proposal	of	 the	Secretary	of	State	of	 the	United	
States	 of	America,	Mr.	Kellog	 (sic),	 in	 the	 sense	 that	Chile	 and	Peru	 cede	
to Bolivia their titles and rights over the provinces of Tacna and Arica; and 
finally,	to	the	good	willingness	that,	Your	Excellency	and	the	former	Minister	
of Foreign Affairs, Mr. Aniceto Solares, found in the current President of the 
Republic	of	Chile,	His	Excellency,	Mr.	Gabriel	Gonzalez	Videla	to	consider	
the Bolivian aspirations. 
  
		 	 With	 these	precedents,	Your	Excellency	proposes	 to	me	that	
“the	Governments	of	Bolivia	and	Chile	formally	enter	into	a	direct	negotiation	
to	satisfy	the	fundamental	need	of	Bolivia	to	obtain	its	own	
-----------                                        ----------
To	H.E.	Mr.	Alberto	Ostria	Gutiérrez,	
Ambassador	of	Bolivia
Hand delivered.
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and	sovereign	access	 to	 the	Pacific	Ocean,	 thus	solving	 the	problem	of	 the	
landlocked	condition	of	Bolivia	on	bases	 that	 take	 into	account	 the	mutual	
benefits	and	true	interests	of	both	peoples.”
 
		 	 From	 the	 quotes	 contained	 in	 the	 note	 I	 answer,	 it	 follows	
that	the	Government	of	Chile,	together	with	safeguarding	the	legal	situation	
established by the Treaty of Peace of 1904, has been willing to study, through 
direct negotiations with Bolivia, the possibility of satisfying the aspirations of 
the	Government	of	Your	Excellency	and	the	interests	of	Chile.

   At the present opportunity, I have the honor of expressing to 
Your	Excellency	that	my	Government	will	be	consistent	with	that	position	and	
that,	motivated	by	a	fraternal	spirit	of	friendship	towards	Bolivia,	is	willing	
to	formally	enter	 into	a	direct	negotiation	aimed	at	searching	for	a	formula	
that	could	make	it	possible	to	give	Bolivia	its	own	and	sovereign	access	to	the	
Pacific	Ocean,	and	for	Chile	to	obtain	compensation	that	effectively	takes	into	
account its interests.

		 	 I	am	fully	confident	that	in	this	way	our	respective	governments	
will	be	able	to	unite	more	tightly	the	destinies	of	our	two	Republics	and	give	
a	high	example	of	true	Americanist	spirit	in	the	Continent.
 
		 	 Finally,	I	have	to	add	that,	opportunely,	my	Government	will	
have	 to	 consult	 Peru,	 in	 compliance	with	 the	Treaties	 concluded	with	 that	
country.
 
		 	 I	reiterate	to	Your	Excellency	the	assurances	of	my	highest	and	
distinguished consideration.
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      Santiago, 24 May 1950.

 Mr. Minister,
 

   The	 Government	 of	 Chile,	 on	 different	 occasions	 and	
specifically	in	the	Treaty	of	18	May	1895	and	in	the	Act	of	10	January	1920	
entered	into	with	Bolivia,	although	not	ratified	by	the	respective	Legislative	
Powers,	accepted	the	cession	to	my	country	of	its	own	access	to	the	Pacific	
Ocean.
 
		 	 Subsequently,	 on	 the	 occasion	 of	 the	 claim	 presented	 by	
Bolivia	on	1	November	1920,	at	the	First	Assembly	of	the	League	of	Nations,	
the	Delegate	of	Chile,	His	Excellency	Agustin	Edwards,	stated	as	follows:	

“Bolivia	 can	 seek	 satisfaction	 through	 the	 medium	 of	 direct	
negotiations of our own arranging. Chile has never closed that door 
to	Bolivia,	and	I	am	in	a	position	to	state	that	nothing	would	please	
us	better	than	to	sit	down	with	her	and	discuss	the	best	means	of	
facilitating	 her	 development.	 It	 is	 her	 friendship	we	 desire.	 Our	
earnest	 wish	 is	 that	 she	 may	 be	 happy	 and	 prosperous.	 Lest	 it	
be	thought	otherwise,	I	may	add	that	 it	 is	 to	our	interest	 that	she	
should be so, since she is our neighbour, and her prosperity can but 
conduce to our own.”

 
   Later on, His Excellency the President of Chile, Mr. Arturo 
Alessandri, in a Message addressed to the Chilean Congress of 1922, also 
declared	the	following:

“It will be necessary that Bolivia secures the conviction that, within 
the	 framework	of	an	atmosphere	of	brotherhood	and	harmony,	 it	
will	find	in	our	country	but	a	friendly	desire	of	seeking	for	formulas	
which	consulting	our	legitimate	rights,	satisfy	inasmuch	as	possible	
its aspirations”.

 
		 	 In	turn,	on	6	February	1923,	His	Excellency	the	Minister	of	
Foreign Affairs of Chile, Mr. Luis Izquierdo, stated in a note addressed to the 
Minister	of	Bolivia,	Mr.	Ricardo	Jaimes	Freyre,	that	the	Government	of	Chile	
“maintains

 -----------        -----------
 To His Excellency Mr. Horacio Walker Larrain,
 Minister of Foreign Affairs,
 Hand delivered.
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the	 purpose	 of	 listening,	 with	 the	 most	 elevated	 spirit	 of	 conciliation	 and	
equity,	 to	 the	proposals	 that	 the	Government	of	Your	Excellency	wishes	 to	
present to it in order to conclude a new Pact which responds to the situation of 
Bolivia,	without	modifying	the	Treaty	of	Peace	and	without	interrupting	the	
territorial continuity of the Chilean territory.”

   On the other hand, concerning the proposal of the Secretary of 
State	of	the	United	States,	His	Excellency	Mr.	Frank	B.	Kellogg,	for	Chile	and	
Peru	to	cede	to	Bolivia	“all	right,	title	and	interest	which	either	may	have	in	the	
Provinces of Tacna and Arica”, His Excellency Mr. Jorge Matte, Minister of 
Foreign	Affairs	of	Chile,	stated	that	“the	Government	of	Chile	has	not	rejected	
the idea of granting a strip of territory and a port to the Bolivian nation” and 
that it accepts “to consider, in principle, the proposal.”
 
		 	 Upon	 taking	 office,	 His	 Excellency	 the	 President	 of	 the	
Republic,	Mr.	Gabriel	González	Videla,	demonstrated	 the	same	willingness	
in	 his	 conversations	 with	 the	 Member	 of	 the	 Bolivian	 Government	 Junta	
and	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs,	His	Excellency	Mr.	Aniceto	Solares	–who	
attended	his	presidential	 inauguration,	 in	November	1946;	 subsequently,	 in	
his	meetings	with	 the	 former	President	of	Bolivia	 and	current	Ambassador	
in Spain, His Excellency Mr. Enrique Hertzog, during his stay in Santiago, 
in	 December	 1949;	 and,	 finally,	 in	 the	 numerous	 meetings	 granted	 to	 the	
undersigned to address this issue.

		 	 With	such	important	precedents,	which	reveal	a	clear	orientation	
of the international policy followed by the Chilean Republic concerning this 
issue, I have the honor of proposing

 -----------        -----------
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to	Your	Excellency	that	the	Governments	of	Bolivia	and	Chile	formally	enter	
into	a	direct	negotiation	to	satisfy	the	fundamental	need	of	Bolivia	to	obtain	
its	own	and	sovereign	access	to	the	Pacific	Ocean,	thus	solving	the	problem	of	
the	landlocked	condition	of	Bolivia	on	bases	that	take	into	account	the	mutual	
benefits	and	true	interests	of	both	peoples.

		 Confident	 that	 the	Government	 of	Your	Excellency	will	 express	 its	
acceptance,	and	thus	begin	a	work	of	great	future	projections	for	Bolivia	as	well	
as	for	Chile,	I	reiterate	the	assurances	of	my	highest	and	most	distinguished	
consideration.

(Signature) Alberto Ostria Gutierrez
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Note	from	the	Bolivian	Ambassador	to	Chile,	Alberto	Ostria	Gutierrez,	
to	the	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs	of	Bolivia,	Pedro	Zilveti	Arce,	

Nº	544/371,	17	June	1950

(Original in Spanish, English translation)
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CLASSIFIED.

Nº	544/371		 	 	 	 	 	 Santiago,	17	June	1950.
Subject:	Port	
negotiations.

	Mr.	Minister:	
  
		 In	my	note	Nº	510/349,	of	the	1st	of	this	month,	I	informed	you	of	the	
port	negotiations	held	with	Chile,	stating	inter	alia:
 
  1. That the Minister of Foreign Affairs of Chile, Mr. Horacio 
Walker	Larraín,	 after	having	made	some	observations	 to	 the	Bolivian	draft	
note,	 had	 ended	 up	 accepting	 the	 entirety	 of	 the	 text	 I	 submitted,	 in	 the	
fundamental	part	of	which	it	is	proposed,	“that	the	Governments	of	Bolivia	
and	Chile	formally	enter	into	a	direct	negotiation	to	satisfy	the	fundamental	
need	of	Bolivia	to	obtain	its	own	and	sovereign	access	to	the	Pacific	Ocean,	
thus	solving	the	problem	of	the	landlocked	condition	of	Bolivia	on	bases	that	
take	into	account	the	mutual	benefits	and	true	interests	of	both	peoples”.        

  2. That in the Chilean response draft, the text of which had been 
attached,	we	had	managed	to	have	the	reference	to	the	territory	“to	the	north	
of	Arica”	eliminated,	enshrining	 instead	 the	statement	 that	 the	Government	
of Chile is “is	willing	 to	 formally	 enter	 into	 a	 direct	 negotiation	 aimed	 at	
searching	for	a	formula	that	could	make	it	possible	to	give	Bolivia	its	own	and	
sovereign	access	to	the	Pacific	Ocean”.   

		 3.	 That	with	this	statement	the	fundamental	objective	of	the	inst
ructions	imparted	by	H.E.,	the	President	of	the	Republic	and	the	Chancellery	
on	19	April	1948	had	thus	been	achieved,	an	objective	which	for	two	years	
had	been	unattainable	despite	the	repeated	efforts	made	both	before	President	
Gonzalez	Videla	and	Foreign	Ministers	Vergara	Donoso	and	Riesco	Errazuriz.	

		 4.	 That,	at	the	same	time,	with	this	statement	a	historical	step	had	
been	taken	in	the	port	negotiations	with	Chile	and	that	the	latter,	for	the	first	
time	since	the	war	of	1879,	accepted	the	possibility	of	giving	Bolivia	an	own	
and	sovereign	access	to	the	Pacific	Ocean,	not	through	territory	disputed	with	
Peru	anymore,	as	it	did	in	1895	or	in	1920,	but	through	territory	indisputably	
Chilean. 

  5. That, on the other hand, the aspect referring to Peru had been 
safeguarded	by	establishing	in	the	Chilean	draft	response	that	the	Government	
of	that	country	would	in	due	course	“to	consult	Peru,	in	compliance	with	the	
Treaties concluded with that country”. 

			 6.	 That	 the	 reference	made	 to	 the	 1904	Treaty,	which	 had	 not	
been	made	in	the	Bolivian	draft	but	had	been	made	in	the	Chilean	response	
draft,
-----------        -----------

To	Mr.	Pedro	Zilveti	Arce	
Minister of Foreign Affairs and Worship, 
LA	PAZ.
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did	not	affect	at	all	our	country’s	position,	because	the	Government	of	Bolivia	
itself had declared, in the Memorandum	submitted	by	Ambassador	Guachalla	
to	 the	 Secretary	 of	 State,	 so	 the	 latter	 submitted	 it,	 in	 his	 turn,	 to	Chilean	
Chancellor Joaquin Fernandez, who had been in Washington, that “Bolivia, 
faithful to its tradition of respect for international pacts, does not disown the 
legality	of	 the	 territorial	dominion	Chile	exercises	over	 the	Pacific	coast	 in	
accordance with the public treaties it has entered into”. 

		 7.	 That,	finally,	Bolivia,	in	its	note,	did	not	make	any	commitment	
and	that,	instead,	it	had	officially	made	possible,	owning	to	the	statement	made	
by	the	Chilean	Government	itself,	the	solution	to	the	problem	concerning	its	
landlocked condition.
 
		 By	noting	all	this,	the	only	objection	to	the	Chilean	draft	note	was	the	
phrase	“and	for	Chile	to	obtain	compensation	that	effectively	takes	into	account	
its interests”, suggesting to you that we propose the following wording, and 
“for	Chile	to	obtain	compensation	of	a	non-territorial character that effectively 
takes into account its interests”.
 
		 By	 responding	 to	 my	 note	 Nº	 510/349,	 through	 your	 encrypted	
cablegram	Nº	74	of	the	12th	of	this	month,	you	kindly	accepted	my	suggestion,	
indicating	on	your	part	that	the	penultimate	paragraph	of	the	Bolivian	note	and	
the	fifth	paragraph	of	the	Chilean	note	both	be	inserted	the	words	“direct”	and	
“free” after the word own. 
 
		 With	these	precedents,	the	day	after	receiving	your	cablegram	Nº	74,	
i.e.	on	the	13th,	I	visited	the	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs,	Mr.	Walker	Larraín,	
proposing	him	to	amend	in	his	note	the	point	relating	to	the	compensations,	i.e.,	
that	any	territorial	compensation	be	excluded	beforehand,	under	the	argument	
that Bolivia will not consent to giving any portion of its territory, because it 
believed	that	it	has	reached	the	maximum	of	sacrifices	by	ceding	its	coastal	
territory	after	being	defeated	in	the	War	of	the	Pacific.			
         
		 For	his	part,	Mr.	Walker	Larraín	 told	me	 that,	 independently	of	 the	
fact	that	I	myself	had	suggested	that	the	territorial	aspect	be	excluded	from	the	
notes	we	were	to	exchange,	he	now	proposed	to	make	mention	of	this	aspect	
in	a	manner	that	is	only	favorable	to	Bolivia,	excluding	instead	the	possibility	
that	when	fixing	the	new	border,	as	a	result	of	the	transfer	of	territory	made	by	
Chile,	minor	changes	be	made	to	the	dividing	line;	but,	due	to	my	insistence	
and	mainly	to	the	observation	made	to	the	effect	that	that	was	a	sine-qua-non 
condition for Bolivia, he ended up accepting the inclusion of the words that 
had been suggested (“of a non-territorial character”).
 
		 In	this	way,	the	agreement	had	been	reached	and	all	that	was	left	to	be	
done was to sign the respective notes.
 
		 Unfortunately,	 due	 to	 a	 disturbing	 and	 nervous	 telegram	 of	 the	
Ambassador	of	Chile	in	La	Paz,	Mr.	Jorge					 
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Saavedra Agüero, this state of affairs was changed. 

	 	 Referring	 to	 a	 conversation	 held	 with	 you,	 Ambassador	 Saavedra	
informed	his	Foreign	Ministry	of	the	existence	of	a	holograph	letter	addressed	
by	the	President	of	Bolivia	to	President	Truman,	in	which	the	mediation	of	the	
United	States,	as	in	1929,	is	suggested,	as	well	as	the	convenience	of	taking	
Bolivia	and	Chile	to	an	agreement	on	direct	negotiations	aimed	at	solving	the	
Bolivian	port	problem.	At	 the	same	 time,	he	 informed	 that	 the	copy	of	 that	
holograph	 letter	 and	 the	 note	 that	were	 to	 be	 submitted	 to	 the	Secretary	 of	
State,	Mr.	Acheson,	“were	both	in	possession	of	Ambassador	Ostria”.	

	 	 When	reading	the	text	of	that	disturbing	cablegram,	which	contained	
several inaccuracies, the Chilean Foreign Minister was unable to hide his 
dissatisfaction, and noted that not only did such an attitude in the Bolivian 
Government	not	contribute	to	concluding	the	initial	stage	of	the	negotiations,	
but that it rather critically hindered it. 

	 	 For	my	part,	 I	pointed	out	 to	 the	misapprehension	 incurred	 into	by	
Ambassador	Saavedra	and	defended	the	position	of	the	Bolivian	Government,	
although I was unable to give any concrete facts in regard to the copies that 
were	in	my	power,	because	they	had	been	given	to	me	in	a	strictly	confidential	
manner	and	even	by	means	of	a	mail	from	the	Cabinet	(by	the	Secretary	of	the	
Minister of Foreign Affairs). 
 
  Given that the existence of this holograph letter and of the note sent 
to	President	Truman	and	to	the	Secretary	of	State	was	revealed	prematurely,	
I	suggested,	through	my	cablegram	Nº	133,	sent	on	that	day,	the	13th,	that	I	
be authorized to give the copies in question to the Minister of Foreign Affairs 
of	Chile,	suggestion	that	I	myself	had	made	earlier	 to	you,	when	I	received	
them,	but	that	had	to	be	carried	out	after	they	were	submitted	in	Washington	
by	Ambassador	Martinez	Vargas,	bearing	in	mind	that	they	would	have	been,	
in	any	case,	brought	to	the	notice	of	Chile	by	the	Department	of	State,	and	that	
they were inspired in the desire to reach a faithful understanding with both 
Chile and Peru. 
 
	 	 On	the	15th,	I	received	cablegram	Nº	75,	in	which,	“in	agreement	with	
the	President	of	the	Republic”,	I	was	authorized	by	you	to	submit	the	copies	
of	 the	holograph	 letter	and	note	–addressed	 to	President	Truman	and	 to	 the	
Secretary	of	State–	to	the	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs	of	Chile,	and	I	was	also	
informed	 that	 these	 documents	 had	 yet	 not	 been	 submitted	 by	Ambassador	
Martinez	Vargas.	
 
	 	 I	complied	with	that	instruction	on	that	very	day,	giving	the	Chilean	
Foreign Minister an explanation on the purposes that had guided the Bolivian 
Government,	and	emphasizing	that,	by	planning	to	approach	the	Government	
of	the	United	States	in	such	manner,	the	President	of	Bolivia	and	his	Minister	
of	 Foreign	Affairs	 had	 indeed	 embraced	 the	 suggestion	made	 by	 President	
Gonzalez	Videla	 himself	 in	 the	 conversation	 he	 had	 held	with	Ambassador	
Martin	Vargas,	in	Washington,	and	
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thereafter in the meeting he granted me when he returned, in Santiago.
 
  In spite of everything, after reading the documents, Mr. Walker Larraín 
found that the demarche Bolivia had planned to carry out before President 
Truman and the Secretary of State was not consistent with the one performed 
by President Gonzalez Videla during his visit to the United States.    
 
  -In fact-, the Chilean Foreign Minister told me, President Gonzalez 
Videla’s gesture was spontaneous, in the sense of opening a direct negotiation 
with Bolivia to give it an access to the sea and his demarche with President 
Truman only intended to obtain cooperation from the Government of the 
United States so as to secure Peru’s consent. The Bolivian President’s holograph 
letter and note to the Secretary of State, however, detracted from the meaning 
of direct negotiations and in the substance propose the mediation of the 
United States in an affair in which Chile neither wishes nor consents to foreign 
involvement. 

  After saying this, Foreign Minister Walker Larraín requested me, in the 
most explicit manner, that the Government of Bolivia suspend indefinitely the 
submission of the holograph letter and note that had been sent to Ambassador 
Martinez Vargas, because instead of favoring the port negotiations with Chile, 
they would obstruct them severely. At the same time, he requested that we 
redirect our actions before the Government of the United States in a manner 
that is consistent with those of President Gonzalez Videla, i.e. to try get its 
cooperation to obtain the consent of the Government of Peru. He also referred 
to the letter sent by Ambassador Martinez Vargas to President Urriolagoitia 
on 19 April this year, and said that the view of President Gonzalez Videla had 
been faithfully put forward by his statement that: 

“Given that the Government of Peru must participate and be one 
of the Parties in any settlement that is reached on this question 
between Bolivia and Chile, by virtue of the Treaty the latter signed 
with it and that defined sovereignty over Tacna and Arica, this 
question has also been discussed between the Presidents of Chile 
and the United States of America. President Truman offered to 
make use of the strong influence of his Government before the 
Peruvian Government to secure a favorable solution. To this end, 
the procedure that must be followed will be that the Government 
of Bolivia commences confidential talks with that of Peru and 
requests its support. But it shall do this only after informing the 
Government of the United States that it agrees, in general terms, 
with the project President Gonzalez Videla has brought to the 
notice of President Truman. President Gonzalez Videla is of the 
view that it would be convenient that the Government of Bolivia 
communicates, without any delay, with the U.S. Government, 
with which it may be able to determine the proper moment to 
approach the Government of Peru”.
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		 Finally,	 Mr.	 Walker	 Larraín	 told	 me	 that	 he	 was	 certain	 that	 the	
documents	whose	 copies	 I	 had	 brought	 to	 his	 notice	would	 cause	 such	 an	
adverse	and	perhaps	even	violent	reaction	in	President	Gonzalez	Videla	that	
he	would	rather	not	make	them	known	for	the	moment	being.	
 
		 Under	these	circumstances,	after	receiving	your	cablegram	Nº	80	last	
night,	 I	met	 today	with	 the	Chilean	Foreign	Minister,	 to	whom	I	even	read	
some	parts	of	your	message.	Unfortunately,	I	was	unable	to	change	his	point	
of	view,	which	opposed	frankly	and	completely	 to	 the	holograph	 letter	and	
note	sent	to	Ambassador	Martinez	Vargas.	
 
		 –The	fact	is	not	that	I	oppose	to	the	Government	of	Bolivia’s	approaching	
the	Government	of	the	U.S.	in	regard	to	this	matter	–he	emphasized–	on	the	
contrary, it is essential that Bolivia does so, but within the scopes suggested in 
Ambassador	Martinez	Vargas’	letter	to	President	Urriolagoitia,	letter	which,	
inasmuch	as	it	had	been	consulted	upon	with	us,	I	regard	morally	formalized.
	Ultimately,	 the	 only	 thing	 Mr.	 Walker	 Larraín	 accepted	 was	 to	 consult	
President	Gonzalez	Videla	of	this,	telling	me	in	anticipation	that	his	reaction	
would	“surely	be	even	more	adverse”.	
 
		 With	these	precedents,	I	believe	it	is	my	duty,	as	I	have	already	done	
in	my	cablegram	Nº	144,	sent	today,	to	bring	to	your	notice	the	fact	that,	with	
regard	to	direct	port	negotiations	between	Bolivia	and	Chile,	the	first	stage	of	
which	was	about	to	be	concluded,	to	the	present,	the	dilemma	is	the	following:	
either	we	desist	from	submitting	the	documents	sent	to	Ambassador	Martinez	
Vargas	 for	President	Truman	and	 the	Secretary	of	State	–documents	which	
for	the	time	being	are	mere	drafts–	and	we	thus	achieve	the	conclusion	of	the	
notes	drafted	and	accepted	by	both	Parties,	or	submit	them	and	cause	direct	
negotiations with Chile to fail. 
 
		 The	Government	of	Bolivia	must	 thus	choose	between	depositing	a	
document	in	the	archives	of	the	Government	of	the	U.S.,	which	will	not	lead	
to	any	result	against	Chile’s	will	–i.e.	the	owner	of	the	territory–	or	to	redirect	
the	 demarche	 carried	 out	 in	Washington,	 after	 interrupting	 the	 submission	
planned,	and	 thus	 formally	obtain	Chile’s	consent	 to	negotiate	an	own	and	
sovereign	access	to	the	Pacific	Ocean.							
 
  In light of the additional fact that Mr. Walker Larraín has been the 
only	Chilean	Foreign	Minister	to	have	in	recent	times	shown	determination	
in pushing forward the port negotiations with Bolivia, supporting the purpose 
of	President	Gonzalez	Videla,	and	in	the	face	of	the	possibility,	latent	still,	of	
a	ministerial	crisis,	I	beg	you	let	me	know,	as	soon	as	possible,	the	decision	
His	Excellency	the	President	of	the	Republic	and	you	reach	in	this	matter	of	
transcendental	importance	for	our	country.	
 
		 I	 reiterate	 to	 you	 the	 assurances	 of	 my	 most	 distinguished	
consideration.    

                          [Signature]
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Note	from	the		Bolivian	Ambassador	to	Chile,		Alberto	Ostria	Gutierrez,	to	
the	Minister		of		Foreign	Affairs	of	Bolivia,		Pedro		Zilveti	Arce,

	N°		550/374,		20	June	1950

 (Original in Spanish, English translation)
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      Santiago, 20 June 1950
CLASSIFIED.
Nº	550/374.
Subject:	Port	
negotiations.
 

Mr. Minister, 

		 I	 received,	 yesterday	 afternoon,	 your	 cablegram	 Nº	 82	 –sent	 in	
response	 to	my	cables	Nº	142	and	144–	and,	 today	morning,	 I	was	handed	
cable	Nº	83	–both	of	which	relate	to	the	port	negotiations	with	Chile.
	Immediately	 after,	 and	 for	 the	 fourth	 time	 in	 the	 course	 of	 a	week,	 I	met	
with	the	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs,	Mr.	Horacio	Walker	Larraín,	to	whom,	
following	the	instructions	contained	in	the	said	cables,	I	gave	a	summarized	
account	of	the	following	facts:

1).	That	 the	 Government	 of	 Bolivia	 had	 instructed	 its	Ambassador	
in	Washington,	Mr.	 Ricardo	Martinez	Vargas	 to	 submit	 neither	 the	
holograph	 letter	 to	 President	Truman	 nor	 the	 note	 to	 the	 Secretary	
of	 State,	 Mr.	 Dean	 Acheson	 –both	 of	 which	 had	 been	 projected	
alternatively.  
	2).	 That	 the	 Government	 of	 Bolivia	 wishes	 to	 know	 the	
Government	of	Chile’s	exact	thinking	in	regard	to	the	demarche	that	
it	must	carry	out	before	the	Government	of	the	United	States	and	that,	
in	this	connection,	when	the	Bolivian	Government	believes	it	fitting	to	
approach	to	the	U.S.	it	will	inform	Chile	of	its	respective	note	before	
submitting	it	in	Washington.	

 
  The Chilean Foreign Minister hastened to express his satisfaction 
over	the	decision	made	and	asked	me	to	address	to	you	his	gratitude	for	the	
Government	of	Bolivia’s	noble	attitude.
 
		 On	the	other	hand,	Mr.	Walker	Larrain	told	me	that	once	that	obstacle	
is	overcome	–“which	is	mainly	an	obstacle	of	form”,	“inasmuch	as	the	loyalty	
of	the	Bolivian	Government	had	never	been	doubted”,	he	gently	underscored–	
there would be no inconvenient for the conclusion of the notes whose text had 
already	been	agreed	to.	Furthermore,	when	I	gave	him	the	signed	note,	I	had	
been	careful	enough	to	take	for	him,	he	stated	that	he	will	also	communicate	
his	official	response	to	me	today.	
 
		 As	far	as	the	thinking	of	the	Government	of	Chile	in	relation	to	the	
demarche	we	are	to	carry	out	before	the	Government	of	the	United	States	is	
concerned,	Mr.	Walker	Larrain	summarized	it	as	follows:

1.	 The	Government	of	Bolivia	is	responsible	for	communicating	the	
Government	 of	 the	United	 States	 that	 it	 has	 been	 informed	 by	 the	
Government	of	Chile	of	the	conversations	President	Gonzalez	Videla

-----------        -----------
To	Mr.	Pedro	Zilveti	Arce,	
Minister of Foreign Affairs and Worship,
LA	PAZ.
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held	 with	 President	 Truman	 in	 regard	 to	 the	 possibility	 of	 solving	
the	problem	concerning	Bolivia’s	landlocked	condition,	by	means	of	
direct	negotiations,	seeking	a	solution	of	continental	projections	and	
that	 is	 in	 general	 terms	 consistent	with	 the	 views	 expressed	 by	 the	
President of Chile. 

2.	 The	Government	of	Bolivia	is	also	responsible	for	adhering	to	the	
demarche	carried	out	by	President	Gonzalez	Videla	vis-à-vis	President	
Truman	 to	 have	 the	 Government	 of	 the	 United	 States	 exercise	 its	
friendly	 influence	before	 the	Government	 of	Peru,	 so	 that	 the	 latter	
does	 not	 set	 any	 obstacles	 –in	 keeping	 with	 the	 Chilean-Peruvian	
Treaty	of	1929–	to	the	territorial	understanding	to	which	Bolivia	and	
Chile	might	arrive.	

 
		 The	Chilean	 Foreign	Minister,	 when	 telling	me	 the	 above,	 insisted	
once	 more	 in	 the	 letter	 sent	 by	Ambassador	Martinez	Vargas	 to	 President	
Urriolagoitia	on	19	April	this	year,	and	mainly	on	the	phrase	I	quoted	on	page	
4	of	my	Note	Nº	544/371,	of	the	17th	of	this	month,	and	said	that,	in	his	view,	
the	latter	accurately	summarizes	the	views	of	President	Gonzalez	Videla	and,	
as	a	result,	of	the	Chilean	Government.	

		 At	 the	 end	 of	 our	meeting,	 Foreign	Minister	Walker	 Larraín	 and	 I	
agreed	that,	once	the	response	note	he	promised	to	send	me	today	is	signed,	
we	would	enter	into	another	stage	in	the	port	negotiations	and	asked	me	to,	in	
due	course,	inform	him	of	the	plan	that	will	be	followed	to	that	end.	

  
	 	 I	reiterate	to	you	the	assurances	of	my	highest	consideration.	

        [Signature]



268



269

Annex 265

Note	from	the	Bolivian	Ambassador	to	Chile,	Alberto	Ostria	Gutierrez,	
to the Minister of Foreign Affairs of Chile, Horacio Walker Larrain, 

N°	529/21,	1	June	1950

(Original in Spanish, English translation)
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Nº	529/21.

Mr. Minister,
 
		 	 The	Republic	of	Chile,	on	different	occasions	and	specifically	
in the Treaty of 18 May 1895 and in the Act of 10 January 1920 entered 
into	with	Bolivia,	although	not	ratified	by	the	respective	Legislative	Powers,	
accepted	the	cession	to	my	country	of	its	own	access	to	the	Pacific	Ocean.

		 	 Subsequently,	 on	 the	 occasion	 of	 the	 claim	 presented	 by	
Bolivia	on	1	November	1920,	at	the	First	Assembly	of	the	League	of	Nations,	
the	Delegate	of	Chile,	His	Excellency	Agustin	Edwards,	stated	as	follows:	

	 “Bolivia	 can	 seek	 satisfaction	 through	 the	 medium	 of	 direct	
negotiations of our own arranging. Chile has never closed that door 
to	Bolivia,	and	I	am	in	a	position	to	state	that	nothing	would	please	us	
better	than	to	sit	down	with	her	and	discuss	the	best	means	of	facilitating	
her	development.	It	 is	her	friendship	we	desire.	Our	earnest	wish	is	
that	she	may	be	happy	and	prosperous.	Lest	it	be	thought	otherwise,	I	
may	add	that	it	is	to	our	interest	that	she	should	be	so,	since	she	is	our	
neighbour, and her prosperity can but conduce to our own.”

   Later on, His Excellency the President of Chile, Mr. Arturo 
Alessandri, in a Message addressed to the Chilean Congress of 1922, also 
declared	the	following:

 
 “It will be necessary that Bolivia secures the conviction that, 
within	the	framework	of	an	atmosphere	of	brotherhood	and	harmony,	
it	will	find	in	our	country	but	a	friendly	desire	of	seeking	for	formulas	
which	consulting	our	legitimate	rights,	satisfy	inasmuch	as	possible	its	
aspirations”. 

		 	 In	turn,	on	6	February	1923,	His	Excellency	the	Minister	of	
Foreign Affairs of Chile, Mr. Luis Izquierdo, stated in a note addressed to the 
Minister of Bolivia,

 _ _ _ _ _ _            _ _ _ _ _ _
To His Excellency Mr. Horacio Walker Larraín
Minister of Foreign Affairs.
Hand delivered.
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Mr.	 Ricardo	 Jaimes	 Freyre,	 that	 the	 Government	 of	 Chile	 “maintains	 the	
purpose	of	listening,	with	the	most	elevated	spirit	of	conciliation	and	equity,	
to	the	proposals	that	the	Government	of	Your	Excellency	wishes	to	present	to	
it in order to conclude a new Pact which responds to the situation of Bolivia, 
without	modifying	the	Treaty	of	Peace	and	without	interrupting	the	territorial	
continuity of the Chilean territory”.

   On the other hand, concerning the proposal of the Secretary of 
State	of	the	United	States,	His	Excellency	Mr.	Frank	B.	Kellogg,	for	Chile	and	
Peru	to	cede	to	Bolivia	“all	right,	title	and	interest	which	either	may	have	in	the	
Provinces of Tacna and Arica”, His Excellency Mr. Jorge Matte, Minister of 
Foreign	Affairs	of	Chile,	stated	that	“the	Government	of	Chile	has	not	rejected	
the idea of granting a strip of territory and a port to the Bolivian nation” and 
that it accepts “to consider, in principle, the proposal.”
 
		 	 Upon	 taking	 office,	 His	 Excellency	 the	 President	 of	 the	
Republic,	Mr.	Gabriel	Gonzalez	Videla,	demonstrated	 the	 same	willingness	
in	 his	 conversations	 with	 the	 Member	 of	 the	 Bolivian	 Government	 Junta	
and	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs,	His	Excellency	Mr.	Aniceto	Solares	–who	
attended	his	 presidential	 inauguration,	 in	November	 1946;	 subsequently,	 in	
his	meetings	with	 the	 former	President	 of	Bolivia	 and	 current	Ambassador	
in Spain, His Excellency Mr. Enrique Hertzog, during his stay in Santiago, 
in	 December	 1949;	 and,	 finally,	 in	 the	 numerous	 meetings	 granted	 to	 the	
undersigned to address this issue.
-------------              ---------------
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		 	 With	such	important	precedents,	which	reveal	a	clear	orientation	
of the international policy followed by the Chilean Republic concerning this 
issue,	I	have	the	honor	of	proposing	to	Your	Excellency	that	the	Governments	
of	Bolivia	 and	Chile	 formally	 enter	 into	 a	 direct	 negotiation	 to	 satisfy	 the	
fundamental	need	of	Bolivia	 to	obtain	 its	own	and	 sovereign	access	 to	 the	
Pacific	Ocean,	thus	solving	the	problem	of	the	landlocked	condition	of	Bolivia	
on	bases	that	take	into	account	the	mutual	benefits	and	true	interests	of	both	
peoples.
 
		 	 Confident	 that	 the	 Government	 of	 Your	 Excellency	 will	
express	its	acceptance,	and	thus	begin	a	work	of	great	future	projections	for	
Bolivia	as	well	as	for	Chile,	I	reiterate	the	assurances	of	my	highest	and	most	
distinguished consideration.

[Signature]
Alberto Ostria Gutierrez
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Note	 from	 the	 Minister	 of	 Foreign	Affairs	 of	 Chile,	 Horacio	Walker	
Larrain,	to	the	Bolivian	Ambassador	to	Chile,	Alberto	Ostria	Gutierrez,	

N° 9, 20 June 1950

 (Original in Spanish, English translation)
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REPUBLIC	OF	CHILE
MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS

      DIPLOMATIC DEPARTMENT

  Nº 9      CONFIDENTIAL

     Santiago, 20 June 1950.

Mr.	Ambassador:

  I have had the honor of receiving the note of Your Excellency 
dated	on	the	1st	of	the	current	month.	

  Your Excellency refers therein to the orientation of the 
international policy followed by Chile concerning the aspirations of 
Bolivia	 to	 obtain	 its	 own	 access	 to	 the	 Pacific	 Ocean	 and	 recalls	 the	
terms	 of	 the	 Treaty	 and	 the	Act,	 signed,	 although	 not	 ratified	 by	 the	
Legislative Powers, on 18 May 1895 and 10 January 1920, respectively. 
Likewise,	Your	Excellency	recalls	the	statements	uttered	by	the	Delegate	
of Chile to the League of Nations, Mr. Agustin Edwards, in 1920; by the 
President of the Republic, Mr. Arturo Alessandri, two years later; and 
by	 the	Minister	 of	 Foreign	Affairs,	Mr.	Luis	 Izquierdo,	 in	 1923.	Your	
Excellency	immediately	refers	to	the	answer	given	by	Mr.	Jorge	Matte	
to	the	proposal	of	the	Secretary	of	State	of	the	United	States	of	America,	
Mr. Kellog (sic), in the sense that Chile and Peru cede to Bolivia their 
titles	 and	 rights	over	 the	provinces	of	Tacna	and	Arica;	 and	finally,	 to	
the	good	willingness	 that,	Your	Excellency	and	 the	former	Minister	of	
Foreign Affairs, Mr. Aniceto Solares, found in the current President of 
the	Republic	of	Chile,	His	Excellency,	Mr.	Gabriel	Gonzalez	Videla	to	

To Mr. 
OSTRIA	GUTIERREZ,	AMBASSADOR	OF	BOLIVIA.
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consider the Bolivian aspirations. 

	 	 With	 these	precedents,	Your	Excellency	proposes	 to	me	that	
“the	 Governments	 of	 Bolivia	 and	 Chile	 formally	 enter	 into	 a	 direct	
negotiation	to	satisfy	the	fundamental	need	of	Bolivia	to	obtain	its	own	
and	sovereign	access	to	the	Pacific	Ocean,	thus	solving	the	problem	of	
the landlocked condition of Bolivia on bases that take into account the 
mutual	benefits	and	true	interests	of	both	peoples.”

	 	 From	the	quotes	contained	in	the	note	I	answer,	it	follows	that	
the	Government	of	Chile,	together	with	safeguarding	the	legal	situation	
established by the Treaty of Peace of 1904, has been willing to study, 
through direct negotiations with Bolivia, the possibility of satisfying the 
aspirations	of	 the	Government	of	Your	Excellency	and	 the	 interests	of	
Chile.

  At the present opportunity, I have the honor of expressing to 
Your	Excellency	that	my	Government	will	be	consistent	with	that	position	
and	that,	motivated	by	a	fraternal	spirit	of	friendship	towards	Bolivia,	is	
willing	to	formally	enter	into	a	direct	negotiation	aimed	at	searching	for	a	
formula	that	could	make	it	possible	to	give	Bolivia	its	own	and	sovereign	
access	to	the	Pacific	Ocean,	and	for	Chile	to	obtain	compensation	of	a	
non-territorial character that effectively takes into account its interests.

	 	 I	am	fully	confident	that	in	this	way	our	respective	governments	
will	be	able	to	unite	more	tightly	the	destinies	of	our	two	Republics	and	
give a high 
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example	of	true	Americanist	spirit	in	the	Continent.

	 	 Finally,	I	have	to	add	that,	opportunely,	my	Government	will	
have	to	consult	Peru,	in	compliance	with	the	Treaties	concluded	with	that	
country.

	 	 I	reiterate	to	Your	Excellency	the	assurances	of	my	highest	and	
distinguished consideration.

  [Signature]
  Horacio Walker Larrain
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Note	from	the	Bolivian	Ambassador	to	Chile,	Alberto	Ostria	Gutierrez,	
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      Santiago, 20 June 1950
EMBASSY	OF	BOLIVIA		 	 	 	 COPY 

Nº	559/381.
Subject:	Port	negotiations.
Annex:	Copy	of	a	classified	note	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
from	the	Chilean	Foreign	Ministry.
 

	Mr.	Minister:
 
		 Moments	before	sending	the	air	mail,	I	received	from	the	Minister	of	
Foreign Affairs of Chile, Mr. Horacio Walker Larraín, the response note to the 
note	I	submitted	today	–making	official	in	this	the	way	the	first	stage	of	the	
port negotiations between Bolivia and Chile.
 
		 As	 you	 might	 be	 able	 to	 see,	 we	 have	 managed	 to	 obtain	 what	
mattered	to	our	country	in	that	response	note,	and	the	Chilean	Government	
has	now	officially	declared	that	“motivated	by	a	fraternal	spirit	of	friendship	
towards	Bolivia,	is	willing	to	formally	enter	into	a	direct	negotiation	aimed	at	
searching	for	a	formula	that	could	make	it	possible	to	give	Bolivia	its	own	and	
sovereign	access	to	the	Pacific	Ocean,	and	for	Chile	to	obtain	compensation	
of a non-territorial character that effectively takes into account its interests”.
 
		 As	 a	 result,	 a	 new	 chapter	 in	 the	 question	 of	 the	 Pacific	 –which	
chauvinist elements	 in	 both	 Chile	 and	 Peru	 believed	 to	 have	 ended	 with	
Bolivia’s	 landlocked	 condition	 resulting	 from	 the	 Peruvian-Chilean	Treaty	
of	 1929–	 has	 been	 opened	 and	 has	 given	 place	 to	 contemplate	 again	 the	
possibility	 for	 an	 agreement	 that	 might	 ultimately	 include	 Peru,	 that	 is,	 a	
tripartite	agreement	that,	in	the	substance,	amends	the	deep	mistake	incurred	
into under that Treaty. 
 
		 The	 Government	 of	 Chile,	 giving	 proof	 of	 an	 evident	 spirit	 of	
understanding,	 also	 recognizes,	 by	 way	 of	 the	 negotiation	 commenced	
officially,	Bolivia’s	fundamental	need	for	an	own	and	sovereign	access	to	the	
Pacific	Ocean,	 and	 President	 Gonzalez	Videla,	 our	 country’s	 noble	 friend,	
gave	 the	 problemconcerning	 Bolivia’s	 landlocked	 condition	 a	 continental	
projection	 by	 having	 submitted	 it	 for	 the	 consideration	 of	 the	 President	 of	
the	U.S.	Harry	Truman,	 requesting	him,	on	 the	other	hand,	 to	cooperate	 in	
obtaining	Peru’s	consent	–prescribed	under	the	1929	Treaty.	
 
  The personality of the Foreign Minister who signed the Chilean note 
must	also	be	underscored.	He	is	one	of	the	most	eminent	men	in	Chile	and	also	
head of the conservative party.
-----------        -----------

To	Mr.	Pedro	Zilveti	Arce,
Minister of Foreign Affairs and Worship, 
LA	PAZ.
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  It is true that this is just the first step in the negotiation, but if we 
bear in mind the position assumed in recent years –mainly since the question 
of the Pacific was regarded overcome– by certain Chilean public opinion 
sectors, who held that Bolivia had nothing to claim for and that Chile had 
nothing to give it, it is evident that the notes that have been exchanged by the 
Governments of Bolivia and Chile entail an important evolution as well as a 
historical precedent that no one will be able to rightfully deny. 

  In return for that, our country is taking a step that does not endanger it 
in any way, because the Bolivian note only makes a summary of the precedents, 
raises the problem of Bolivia’s landlocked condition and proposes to solve it by 
way of direct negotiations with Chile. 
 
  We will thereafter have to tackle the territorial aspects. The negotiation 
will be challenging and complex, but it will not be impossible to arrive at 
results if the spirit of faithful understanding that currently exists between the 
democratic Governments of Bolivia and Chile is preserved along with the 
bright and quick actions of that Foreign Ministry –which have been evidenced 
recently.
 
  As far as Peru is concerned, the rights the latter might assert by virtue 
of the 1929 Treaty have been preserved in the Chilean note and it will be the 
Chilean Foreign Ministry itself which will inform the Peruvian Government of 
the negotiations commenced with Bolivia, once the final results of the elections 
in that country are known, namely, after the coming 28 July. Meanwhile, the 
negotiations will remain confidential, as prescribed by the response note sent 
today itself.
 
  In accordance with the instructions you sent by cable, I did not insist 
in adding the words “direct” and “free” after the words “own access” into 
the Chilean response, because the former adjective entails requesting for a 
straight line –which would be geographically impossible– and the latter one 
would actually be tantamount to the word “sovereign”, which has already been 
consented to by the Chilean Foreign Minister. 
 
  I beg you to please let me know whether the original copy of the 
Chilean response will be kept in the archives of this Embassy or if it must be 
sent to that Foreign Ministry. 
 
  Taking advantage of this occasion to congratulate you, and through 
you, his Excellency the President of the Republic for the results obtained in 
this first stage of the port negotiations with Chile, I reiterate the assurances of 
my highest consideration. 

       [Signature]
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Nº 9.- 
CONFIDENTIAL.

Mr.	Ambassador:
  
   I have had the honor of receiving the note of Your Excellency 
dated	on	the	1st	of	the	current	month.	
 
   Your Excellency refers therein to the orientation of the 
international policy followed by Chile concerning the aspirations of Bolivia 
to	obtain	its	own	access	to	the	Pacific	Ocean	and	recalls	the	terms	of	the	Treaty	
and	the	Act,	signed,	although	not	ratified	by	the	Legislative	Powers,	on	18	May	
1895 and 10 January 1920, respectively. Likewise, Your Excellency recalls 
the	 statements	 uttered	 by	 the	Delegate	 of	 Chile	 to	 the	 League	 of	Nations,	
Mr. Agustin Edwards, in 1920; by the President of the Republic, Mr. Arturo 
Alessandri, two years later; and by the Minister of Foreign Affairs, Mr. Luis 
Izquierdo,	in	1923.	Your	Excellency	immediately	refers	to	the	answer	given	by	
Mr.	Jorge	Matte	to	the	proposal	of	the	Secretary	of	State	of	the	United	States	
of	America,	Mr.	Kellogg,	 in	 the	 sense	 that	Chile	 and	Peru	 cede	 to	Bolivia	
their	titles	and	rights	over	the	provinces	of	Tacna	and	Arica;	and	finally,	to	the	
good	willingness	 that,	Your	Excellency	and	 the	former	Minister	of	Foreign	
Affairs, Mr. Aniceto Solares, found in, the current President of the Republic of 
Chile,	His	Excellency,	Mr.	Gabriel	Gonzalez	Videla	to	consider	the	Bolivian	
aspirations. 
 
		 	 With	 these	precedents,	Your	Excellency	proposes	 to	me	that	
“the	Governments	of	Bolivia	and	Chile	formally	enter	into	a	direct	negotiation	
to	 satisfy	 the	 fundamental	need	of	Bolivia	 to	obtain	 its	own	and	sovereign	
access	 to	 the	 Pacific	 Ocean,	 thus	 solving	 the	 problem	 of	 the	 landlocked	
condition	of	Bolivia	on	bases	that	take	into	account	the	mutual	benefits	and	
true interests of both peoples.”
 
		 	 From	 the	 quotes	 contained	 in	 the	 note	 I	 answer,	 it	 follows	
that	the	Government	of	Chile,	together	with	safeguarding	the	legal	situation	
established by the Treaty of Peace of 1904, has been willing to study, through 
direct negotiations with Bolivia, the possibility of satisfying the aspirations of 
the	Government	of	Your	Excellency	and	the	interests	of	Chile.
 
   At the present opportunity, I have the honor of expressing to 
Your	Excellency	that	my	Government	will	be	consistent	with	that	position	and	
that,	motivated	by	a	fraternal	spirit	of	friendship	towards	Bolivia,	is	willing	
to	formally	enter	 into	a	direct	negotiation	aimed	at	searching	for	a	formula	
that	could	make	it	possible	to	give	Bolivia	its	own	and	sovereign	access	to	
the	Pacific	Ocean,	and	for	Chile	to	obtain	compensation	of	a	non-territorial	
character that effectively takes into account its interests.
 
		 	 I	am	fully	confident	that	in	this	way	our	respective	governments	
will	be	able	to	unite	more	tightly	the	destinies	of	our	two	Republics	and	give	
a	high	example	of	true	Americanist	spirit	in	the	Continent.
		 	 Finally,	I	have	to	add	that,	opportunely,	my	Government	will	
have	 to	 consult	 Peru,	 in	 compliance	with	 the	Treaties	 concluded	with	 that	
country.
 
		 	 I	reiterate	to	Your	Excellency	the	assurances	of	my	highest	and	
distinguished consideration.
    [Signature] Horacio Walker Larrain.
To His Excellency Mr. Alberto Ostria Gutierrez, 
Ambassador	of	Bolivia,
Hand delivered.



292



293

Annex 268

Note	from	the	Bolivian	Ambassador	to	Chile,	Alberto	Ostria	Gutierrez,	
to	the	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs	of	Bolivia,	Pedro	Zilveti	Arce,	

N°	646/433,	13	July	1950

 (Original in Spanish, English translation)

Archives of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Bolivia



294



295

EMBASSY	OF	BOLIVIA			 COPY 
	 	 	 	 	 Santiago,	13	July	1950.

CLASSIFIED.
Nº	646/433.

Subject:	Port	negotiations.
Annex:	Copy	of	a
note.	(Sent	via	diplomatic	bag)

  Mr. Minister, 

	 	 I	am	pleased	to	send,	via	diplomatic	bag,	a	copy	of	the	note	
addressed	to	the	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs	of	Chile,	commencing	
the	 first	 formal	 stage	 of	 the	 port	 negotiations,	 so	 it	 is	 carefully	
preserved	in	the	Department	of	International	Treaties,	together	with	
the response sent by the Chilean Foreign Minister, Mr. Horacio 
Walker Larraín. The original copy of the latter has already been 
sent	via	diplomatic	bag	together	with	my	Note	Nº	635/424,	on	the	
7th	of	this	month.	

	 	 I	reiterate	to	you	the	assurances	of	my	most	distinguished	
consideration.

 

     [Signature] 

To	Mr.	Pedro	Zilveti	Arce,
Minister of Foreign Affairs and Worship,
LA	PAZ.
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“Gonzalez	 Videla	 declares:	 All	 that	 has	 been	 agreed	 to	 is	 to	 initiate	
conversations	with	Bolivia;	Arica	will	always	remain	free”,	VEA (Chile), 

19 July 1950

(Original in Spanish, English translation)

VEA Magazine (Chile)
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GONZALEZ
VIDELA
Declares:
[Vea Magazine, 19 July 1950]

ALL THAT HAS BEEN AGREED TO IS TO INITIATE 
CONVERSATIONS WITH BOLIVIA; ARICA WILL ALWAYS 
REMAIN FREE

`
“The	Government	has	not	determined	anything	on	this	matter.	
I have never refused to hold conversations regarding Bolivia’s 
port aspiration”, added the President in this exclusive interview  
given	to	our	magazine.	
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[…]

–	We	have	requested	this	 interview	Your	Excellency	–we	
said–	 to	 have	firsthand	 information	on	 the	 news	 that	 our	
country has decided to give a port to our Bolivian brothers 
in the north…
The	President	replied	immediately:
–	 We	 must	 clarify	 things.	 The	 Government	 has	 not	
determined	anything	on	this	matter.	The	only	actual	fact	is	
that, consistently with the tradition of the Chilean Foreign 
Ministry,	and	ratifying	my	deep	Americanist	spirit,	I	have	
never refused to hold conversations regarding Bolivia’s 
port aspiration. That is what I stated in San Francisco, 
on	 behalf	 of	 the	 Chilean	Government,	 when	 I	 served	 as	
governmental	 delegate	 to	 that	 Conference.	 Upon	 taking	
office	 in	1946,	Bolivian	President	Hertzog,	 reminded	me	
of	 that	promise	and	 I,	 in	 accordance	with	 a	 rule	 that	has	
never been denied by the Foreign Ministry of the Republic, 
replied to the Bolivian Head of State that I agreed with 
initiate	 conversations	 on	 the	 proposed	matter.	That	 is	 all	
there is so far”. 

TWO IRREVOCABLE CONDITIONS

–	 It	 is	 my	 duty,	 indeed,	 to	 inform	 my	 people	 that	 the	
President	of	Chile	is	willing	to	initiate	the	aforementioned	
conversations under
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two	irrevocable	conditions:
1. That the referred conversations do not revolve around 
treaty revision, because, as far as that is concerned, we 
have no pending issues with Bolivia. The treaties entered 
into	 have	 already	 been	 complied	with	 throughout	 time	
and	 to	 present	 they	 are	 merely	 historical	 facts.	 Thus,	
there	is	no	room	for	revision	of	any	kind.	That	is	what	I	
stated	as	delegate	in	San	Francisco	and	all	Chileans	might	
recall	that	the	battle	against	revisionism	was	won	by	our	
Delegation	 in	 all	 its	 extent.	 The	 preamble	 of	 the	 UN	
Charter	 textually	 reads:	 ‘We,	 the	peoples	of	 the	United	
Nations,	 determined	 to	 ESTABLISH CONDITIONS 
UNDER WHICH JUSTICE AND RESPECT FOR 
THE OBLIGATIONS ARISING FROM TREATIES 
and	other	sources	of	International	Law	can	be	maintained’.	
–	 Thus	 –Mr.	 Gonzalez	 Videla	 continued–	 the	
conversations with Bolivia could not have other tenor 
than	 that	of	 amicable	and	 friendly	demarches	based	on	
compensations	for	Chile.
“2.	 The	 second	 main	 condition	 is	 that	 all	 possible	
exchanges	 that	 may	 derive	 from	 an	 assessment	 of	 the	
problem	 of	 Bolivia’s	 landlocked	 condition	 must	 have	
Peru’s prior consent, because that is what has been 
established	 by	 the	 Complementary	 Protocol	 to	 the	
Chilean-Peruvian	Treaty	signed	in	Lima	on	3	June	1929”.
“Finally, I hereby declare that, as President of the Republic, 
in	all	conversations	that	result	from	the	discussion	of	this	
matter,	 I	will	 avoid	 referring	 to	Arica’s	 port.	However,	
all	 that	has	been	said	 is	premature,	 inasmuch	as	we	do	
not	 know	 what	 propositions	 the	 Bolivian	 Government	
might	 make,	 which	 is	 the	 one	 that	 should	 initiate	 the	
conversations…
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TALKS WITH TRUMAN

–	However	–we	state–	you	have	talked	with	Truman	regarding	
this	matter…
–	We	have	addressed	it	incidentally.	And	for	an	obvious	reason.	
We	examined	the	Latin	American	scenario	in	all	its	extent	and	
when I addressed the issue of Bolivia’s aspiration, I insisted 
before the Head of State that we had no pending territorial 
questions with any of our bordering neighbors. Additionally, 
I	 told	 President	 Truman	 that,	 in	 regard	 to	 Bolivia’s	 port	
aspiration,	 I,	 consistently	 with	 my	 Americanist	 spirit	 and	
above all following the traditional rule of the Chilean Foreign 
Ministry, was willing to hold friendly conversations with the 
Bolivian	Government…
That is all there is so far. Anything that could be added is false. 
As	 you	may	 realize,	 the	most	 important	 aspect	 is	 missing,	
namely,	the	initiation	of	talks.	

INACCURATE INFORMATION 

–	 However	 –we	 add–	 information	 has	 been	 given	 by	 the	
press…
–	Indeed,	mention	has	been	made	to	a	strip	of	land	of	32	km,	
even though our strip to the north of Arica is barely of 10 
km.	The	rest	is	Peruvian	territory.	As	you	can	see,	there	are	
many	things	that	the	press	states	and	that	are	proven	false	by	
themselves.
Moreover,	 I	 referred	 to	 this	 question	 in	my	Message	 to	 the	
Congress of May this year. There is a paragraph, referring to 
the	visit	I	made	to	Mr.	Truman,	which	reads:	‘That	visit	results	
in	not	only	outcomes	of	positive	transcendence	in	the	relations	
of	 two	 nations	 that	 are	 guided	 by	 an	 identical	 democratic	
commitment	 and	 by	 similar	 republican	 institutions,	 BUT	
ALSO	IN	THE	STRENGTHENING	OF	OUR	RELATIONS	
WITH	OUR	BROTHER	COUNTRIES	OF	AMERICA”.
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Annex 270

“The	 Foreign	Minister	 asserts:	 ‘Chile	 is	willing	 to	 study	 the	Bolivian	
longing	on	basis	of	reciprocal	compensations’”,	VEA (Chile), 

19 July 1950

(Original in Spanish, English translation)

VEA Magazine (Chile)
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IMMEDIATELY after talking with the President of 
the	Republic,	we	were	 received	 in	 a	 special	meeting	
by the Minister of Foreign Affairs, Mr. Horacio Walker 
Larrain.	He	invited	us	to	take	a	seat	while	he	smoked	a	
cigarette.	This	is	the	same	person	who,	for	his	manhood	
and	talent,	now	sits	on	the	armchair	and	interacts	with	
us. 
–	The	President	 told	me	 that	 you	were	 coming,	 says	
Mr. Walker. 
–	That	is	true,	Minister,	we	wanted	to	know	from	the	
head	 of	 the	 Foreign	Ministry	more	 details	 regarding	
the news that, accurate or not, has spread around the 
Continent in a wave of expectation.
–	Well	 then,	 I	will	 reiterate	 something	 that	 the	Head	
of	 State	 has	 probably	 told	 you	 already	 –replied	
the	 Foreign	 Minister–	 There	 is	 nothing	 official	 or	
concrete on the alleged news that Chile will cede 
Bolivia a port in the north. I hereby declare that has 
been an invariable rule of the Foreign Ministry to 
declare that, even though it is true that we have 
no	 pending	 problem	 whatsoever	 with	 Bolivia,

THE FOREIGN MINISTER ASSERTS: “CHILE IS WILLING 
TO STUDY THE BOLIVIAN LONGING ON BASIS OF 

RECIPROCAL COMPENSATIONS”
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we are willing to hold friendly conversations regarding 
its	 port	 aspiration.	 These	 are	 not	 my	 words	 –adds	
Mr.	 Walker.	 These	 are	 the	 statements	 that	 all	 my	
predecessors	have	made,	 namely,	Mr.	Luis	 Izquierdo,	
Mr. Jorge Matte, President Alessandri and Mr. 

“WHAT HAS BEEN SAID concerning the 
port is an old issue. That was referred in a book 
of	more	than	20	years	old,	when	Tacna	was	still	
under	Chilean	Government	control.	There	was	
no	progress	since	then,	except	for	the	agreement	
to initiate conversations”, says Minister Walker.

Agustin	Edwards.	The	Chilean	thesis	has	been	more	or	
less	the	following:	‘Chile	does	not	accept	that	the	Bolivian	
aspiration	for	a	port	on	the	Pacific	should	be	taken	to
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International Congresses or Conferences, but Chile is will-
ing to study in direct and friendly negotiations with that 
country the possibility of satisfying its longings on basis of 
compensations	for	Chile’.
That has been the essence of the policy followed by our For-
eign	Ministry.	There	might	be	errors	in	the	textual	quotation,	
but	that	is	its	spirit.	–We	are	of	the	view	that	at	least	some	
progress	has	been	made	from	those	years	to	the	present–	we	
state.
–	Yes.	We	have	agreed	to	initiate	conversations.	But	nothing	
more.	Our	Foreign	Ministry	has	not	received	any	Bolivian	
proposal	on	the	matter.	Once	a	proposal	is	put	forward,	we	
will	study	it,	and	we	will	either	reject,	accept,	or	amend	it,	
etc. Nothing can be said of events that are to take place in 
the future. 
–	Mention	has	been	made,	however,	of	a	Bolivian	corridor	
to the north of Arica.
–	Yes,	but	that	is	being	referred	to	outside	this	office,	unof-
ficially.	 I	understand	 that	 this	mention	you	 refer	 to	comes	
from	a	study	carried	out	some	20	years	ago	by	engineer	Luis	
Lagarrigue.	But	as	you	probably	realized,	these	are	mere	ex-
ternal views. I believe there is even a book on irrigation of 
the north using Titicaca [Lake] waters. But that is not an of-
ficial	statement	of	the	Government.	
Excuse	me	if	I	insist	in	that	there	is	nothing	to	reveal	on	this	
matter.	Besides,	any	solution	we	might	try	in	the	future	with	
the	Government	of	La	Paz	 is	subject	 to	Peru’s	consent,	 to	
whom	we	are	bound	by	the	Treaty	of	1929.
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Annex 271

Statements	made	to	the	press	by	the	Ambassador	of	Bolivia	to	Santiago,		
Alberto	Ostria	Gutierrez,	30	August	1950	

(Original in Spanish, English translation)
 
Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Bolivia, Newsletter of the Ministry of 

Foreign	Affairs,	N°	22	(July	-	December	1950),	pp.	14	-	20
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[…]

STATEMENTS MADE TO THE PRESS BY THE 
AMBASSADOR OF BOLIVIA TO SANTIAGO,  ALBERTO 

OSTRIA GUTIERREZ

THE	TRUTH	REGARDING
THE PORT NEGOTIATIONS WITH CHILE

Precedents. – The notes signed by the Bolivian 
Ambassador	 and	 Chile’s	 Foreign	 Minister.	 –	 Conclusions.	

	 Bolivia,	 mutilated	 on	 four	 sides,	 receives	 an	 international	
compassion	 that	 is	 justified	by	 the	hardest	of	 experiences:	misfortune.
  
 That is why it is only natural thatunrest, concern, and 
even	 fear,	 all	 stimulated	 by	 fantasy,	 emerge	 in	 regard	 to	 the	
port	 issue	 –which	 is	 the	 most	 painful	 episode	 in	 the	 history	 of	
Bolivia	 and	 at	 the	 same	 time	 the	 most	 sacred	 of	 all	 its	 ideals.	

	 However,	 whether	 they	 are	 calm	 or	 vehement,	 the	
Bolivian voices that arise regarding the port issue deserve respect 
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–all	 the	more	if	 they	are	uttered	by	venerable	lips–	because	in	the	substance,	 they	
reproduce	a	burning	love	for	the	motherland.	

	 On	 the	 other	 hand,	 nevertheless,truth	must	 be	 said,	 clearly	 and	 in	 a	well-
informed	manner,	in	order	for	the	nation	to	weigh	[its	situation]	on	basis	of	truth	and	
not	on	rumors.	The	explanation	by	the	Bolivian	negotiator	in	Chile	below	responds	
to that end. 

PRECEDENTS

 Ever since Bolivia lost its coastal territory, as a result of having been 
defeated	in	the	war	of	1879,	it	has	tirelessly	claimed	for	an	own	and	sovereign	outlet	
to	 the	Pacific	Ocean.	That	 is	how	plenipotentiaries	Salinas	and	Boeto	approached	
this	 problem	when	negotiations	 for	 the	Truce	Pact	 of	 1884	 commenced	 and	how,	
unchangeably,	all	Bolivian	diplomatic	representatives	in	Chile	have	proceeded	since	
then	 to	 the	 present,	 in	 different	 terms	 and	 through	 different	 channels,	 but	 always	
preserving	the	same	ideal.		

 After the Treaty of 1904 was concluded, only three paths were open for Bolivia 
to	achieve	its	objective:	to	raise	the	question	before	international	organizations	and	
conferences, to revise that Treaty and to hold direct negotiations. 

	 Following	the	first	European	war,	which	resulted	in	the	triumph	of	law	over	
force,	the	illusion	of	international	justice	emerged,	as	in	the	whole	world,	in	Bolivia	
and,	interpreting	the	state	of	mind	of	the	whole	country,	the	Bolivian	Government	
raised	 the	 question	 of	 its	 maritime	 reintegration	 before	 the	 League	 of	 Nations.		
Thereafter,	 the	 Bolivian	 representatives	 to	 different	 Pan-American	 Conferences	
advocated	for	the	justice	of	our	cause.	However,	as	is	well-known,	no	concrete	result	
was	achieved	and	the	Bolivian	application	filed	in	[the]	Geneva	[Conference]	had	to	
be	withdrawn	on	21	September	1921.	As	long	as	there	was	no	international	justice	
court	of	compulsorycompetence	or	compulsory	arbitration	was	not	accepted	by	all	
nations	of	 the	world,	 little	could	be	expected	 in	 that	field.	The	first	path	was	 thus	
closed!

	 Two	 years	 later,	 in	 1923,	 the	 Bolivian	 Government	 proposed	 directly	 to	
the	Government	of	Chile	“the	revision	of	 the	Treaty	of	20	October	1904,	so	as	 to	
open	 the	 doors	 to	 a	 new	 international	 situation	 that	may	 allow	Bolivia	 to	 live	 in	
integral possession of its sovereignty, with an outlet of its own to the sea”. To this, 
the	Chilean	Government	responded,	“consistently	with	the	attitude	it	has	followed	on	
all occasions, Chile insists that it cannot accept, not even in principle, the revision of 
a	Treaty	that	had	been	freely	agreed	to	by	the	two	countries”	but	that,	“it	maintains		
maintains	the	purpose	of	hearing,	with	the	loftiest	spirit	of	conciliation	and	equity,
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the	proposals	 that	 the	Bolivian	Government	might	like	to	put	forward	to	conclude	
a	new	pact	that	takes	Bolivia’s	situation	into	account,	without	modifying	the	Peace	
Treaty and without interrupting the continuity of Chile’s territory”. Hence, the second 
path	was	closed	when,	on	12	February	that	year,	Bolivia’s	diplomatic	representative,	
Mr.	Ricardo	Jaimes	Freyre,	ended	his	 term.	On	top	of	 that,	on	3	June	1929,	Chile	
and	Peru	settled	the	Tacna-Arica	question,	i.e.	the	remaining	chapter	of	the	War	of	
the	Pacific,	and	gave	 this	matter,	which	was	 tripartite,	a	bipartite	solution,	angrily	
excluding	Bolivia’s	mediation.	

	 What	could	have	been	done	 in	such	a	situation?Was	resignation	and	doing	
nothing	what	was	left?	Or,	now	that	those	paths	have	been	closed,	was	trying	the	only	
path	left	and	that	had	not	yet	been	closed,	the	only	thing	left	to	be	done?	Undoubtedly,	
the	path	that	had	not	yet	been	followed	had	to	be	tried,	namely,	direct	negotiations,	
even if it was only for the nation to be aware of what to abide by in case it failed in 
them.	

	 That	 was,	 in	 precise	 terms,	 the	 policy	 followed	 by	 the	 Bolivian	 Foreign	
Ministry	after	 the	Chaco	War,	 and	 it	was	materialized	 in	a	Memorandum	 that	 the	
Ambassador	 to	 the	 United	 States,	 Luis	 Fernando	 Guachalla,	 submitted	 to	 U.S.	
Secretary	of	State,	Cordell	Hull,	on	15	September	1943,	so	that	he,	in	turn,	brought	it	
to the notice of Chile’s Foreign Minister, Joaquin Fernandez, who was in Washington. 
This	Memorandum	had	been	drafted	on	basis	of	statements	made	in	La	Paz	by	the	
Under-Secretary	of	Foreign	Affairs,	Mr.	Humberto	Palza,	in	the	following	terms:	

	 “…The	Government	 of	 the	United	States	 has	 been	 informed	 by	H.	E.	 the	
President of Bolivia, and his Minister of Foreign Affairs, on occasion of the talks 
held	at	the	White	House	this	past	5	May,	of	his	Government’s	criterion	with	regard	to	
Bolivia’s	landlocked	condition.	Such	criterion	can	be	summarized	as	follows:	

 1°- Bolivia, faithful to its tradition of respect for international pacts, does 
not	 disown	 the	 legality	 of	 the	 territorial	 dominion	 Chile	 exercises	 over	 the	
Pacific	coast	in	accordance	with	the	public	treaties	it	has	entered	into.
	 2°-	 However,	Bolivia	maintains	its	legitimate	aspirations	for	a	sovereign	
outlet	 to	 the	Pacific	Ocean	 through	 territory	owned	by	Chile	and	 it	 supports	
them	due	to		political,	financial	and	international	justice	related	reasons.
	 3°-	 Bolivia	 fosters	a	direct	understanding	with	Chile	on	basis	 that	 take	
into account both countries’ advantages and high interests and does not wish to 
disturb	continental	harmony	in	its	pursuit	for	a	sovereign	outlet	to	the	sea.	
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	 In	keeping	with	this	rationale,	conversations	were	held	with	the	Governments	
of	 President	 Aguirre	 Cerda	 and	 President	 Rios,	 and	 gained	 momentum	 when	
the	 member	 of	 the	 Government	 Junta	 and	 the	 Foreign	 Minister	 of	 Bolivia,	 Dr.	
AnicetoSolares, attended the presidential inauguration of President Gabriel Gonzalez 
Videla	and	proposed	to	him,	in	a	meeting	they	held	on	8	November	1946,	the	need	
for	resolving	 the	Bolivian	port	problem,	which	was	welcomed	with	frankness	and	
nobility. 

 This path of direct negotiations was then followed by President Hertzog and 
has	in	turn	been	followed	by	President	Urriolagoitia,	both	inspired	by	the	explicit	will	
of the Bolivian nation. 

	 Admittedly,	 during	 the	 presidential	 elections	 of	 5	 January	 1947,	 with	 no	
doubt the freest in the history of Bolivia, the two candidates incorporated in their 
Government	programs,	in	regard	to	international	affairs,	direct	negotiations	to	resolve	
the	port	problem.	“Policy	of	direct	understandings	as	a	means	to	solve	our	port	issue,	
allowing Bolivia to have its free access to the sea”, proposed Dr. Enrique Hertzog. 
“Maritime	 reintegration	 of	 the	 Republic,	 through	 peaceful	 channels	 and	 in	 direct	
dealings”, proposed for his part Mr. Luis Fernando Guachalla. 

 The Bolivian people divided its support between both candidates, resulting 
in	more	than	eighty	six	thousand	votes,	through	which	they	approved		those	mindful	
Government	programs.				

	 It	 could	 be	 said	 that	 the	 political	 sector	 that	 had	 just	 been	 overthrown	 by	
the	revolution	of	21	July	1946	was	excluded,	but	the	truth	is	that	the	regime	ousted	
had	 already	 pronounced	 itself	 in	 the	 same	 favorable	 sense	 with	 regard	 to	 direct	
negotiations	when,	in	instructions	sent	to	the	Bolivian	Embassy	in	Chile,	during	the	
mandate	of	Lieutenant-Colonel	Villarroel,	the	Chancellery	stated,	on	24	December	
1944,	that	“there	is	no	other	path	than	arriving	to	a	direct	arrangement	with	Chile	as	
a	means	to	seek	a	short-term	solution	to	the	port	question”.	

	 The	unanimity	of	 the	nationhad	 thus	been	made	manifest	–in	 the	way	 that	
is	done	in	any	democracy,	that	is,	by	means	of	the	formulations	of	political	parties	
and the votes of the citizens in favor of direct negotiations with Chile. Therefore, 
after	that	policy,	following	5	January	1947,	the	constitutional	Government	of	Bolivia	
faithfully	interpreted	the	will	of	the	people,	which	is	an	indispensable	requirement	for	
any	legitimate	international	policy.
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PRELIMINARY RESULT

	 Naturally,	proceeding	in	an	orderly	manner,	the	first	thing	that	had	to	be	done	
was	 to	 formalize	 the	 direct	 negotiation;	 i.e.	 that	Bolivia	 proposed	Chile	 the	 need	
to	resolve,	 through	a	friendly	understanding,	 its	fundamental	need	for	an	own	and	
sovereign	outlet	to	the	Pacific	Ocean.		
	 On	 the	 other	 hand,	 it	 was	 essential	 that	 the	 Government	 of	 Chile	 accept	
to	 formalize	 that	 direct	 negotiation	 intended	 to	 resolve	 the	 problem	 of	 Bolivia’s	
landlocked condition. 
 That is what was done and what was obtained with the exchange of Notes 
between	the	Governments	of	Bolivia	and	Chile	in	June	this	year.	These	Notes	had	not	
been	published	earlier	because	both	Governments	had	agreed	not	to	do	so	unless	they	
agreed	otherwise	–which	happened	in	the	eve	of	my	departure	to	Santiago.	Their	text	
is	being	published	today	in	a	communique	of	the	Ministry	of	Foreign	Affairs.	

THE IMPORTANCE OF THOSE NOTES

	 The	importance	of	those	Notes	flows	from	their	own	text	and	can	be	easily	
synthesized	 from	 their	 main	 paragraphs,	 namely:	 1)	 in	 the	 Bolivian	 Note,	 by	
proposing:	“that	the	Governments	of	Bolivia	and	Chile	formally	enter	into	a	direct	
negotiation	to	satisfy	the	fundamental	need	of	Bolivia	to	obtain	its	own	and	sovereign	
access	to	the	Pacific	Ocean”; 2) in the Chilean Note, by accepting to “formally	enter	
into	a	direct	negotiation	aimed	at	searching	for	a	formula	that	could	make	it	possible	
to	give	Bolivia	its	own	and	sovereign	access	to	the	Pacific	Ocean”. 
	 Also,	 two	 fundamental	 aspects	 must	 be	 emphasized	 with	 regard	 to	 this	
preliminary	agreement:	a)	the	express	exclusion	of	territorial	compensations	by	Bolivia	
made	in	the	Chilean	Note;	b)	the	placing	on	record	that	the	Chilean	Government	will	
in	 due	 course	 “consult	 Peru,	 in	 compliance	with	 the	Treaties	 concluded	with	 that	
country”. 

NOTHING ELSE HAS BEEN AGREED TO 

	 That	is	all	that	has	agreed	to	between	Bolivia	and	Chile.	Nothing	more	than	
what	those	Notes	record.	And	whatever	that	is	imagined,	told,	or	spread	by	the	press,	
writers	or	commentators,	detracting	from	these	documents,	is	untrue.
 That is why the Minister of Foreign Affairs, Mr. Horacio Walker Larrain, 
when	referring	to	the	publication	made	by	a	magazine	from	Santiago	–which	gave	
rise	to	the	most	varied	
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commentaries–	rightly	ratified	the	official	statement	that	the	Chilean	Government	“is	
willing to enter into conversations with Bolivia to discuss the Bolivian port issue”, 
but also noted conclusively that the “publication alluded to involves and details the 
bases	for	an	agreement	that	have	not	been	formulated	and	which,	as	a	result,	could	
not has been discussed”. 

	 Naturally,	in	the	course	of	the	past	three	years,	some	aspects	of	the	fundamental	
problem	affecting	our	country	have	been	considered	and	ideas	have	been	exchanged	
between	the	Governments	of	Bolivia	and	Chile.	What’s	more,	the	President	of	Chile	
himself,	Mr.	Gabriel	Gonzalez	Videla,	has	analyzed	 together	with	 the	President	of	
the	United	States,	Mr.	Harry	Truman,	the	Bolivian	port	issue,	which	is	of	continental	
transcendence.	But,	 asides	 from	 the	Notes	 signed,	not	 a	 single	additional	 step	has	
been	taken	by	the	two	Governments.	

CONCLUSIONS 
 

1.-	 The	 Governments	 of	 Bolivia	 and	 Chile	 have	 only	 entered	 into	 a	
preliminary	stage,	 formalizing	 the	direct	negotiations	 to	resolve	 the	Bolivian	
port	problem.	

2.-	 No	territorial	agreement	to	resolve	that	problem	has	been	reached,	but	
any	compensation	of	 that	nature	by	Bolivia,	which	reached	the	maximum	of	
sacrifices	by	ceding	its	coastal	territory	after	being	defeated	in	the	War	of	the	
Pacific,	has	been	excluded	in	anticipation.	

3.-	 Nothing,	 absolutely	 nothing	 has	 been	 agreed	 to	 with	 regard	 to	 the	
Bolivian	lakes	and	hence	not	a	single	drop	of	water	has	been	committed	in	any	
arrangement.	

4.-	 Any	solution	that	might	be	reached	with	regard	to	the	Bolivian	port	
problem,	leading	the	Parties	into	the	territorial	stage,	will	have	to	be	based	on	a	
faithful	understanding	among	Bolivia,	Chile	and	Peru,	considering	particularly	
that	these	two	latter	–and	not	Bolivia–	are	bound	by	the	Complementary	Protocol	
of	3	June	1929,	in	which	they	resolved	that	“none	of	the	Parties,	without	a	prior	
agreement	between	them,	shall	cede	to	a	third	Party	the	entirety	or	part	of	the	
territories that fall under their respective sovereignties”. 

FORWARD-LOOKING APPROACH

	 Now	that	this	explanation	has	been	made,	I	believe	the	Bolivian	people	ought	
to	place	the	state	of	affairs	in	the	field	of	reality:	to	neither	attack	Chile,
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	because	the	latter	officially	accepts	to	seek	a	“formula	that	could	make	it	possible	to	
give	Bolivia	its	own	and	sovereign	access	to	the	Pacific	Ocean”, entering in this way 
into	a	field	of	understanding	and	justice,	nor	approach	Peru,	as	had	been	done	in	
the	year	[18]80,	overlooking	three	historical	facts	that	occurred	after	that	time,	
i.e. the Ancon Treaty (by which, with Peru’s cession of Tarapaca Province, the 
loss	of	Bolivia’s	coastal	territory	became	unavoidable,	for	it	placed	the	Bolivian	
littoral to the south of that province and gave Chile’s territory an indivisible 
territorial	continuity),	 the	rejection	of	Kellogg’s	proposal	 to	cede	Tacna	and	
Arica to Bolivia (proposal which had in principle been accepted by Chile) and 
the	Peruvian-Chilean	Treaty	of	1929,	together	with	its	ComplementaryProtocol.	
 
	 Instead	of	placing	 themselves	 in	 the	past	only,	 I	am	of	 the	view	 that	
the	 three	 brother	 countries	 must	 understand	 each	 other	 with	 a	 forward-
looking	 approach,	 seeking	 to	 complement	 one	 another,	 “not	 in	 the	 sense	
of	 political	 unity	 –as	 advised	 by	 Mr.	 Daniel	 Sanchez	 Bustamante–	 but	
in	 the	 sense	 of	 effort,	 commercial	 cooperation	 and	 dedicated	 assistance,	
building	 in	 this	 great	 part	 of	 the	 world,	 which	 stretches	 from	 Tumbes	
to	 the	Magellan,	 and	 from	Madera	 and	Paraguay	 to	 the	 Pacific,	 one	 of	 the	
most	 active	 and	 formidable	 poles	 of	 production,	 industry	 and	 wealth”.											
 
	 Also,	I	believe	an	outrageous	injustice	is	being	committed	in	the	internal	
order	when	it	is	assumed	that	the	constitutional	Government	of	Bolivia	could	be	
capable	of	using	the	port	problem	of	the	republic	for	internal	politics	purposes.	
I	do	not	see	such	iniquity	in	any	of	the	Governments	of	my	Motherland	and	not	
even	the	Government	to	which	I	opposed	the	most	–that	of	Lieutenant-Colonel	
Villarroel–	could	have	had	such	an	ill	view.	On	the	contrary,	had	the	situation	
arisen,	 I	would	have	 faithfully	 reached	out	 to	 him,	 for	 the	 sake	of	Bolivia.										
 
	 This	 generation	 has	 a	 duty:	 to	 try	 resolve	 the	 fundamental	 problem	
affecting	 our	 country	 in	 an	 atmosphere	 of	 peace	 and	 proper	 understanding	
with	its	neighbors.	It	cannot	limit	itself	to	stand	idle	and	wait,	overconfident	
of	Bolivia’s	progress	–which	has	been	hindered	precisely	by	 its	 landlocked	
condition–	 and	 forgetting	 that	 other	 countries	 are	 progressing	 at	 the	 same	
or at a faster pace. Great solutions in history are not the result of inaction, 
but of the will of nations directed towards an ideal. And that ideal, the port 
ideal,	 will	 remain	 for	 as	 long	 as	 the	 nation	 is	 alive	 if	 it	 is	 not	 ever	 met.
 
	 La	Paz,	30	August	1950
     (Signed by) Alberto Ostria Gutierrez.   
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Note	from	the	British	Embassy	in	La	Paz	to	the	American	Department	of	
the	Foreign	Office,	1	September	1950	

(Original in English, English transcription)

Archives	of	the	Foreign	&	Commonwealth	Office	of	the	United	King-
dom	of	Great	Britain	and	Northern	Ireland
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AIRMAIL
       BRITISH EMBASSY 
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 LA	PAZ.

REF:	8/42/50. 

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 										lst.	September,	1950.

Dear	Department,

	 With	reference	to	the	Ambassador's	dispatch	No.	100	of	16th	August,	
we	write	 to	 inform	you	 that	 the	 text	of	 an	exchange	of	notes	between	
the	Chilean	Government	and	the	Bolivian	Ambassador	in	Santiago	was	
published	in	the	Bolivian	press	on	the	31st	August,	which	contains	the	
formal	 agreement	 of	 the	 former	 to	 enter	 into	 direct	 negotiations	 with	
Bolivia	to	find	a	means	of	satisfying	Bolivia's	“Pacific”	aspirations.

	 2.	 We	imagine	that	the	Chancery	at	Santiago	will	communicate	
the	text	of	these	two	documents	to	you,	since	they	were	to	be	published	
there	on	the	31st	August,	according	to	Bolivian	reports.	The	only	point	
of interest in the Chilean Note, other than the undertaking reported in 
paragraph	one	above,	is	their	statement	that	Chile	intends	to	consult	Peru	
in	the	matter,	as	obliged	under	the	respective	treaties.

	 3.	 We	 are	 copying	 this	 letter	 to	 Lima,	 Santiago	 and	Buenos	
Aires.

         Yours ever, 
         CHANCERY.

 
American	Department,
FOREIGN OFFICE 
LONDON S.W.1.

P.S. The Notes exchanged bear the dates of
1st and 20th June this year respectively.
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Annex 273

Note from the Chargé d’Affaires of Bolivia to Chile, Jorge de 
la Barra, to the Minister of Foreign Affairs of Bolivia, Pedro 

Zilveti Arce, N° 832/505, 4 September 1950

(Original in Spanish, English translation)

Archives of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Bolivia
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EMBASSY OF BOLIVIA      
COPY 	 	 	 	 	 	 	Santiago,	4	September	1950	
Nº	832/505
Subject:	Port	negotiations
Annexes:	News	clippings	(sent	by	plane).			

 Distinguished Minister,
 
	 At	 5:35	 pm,	 past	 30	August,	 I	 received	 your	 cablegram	Nº	 124,	which	 is	
drafted	in	the	following	terms:	

“124.	–	As	had	been	agreed	upon	with	the	Chilean	Foreign	Minister,	the	notes	that	we	will	
submit	tonight	at	7:00	pm	will	be	published	tomorrow,	Thursday	the	31st.	Inform	the	Foreign	
Ministry	urgently.	(Signed	by)	Zilveti	Arce”.	

	 Immediately	 thereafter,	 I	met	with	 the	Under-Secretary	of	Foreign	Affairs,	
Mr.	Manuel	Trucco,	who	told	me	that	“due	to	the	lack	of	time”	it	was	not	possible	to	
publish	the	notes	at	that	moment	and	he	urged	me	to	immediately	send	a	cable	to	the	
Bolivian Foreign Ministry to delay publication for a day. 
	 As	a	result,	at	6:00	pm	that	day,	I	sent	you	the	following	telegram:	

“213.	Yours	 124.	The	Foreign	Ministry	 requests	 that	 submission	 be	 carried	 out	 tomorrow	
Thursday	31st	at	the	same	time,	instead	of	tonight,	owing	to	the	unfeasibility	of	doing	it	today.	
I	am	waiting	for	your	immediate	response.	(Signed	by)		Bolivian	Embassy”.	

 Since I did not receive a response, at night, I tried talk with Mr. Trucco to 
inform	him	of	this.	I	was,	however,	unable	to	do	so.	
	 Meanwhile,	on	that	same	day	at	9:30	pm	Mr.	Gaston	Wilson,	official	of	the	
Chilean	 Foreign	Ministry,	 gave	Mr.	 Jose	Maza,	 Chairman	 of	 the	 Foreign	Affairs	
Commission,	 a	 note	 sent	 by	 Minister	 Walker,	 along	 with	 a	 copy	 of	 the	 Notes	
exchanged	past	June	by	the	Bolivian	Ambassador,	Alberto	Ostria	Gutierrez,	and	the	
Foreign Minister of Chile.
	 In	his	note,	with	regard	to	said	Notes,	Mr.	Walker	Larrain	told	Mr.	Maza:	

“My	desire	and	the	interest	of	the	Government	were	to	inform	that	Honorable	Commission	
of	 the	documents	referred	 to,	 inasmuch	as	 they	corroborated	and	confirmed	the	statements	
made	by	the	undersigned	to	the	effect	that	the	initiative	to	commence	demarches	had	come	
from	La	Paz,	and	that	the	Government	of	Chile	had	limited	itself	to	express,	in	conformity	
with the tradition of our Foreign Ministry, its good willingness to enter into conversations 
with	the	Government	of	Bolivia.	It	was	not	possible,	however,	to	proceed	in	that	way	because	
there	was	a	commitment	to	keep	communications	in	secret	until,	by	common	agreement,	both	
Governments	resolved	to	publish	them”.				

To	Mr.	Pedro	Zilveti	Arce,	
Minister of Foreign Affairs and Worship,
La Paz, Bolivia.
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	 The	 next	 day,	Thursday	 the	 31st,	 the	 newspapers	 of	 Santiago	 published	 a	
lengthy	synthesis	of	the	statements	uttered	in	La	Paz	by	Ambassador	Ostria,	which	
referred	to	the	essence	of	the	Notes	exchanged	by	the	two	Governments.	
	 At	12:00,	the	Foreign	Ministry	handed	over	to	the	press	the	text	of	the	note	
sent	by	Minister	Walker	to	the	Chairman	of	the	Foreign	Affairs	Commission	of	the	
Senate, with the corresponding annexes, which were published by the evening papers. 
	 At	the	same	time,	Mr.	Walker	made	a	public	statement	in	which	he	indicated:	

“The	Notes	I	exchanged	with	the	Bolivian	Ambassador	past	June	confirm	in	their	entirety	the	
statements	I	made	before	the	Senate’s	Foreign	Affairs	Commission,	the	Chamber	of	Deputies	
and to the press. 
Different	 personalities	 had	 then	 affirmed	 with	 insistence	 that	 the	 initiative	 of	 opening	
negotiations	with	Bolivia	had	come	from	our	Foreign	Ministry.		
For	my	part,	I	held	exactly	the	opposite,	but	I	was	unable	to	give	proof	of	my	contention	with	
the	support	of	the	documents	that	are	now	being	published,	because	there	was	a	commitment	
not	to	do	so	until	an	agreement	in	that	sense	were	reached	by	both	Governments,	agreement	
which	had	just	been	arrived	to.	By	virtue	of	this	agreement,	the	Notes	will	simultaneously	
appear	in	Santiago	and	La	Paz.	From	them	it	follows	that,	as	I	have	repeatedly	stated	to	the	
press, Chile expresses its consistency with its traditional policy and that, as a result, it is willing 
to	enter	into	a	direct	negotiation	aimed	at	seeking	the	formula	that	may	make	it	possible	to	
give	Bolivia	an	outlet	to	the	Pacific	Ocean	and	that	allows	Chile	to	obtain	“compensations”	
that are not territorial in nature and that effectively take into account its interests”. 

 
 After that, the Minister verbally expressed to the news editors his 
dissatisfaction over the way in which “El Diario Ilustrado” newspaper had presented 
the	 information	 related	 to	 the	 statements	made	 by	Ambassador	Ostria	 in	 La	 Paz.	
According to “El Imparcial” newspaper, the Foreign Minister expressed his regret 
over	the	above	mentioned	newspaper,	because	it	“demonstrated	once	again	how	that	
entity	overlooked	 the	 elemental	notions	of	 journalism	ethics	 in	 its	 systematic	 and	
often slanderous attacks against the person now speaking”. 
 “With such a way of acting, the essence of the Christian spirit that guided 
the	 founders	 of	 that	 newspaper	 is	 detracted	 from.	 In	 fact,	 one	 needs	 only	 to	 read	
the	information	presented	by	“El Diario Ilustrado” to see that the heading itself is 
absolutely	dishonest,	for	nowhere	is	there	mention	to	me	giving	a	port	to	Bolivia,	but	
rather that, in keeping with the traditional policy of the Chilean Foreign Ministry, 
the	 latter	 is	willing,	 once	more,	 to	 study	 some	 formula	 that,	 under advantageous 
compensations	for	Chile,	make	it	possible	to	satisfy	the	brother	country’s	aspiration	
for	an	own	outlet	to	the	Pacific	Ocean”.	
“I would not like to think that the attitude of “El Diario Ilustrado”	has	something	to	
do	with	the	news	published	in	the	press	in	the	sense	that	my	party	has	proclaimed	my	
candidacy for the Senate for Santiago”.
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	 For	my	part,	I	visited	the	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs	to	inform	him	of	the	notice	
brought	the	day	before	to	Under-Secretary	Trucco	with	regard	to	the	publication	of	
the	notes.	The	Minister,	who	received	me	with	no	delay,	said	he	completely	agreed	
with	the	attitude	assumed	by	Bolivia,	which	abided	by	what	had	been	agreed	upon	
between	Ambassador	Ostria	and	himself.	From	what	he	said	I	assumed,	at	the	same	
time,	that	his	instructions	regarding	the	most	expedient	submission	of	the	notes	to	the	
diplomatic	Commission	of	the	Senate	had	not	been	complied	with.	
	 In	this	way,	I	made	it	clear	to	the	Minister	that	the	fact	that	the	Notes	had	not	
been	simultaneously	published	was	the	fault	of	neither	the	Bolivian	Foreign	Ministry,	
nor	this	Embassy.	
	 In	the	afternoon	of	Thursday	the	31st,	at	5:00	pm,	the	Commission	chaired	
by	 Senator	Maza	was	 called	 to	 take	 knowledge	 of	 the	 communication	 issued	 by	
the	Foreign	Minister.	Mr.	Maza	informed	of	the	development	of	this	meeting	in	his	
response note to Foreign Minister Walker, note which records the way in which the 
Notes	exchanged	between	the	Governments	of	Bolivia	and	Chile	were	submitted	and	
the	confidential	nature	of	the	call	made	to	the	members	of	the	Commission.	

	 “I	 was	 perplex	 to	 be	 informed	 –said	Mr.	Maza	 in	 his	 note–	 this	 morning,	 after	 the	
respective	call	had	been	made,	that	the	press	was	reporting	on	a	statement	made	in	La	Paz	by	
Ambassador	Ostria	Gutierrez,	who	is	on	a	leave	in	his	country,	which	contains	details	on	the	
essence of the exchange of Notes referred to.    
	 “Thereafter,	while	the	Foreign	Affairs	Commission	met,	in	a	secret	session,	at	5	pm	today	
to	take	notice	of	Your	Excellency’s	confidential	document,	one	of	the	attending	Senators	said	
that	an	evening	newspaper	was	publishing	the	entirety	of	that	document	and	the	Notes	which	
it deals with”.
	 “In	these	circumstances,	the	Commission,	by	unanimity	of	its	members,	namely,	Honorable	
Senators	Ulises	Correa,	Angel	Faivovich,	Sergio	Fernandez,	Raul	Marin	and	the	undersigned,	
agreed	that	I	should	approach	Your	Excellency	to	inform	him	of	the	dissatisfaction	that	this	
situation	had	produced,	as	well	as	of	the	fact	 that	 the	Minister,	 in	statements	he	had	made	
during	the	Commission’s	secret	sessions	held	on	25	July	and	1	August	this	year,	had	said	that	
no	official	communication	had	been	exchanged	with	the	Government	of	Bolivia	–however,	
as	a	matter	of	fact	the	Notes	Your	Excellency	has	just	brought	to	my	notice	had	already	been	
exchanged on 1 and 20 June”.
	 “Also,	I	am	complying	with	my	duty	by	informing	you	that	the	Commission	has	decided	
to	bring	to	the	notice	of	the	Honorable	Senate	the	original	copy	of	your	confidential	Note	of	
the	30th	of	this	month,	the	copies	of	the	notes	exchanged	between	the	Bolivian	Ambassador	
and	Your	Excellency,	and	the	original	copy	of	the	minutes	of	the	Commission’s	secret	sessions	
in which this question was discussed. God bless Your Excellency. (Signed by) Jose Maza, 
Chairman.	Enrique	Ortuzar	Escobar,	Secretary.	”
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 At	 the	 same	 time,	Senator	Maza	 sent	 a	 copy	of	 the	precedents	 referred	 to	
(which are quoted in the last paragraph of his note) to the Senate “in order for a 
convenient	decision	to	be	made”.
 In this way, the path has been opened to present a “constitutional accusation” 
against	Minister	Walker	Larrain,	which	 is	what	 the	parliamentarians	of	 the	 liberal	
party,	 to	 which	Maza	 belongs,	 are	 determined	 to	make.	 In	 fact,	 Deputy	Osvaldo	
Garcia Burr has stated to the press that he is collecting the ten signatures necessary to 
give	place	to	the	corresponding	parliamentarian	debate.	Said	accusation	is	based	on	
the fact that Foreign Minister Walker Larrain had denied, before the Senate’s Foreign 
Affairs	Commissions	and	the	Chamber	of	Deputies,	the	existence	of	the	Notes	signed	
by	the	two	Governments	“by	virtue	of	which	Chile	would	cede	part	of	its	national	
territory	to	Bolivia,	without	requesting	territorial	compensations	in	return”,	as	Deputy	
Garcia Burr has put it.
	 Said	accusation	responds	to	questions	of	internal	policy,	inasmuch	as	it	had	
been	announced	that	to	fill	the	Senate	seat	for	Santiago,	which	has	been	vacated	due	
to	Mr.	Arturo	Alessandri’s	death,	Mr.	Walker	would	be	the	Government’s	candidate,	
with the votes of the conservative (social-Christian) party to which he belongs and 
those of the radical party. 
	 In	 regard	 to	 the	 above,	 I	 have	 been	 informed	 by	 reliable	 sources	 that	 the	
Government	has	desisted	from	promoting	Mr.	Walker’s	candidacy,	owing	to	the	fact	
that the opposition parties would use it to, on this occasion, propose a plebiscite to 
define	the	international	policy	of	the	Government,	submitting	to	the	assessment	of	
voters	the	port	negotiations	held	with	Bolivia,	non-recognition	of	the	Governments	of	
Spain	and	Venezuela	and	the	attitude	assumed	by	this	Government	vis-à-vis	Argentina.	
This	proposal	seems	too	dangerous	in	the	higher	echelons	of	the	Government,	who	
desire that Mr. Walker Larrain continues serving as Foreign Affairs Minister to pursuit 
the port negotiations with Bolivia. 
	 In	reality,	the	call	for	elections	has	not	been	made	and	the	fate	of	Mr.	Walker	
Larrain’s	candidacy	is	bound	to	the	course	of	the	parliamentarian	accusation	referred	
to. 
 To clarify this situation, the Minister of Foreign Affairs has sent a response to 
Senator	Maza,	explaining:

	 “Santiago.	 1	September	1950.	Distinguished	Chairman:	 I	 have	 received	 the	note	you	
sent	yesterday,	responding	to	the	one	I	had	sent	the	day	before,	the	objective	of	which	was	to	
submit	to	the	Commission	you	chair	copies	of	the	Notes	exchanged	between	His	Excellency	
the	Bolivian	Ambassador	and	the	undersigned	past	June.	
	 Your	Excellency	puts	forward	different	observations	made	on	basis	of	the	circumstance	
that,	although	my	note	was	labelled	“confidential”,	the	notes	that	had	led	to	its	drafting	had	
been published the next day.
	 As	a	matter	of	fact	there	was	no	reason	to	make	the	indication	that	it	was	confidential,	
which	was	unnoticed	when	I	signed	it,	given	that	from	the	note	itself	it	follows	that	it	was	
a	transcription	of	communications	that	had	ceased	to	be	secret	because	the	Governments	of	
Bolivia	and	Chile	had	agreed	to	“publish	them”.	
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	 “The	 fact	 that	 an	 indication	of	 their	nature	 is	 inserted	 in	 any	document	coming	 from	
confidential	archives,	due	to	office	standards,	clearly	explains	what	happened.	
	 “You	 have	 also	 expressed	 the	 Commission’s	 dissatisfaction	 over	 the	 fact	 that	 the	
undersigned	had	told	the	Commission	that	no	communication	had	been	exchanged	with	the	
Government	of	Bolivia	when,	 however,	 the	notes	 I	 have	had	published	had	 actually	been	
exchanged	 already.	This	 seems	 to	 have	 been	 recorded	 in	 the	minutes	 of	 the	Commission	
which, according to Your Excellency, had agreed to put this event to the notice of the 
Honorable Senate. 
	 “In	view	of	 this	 information	 I	 requested	 the	Secretary	of	 the	Commission	of	Foreign	
Affairs	to	show	me	said	minutes.	He	responded	that	they	were	not	in	the	Secretariat	and	that	it	
is	likely	that	you	have	them.	He	then	told	me	to	request	them	to	you	and	I	was	thereafter	told	
that	you	had	said	that	Senator	Sergio	Fernandez,	who	was	not	in	Santiago,	had	them.	
	 “It	 is	 common-ground	 that	 minutes	 of	 the	 sessions	 are	 not	 drafted	 in	 the	 Senate	
Commissions.	If,	in	this	particular	case,	the	intention	was	to	make	an	exception,	then	it	would	
have	been	compulsory	that	the	Commission	approved	them,	which	it	did	not	do,	and	brought	
them	to	my	notice,	in	compliance	with	an	elemental	duty.	But	I	do	not	need	to	see	the	so-
called	minutes	that	have	not	been	shown	to	me	to	reject	energetically	the	accusation	made	
against	me	 in	 the	note	 I	 am	hereby	 replying	 to.	 I	 have	never	denied	 the	 existence	of	 any	
document.	
	 “In	the	press	and	in	both	Chambers’	Commissions,	I	informed	and	reiterated	that	I	had	
accepted to open negotiations with Bolivia, which is precisely what the notes that have been 
published	 record.	With	similar	emphasis	 I	declared	 that	no	proposal,	be	verbal	or	written,	
had	been	put	forward	by	the	Government	of	Bolivia	on	the	substance	of	the	matter,	which	is	
consistent	with	the	statements	made	in	La	Paz	by	Ambassador	Ostria	Gutierrez.	
	 “The	main	accusation	that	was	made	against	me	in	public	and	privately	was	to	the	effect	
that	the	Government	of	Chile	had	taken	the	initiative	to	open	negotiations.	I	would	not	have	
found any other suitable proof to refute such accusation than to publish the notes exchanged. 
I	 did	 not	 do	 it,	 however,	 because	 a	 duty	 prevented	 me	 from	 doing	 so:	 the	 commitment	
undertaken	by	 the	 two	Foreign	Ministries	 not	 to	 publish	 these	 documents	without	 a	 prior	
mutual	agreement	to	that	end.
	 “Thus,	I	kept	my	word	even	though	my	personal	advantages	suggested	the	opposite.	My	
conscience	tells	me	I	could	not	have	acted	otherwise”.

 For his part, Senator Maza has declared to the press, in relation to the above note of 
the	Foreign	Minister:	

	 “It	 is	 not	 customary	 that	 Commissions	 draft	 minutes,	 because	 these	 are	 replaced	 by	
reports;	 but	 since	 no	 report	would	 be	 prepared	 in	 this	 case	 and	 the	matter	was	 of	 utmost	
interest,	I	requested	the	secretary	to	produce	minutes	for	the	sessions	that	had	been	held	by	
the	Commission.	These	minutes	were	drafted	by	him	and	signed	by	me”.	
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	 “The	Minister	gives	 exclusive	 importance	 to	 the	 fact	 that	 the	
initiative	came	from	Bolivia,	as	he	has	always	contended.	In	due	
course,	who	 the	 initiative	came	 from	will	be	established	 in	clear	
terms,	 when	 a	 meticulous	 examination	 of	 all	 the	 precedents	 is	
made,	because	the	date	of	a	note	is	not	conclusive	evidence	of	any	
initiative”. 
 “But this has not been the substance of the debate, but rather 
the existence of negotiations that have been revealed now with the 
publication	of	 the	Notes	 that	had	been	 signed	months	before	 the	
first	session	of	the	Commission”.			
	 “The	Minister’s	conscience	is	clear	because	he	complied	with	
the	 commitment	 undertaken	 between	 the	 two	 Foreign	Ministries	
to	the	effect	of	not	publishing	these	documents	without	a	prior	and	
mutual	agreement	to	that	end.	However,	preceding	Senate	reports	
have	established	that	nothing	must	be	concealed	and	in	the	times	
when the Senate had a regulatory power, it adopted votes of censure 
that	caused	ministerial	crises.”			

 
 By sending you, Distinguished Minister, the corresponding news-
paper	clippings	and	begging	you	to	transmit	this	information	to	His	Ex-
cellency the President of the Republic, I reiterate to you the assurances 
of	my	loftiest	and	most	distinguished	consideration.	

   

      [Signature]
	 	 	 [Affixed	with	the	seal	of	the	Acting	Chargé	d’Affaires]				
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“La Nacion”		Newspaper,	2	September	1950
I have never denied any document”, assures the Foreign Minister 

																																																																		[Newspaper	clipping	attached	to	Note	Nº	832/505]
 The Minister of Foreign Affairs, Mr. Horacio Walker Larrain, responded yesterday to the 
Chairman	of	 the	Foreign	Affairs	Commission	of	 the	Senate,	 Jose	Maza,	 stating	 that	“I	have	never	
denied	the	existence	of	any	document”.	Mr.	Walker,	“rejects	energetically”	the	accusation	made	by	
that	Commission	in	the	sense	that	he	had	declared	to	it	“that	no	communication	had	been	exchanged	
with	 the	Government	of	Bolivia	when,	however,	 the	notes	 I	have	had	published	had	actually	been	
exchanged already”.
	 Foreign	Minister	Walker’s	note	to	Senator	Maza	reads	verbatim:	
	 Distinguished	Chairman:	I	have	received	the	note	you	sent	yesterday,	responding	to	the	one	
I	had	sent	the	day	before,	the	objective	of	which	was	to	submit	to	the	Commission	you	chair	copies	of	
the	notes	exchanged	between	His	Excellency	the	Bolivian	Ambassador	and	the	undersigned	past	June.	
Your	Excellency	puts	forward	different	observations	made	on	basis	of	the	circumstance	that,	although	
my	note	was	labelled	“confidential”,	the	notes	that	had	led	to	its	drafting	had	been	published	the	next	
day.
	 As	a	matter	of	fact	there	was	no	reason	to	make	the	indication	that	it	was	confidential,	which	
was	unnoticed	when	I	signed	it,	given	that	from	the	note	itself	it	follows	that	it	was	a	transcription	
of	communications	that	had	ceased	to	be	secret	because	the	Governments	of	Bolivia	and	Chile	had	
agreed	to	“publish	them”.	
	 The	fact	that	an	indication	of	their	nature	is	inserted	in	any	document	coming	from	confidential	
archives,	due	to	office	standards,	clearly	explains	what	happened.	
	 You	have	also	expressed	the	Commission’s	dissatisfaction	over	the	fact	that	the	undersigned	
had	told	the	Commission	that	no	communication	had	been	exchanged	with	the	Government	of	Bolivia	
when,	however,	 the	Notes	 I	 have	had	published	had	 actually	been	exchanged	already.	This	 seems	
to	have	been	recorded	in	the	minutes	of	the	Commission	which,	according	to	Your	Excellency,	had	
agreed to put this event to the notice of the Honorable Senate. 
	 “In	view	of	this	information	I	requested	the	Secretary	of	the	Commission	of	Foreign	Affairs	
to	show	me	said	minutes.	He	responded	that	they	were	not	in	the	Secretariat	and	that	it	is	likely	that	
you	have	them.	He	then	told	me	to	request	them	to	you	and	I	was	thereafter	told	that	you	had	said	that	
Senator	Sergio	Fernandez,	who	was	not	in	Santiago,	had	them.	
	 It	is	common-ground	that	minutes	of	the	sessions	are	not	drafted	in	the	Senate	Commissions.	
If,	in	this	particular	case,	the	intention	was	to	make	an	exception,	then	it	would	have	been	compulsory	
that	the	Commission	approved	them,	which	it	did	not	do,	and	brought	them	to	my	notice,	in	compliance	
with	an	elemental	duty.	But	I	do	not	need	to	see	the	so-called	notes	that	have	not	been	shown	to	me	to	
reject	energetically	the	accusation	made	against	me	in	the	note	I	am	hereby	replying	to.	I	have	never	
denied	the	existence	of	any	document.	
	 In	the	press	and	in	both	Chambers’	Commissions,	I	informed	and	reiterated	that	I	had	accepted	
to open negotiations with Bolivia, which is precisely what the Notes that have been published record. 
With	similar	emphasis	I	declared	that	no	proposal,	be	verbal	or	written,	had	been	put	forward	by	the	
Government	of	Bolivia	on	the	substance	of	the	matter,	which	is	consistent	with	the	statements	made	in	
La	Paz	by	Ambassador	Ostria	Gutierrez.	
	 The	main	accusation	that	was	made	against	me	in	public	and	privately	was	to	the	effect	that	
the	Government	of	Chile	had	taken	the	initiative	to	open	negotiations.	I	would	not	have	found	any	
other suitable proof to refute such accusation than to publish the Notes exchanged. I did not do it, 
however,	because	a	duty	prevented	me	from	doing	so:	the	commitment	undertaken	by	the	two	Foreign	
Ministries	not	to	publish	these	documents	without	a	prior	mutual	agreement	to	that	end.
	 “Thus,	 I	 kept	my	word	 even	 though	my	personal	 advantages	 suggested	 the	opposite.	My	
conscience	tells	me	I	could	not	have	acted	otherwise.
 God bless you. (Signed by) Horacio Walker Larrain”. 
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Annex 274

“Chancellor	maintains	statements	made	with	regard	to	Bolivia”,	
La Nacion	(Chile),	5	September	1950

 
(Original in Spanish, English translation)

La Nacion Newspaper (Chile)
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La Nacion Newspaper, 5 September 1950

Chancellor adheres to statements in dealings with Bolivia

	 The	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs,	Mr.	Horacio	Walker	Larrain,	uttered	the	following	statement	
last	night:		
	 “In	press	reports	of	the	1st	of	this	month,	a	note	issued	by	the	Chairman	of	the	Foreign	Affairs	
Commission	of	the	Senate	was	published,	affirming	that	I	had	declared,	in	the	secret	sessions	held	by	
that	Commission	past	25	July	and	1	August,	that,	“no	communication	had	been	exchanged	with	the	
Government	of	Bolivia,	etc.”	In	regard	to	the	same	matter,	reference	was	also	made	to	the	minutes	of	
that	Commission.
	 The	next	day	I	stated	that	“I	do	not	need	to	see	the	so-called	minutes	that	have	not	been	shown	
to	me	to	reject	energetically	the	accusation	made	against	me	in	the	note	I	am	hereby	replying	to.	I	have	
never	denied	the	existence	of	any	document.	
	 Now,	after	having	learned	of	such	minutes,	I	am	in	position	to	declare	that	it	does	not	follow	
from	 them	 that	 I	 had	 stated	 that	 no	 communication	 had	 been	 exchanged	with	 the	Government	 of	
Bolivia,	as	had	been	affirmed	in	the	above	said	note.	
	 I	thus	adhere	to	the	categorical	refutation	I	made	to	the	press	and,	given	that	the	Senators	and	
Deputies	have	the	right	to	take	knowledge	of	the	said	minutes,	I	hereby	invite	them	to	do	so.	

_________
 I will now refer to a question of a different nature. In the newspapers published past Sunday, 
appears	a	letter	sent	by	my	dear	friend	Mr.	German	Riesco,	ratifying	a	publication	made	in	a	magazine	
and other versions that have been brought to his notice with regard to his participation as Minister in 
the	Bolivianmatter.	
	 I	was	not	aware	of	the	information	published	in	the	magazine	referred	to,	according	to	which	
Mr.	Riesco	“commenced	the	negotiations	concerning	the	corridor”.	Had	I	known	of	this,	I	would	have	
hastened	to	publish	the	correspondingrectification,	which	I	will	gladly	do	now.	
	 To	my	knowledge,	neither	Mr.	Riesco	nor	the	undersigned,	or	any	of	my	predecessors,	have	
ever had initiatives relating to Bolivia’s port aspiration. And as I have expressed to the press, that 
country	has	not	even	submitted	any	concrete	proposal	on	the	matter.	
	 I	have	consented	to	opening	negotiations	in	the	terms	that	are	recorded	in	the	note	I	have	
had published, in keeping with the traditional thesis of the Chilean Foreign Ministry that Mr. Riesco 
confirmed	 to	 the	 press	 in	 the	 following	 clear-cut	 terms:	 “Cordial	 Chilean-Bolivian	 relations	 and	
the fact that Chile has never refused to discuss directly with Bolivia the question related to its 
landlocked condition,	make	the	intervention	of	unofficial	agents	unnecessary	and	even	detrimental”.
	 The	 fact	 that	 Mr.	 Riesco,	 as	 all	 of	 my	 predecessors,	 held	 numerous	 meetings	 with	 the	
Bolivian	diplomatic	representative	on	the	opening	of	negotiations,	does	not	imply	that	conversations	
on	determined	solutions	have	been	started.	
	 I	 must	 add	 that	 draft	 notes	 sent	 by	 the	 Bolivian	 Embassy	 and	 the	Minister	 on	 opening	
negotiations	are	archived	in	the	Foreign	Ministry,	and	that	I	have	even	been	informed	in	the	Ministry	
that	the	most	recent	one	had	been	drafted	by	Mr.	Riesco	himself.	From	inquiries	I	have	made	today,	it	
turns out that their wording corresponds to his predecessor. 
	 As	far	as	I	am	concerned,	this	aspect	bears	no	importance,	for	the	only	thing	I	am	concerned	
with	proving	is	that	this	is	not	a	demarche	that	was	started	while	I	served	as	Foreign	Minister,	but	that	
it	had	been	sorted	out	earlier.	And	this	is	recorded	in	[specific]	documents.									
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 Annex 275

Note	from	the	Bolivian	Ambassador	to	Chile,	Alberto	Ostria	Gutierrez,	
to	the	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs	of	Bolivia,	Pedro	Zilveti	Arce,	

N°	844/513,	9	September	1950

(Original in Spanish, English translation)

Archives of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Bolivia
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EMBASSY OF BOLIVIA       
COPY

RESERVED
Nº	844-513	 	 	 	 	 	 Santiago,	9	September	1950
Subject:	Port	negotiations	

Distinguished Minister, 
	 The	 day	 following	my	 return	 to	 La	 Paz,	 I	 visited	 the	Minister	 of	 Foreign	
Affairs,	Mr.	Horacio	Walker	Larrain,	as	I	had	informed	you	in	my	reserved	cable	Nº	
221,	of	the	6th	of	this	month.	
 The Chilean Foreign Minister was, naturally, thankful for the attitude we 
followed	when	the	notes	were	published,	preceded	by	a	brief	commentary	in	which	
the	agreement	reached	between	both	Governments	to	bring	them	to	public	notice	was	
explained. 
 The truth is that, by proceeding in this way, we have contributed to safeguarding 
Mr.	Walker	Larrain’s	difficult	political	 situation	–who	 is	one	of	 the	most	 eminent	
politicians	in	Chile–	inasmuch	as	the	Bolivian	note	was	at	no	time	secret	and	neither	
was	it	submitted	subject	to	any	condition.	It	was	only	Chile’s	response	that	had	been	
affixed	the	confidential	seal. 
 According to Mr. Walker Larrain, the unrest sparked here by the publication 
of the notes, responds to political ends, that is, the intention to frustrate his candidacy 
to	the	Senate	for	Santiago,	to	fill	the	seat	vacated	by	Mr.	Arturo	Alessandri.
	 “This	might	be	the	first	time	in	which	international	affairs	are	used	in	Chile	as	
a	weapon	for	internal	policy”,	said	Mr.	Walker	Larrain.	He	added,	“I	am	determined	
to counteract that feat and to that end I will deliver an explanation to the nation in the 
radio and press”.
 In regard to the negotiations, he was supportive of entering into a waiting 
period. 
	 The	next	day,	i.e.	the	7th,	I	held	a	meeting	with	the	President	of	the	Republic,	
as	I	had	informed	you	in	my	reserved	cable	Nº	222.	
	 Mr.	Gonzalez	Videla	was	thankful,	just	as	the	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs,	for	
our	faithful	attitude	and	also	complimented	the	statements	I	made	in	La	Paz	before	the	
public	opinion	in	regard	to	the	precedents	and	preliminary	result	of	the	negotiations.	
He	added	 that	he	would	also	seek	 the	proper	opportunity	 to	do	something	similar	
with	the	Chilean	public	opinion,	which	had	been	misguided	owing	to	internal	policy	
purposes. 
	 Concerning	 that	 same	aspect,	 I	was	 informed	 that	Mr.	Walker	Larrain	had	
requested	[his	Government]	to	desist	from	his	candidacy	to	the	Senate,	so	as	not	to	
submit		_	_		_	_		

To	Mr.	Pedro	Zilveti,	
Minister of Foreign Affairs, 
La Paz.- Bolivia.                        
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international affairs to electoral contingency. 
	 “I	 would	 rather	 see	 that	 a	 senator	 for	 the	 Government	 is	missing	 than	 to	
severely	hinder	negotiations	with	Bolivia”,	told	me	Mr.	Gonzalez	Videla.	
	 For	my	part,	I	explained	to	him	the	position	adopted	by	the	Government	of	
Bolivia to the effect that, for any step to be taken following the signing of the notes, 
it	believed	it	was	essential	that	the	Government	of	Chile	first	verified	whether	there	
is	or	not	a	proper	port,	capable	of	being	used	for	commercial	purposes,	to	the	north	
of	Arica,	and	that	meanwhile	it	was	not	possible	to	push	forward	the	negotiations,	for	
that	aspect,	as	I	had	stated	in	other	opportunities,	was	fundamental.
	 Mr.	Gonzalez	Videla	recognized	that	the	above	condition	was	justified	and,	
accepting our point of view, he insisted in that the Chilean navy had carried out 
studies	that	had	led	to	positive	results;	he	asked	me,	however,	to	talk	again	with	the	
Minister of Foreign Affairs on that aspect.               
 Referring thereafter to the distress caused in Bolivia due to the prospect of 
utilizing	the	waters	of	Lake	Titicaca	–an	aspect	which	was	the	exclusive	initiative	of	
Mr.	Gonzalez	Videla	and	in	regard	to	which	Bolivia	has	not	made	any	commitment,	
not	 even	 hypothetically,	 as	 the	 Foreign	 Ministry	 is	 well	 aware	 of–	 he	 declared,	
confirming	what	he	had	told	me	before	my	trip	to	La	Paz,	that	he	had	never	thought	
of	using	the	flow	of	those	waters	for	irrigation	purposes	in	the	north	of	Chile,	given	
that	there	were	groundwater	flows,	and	that	his	intent	was	to	produce	electric	power	
for	Peru,	Bolivia	and	Chile,	in	the	event	that	the	three	countries	came	to	an	agreement	
on that regard, with the possibility that waterfalls could be directed towards Sorata, 
as	had	been	established,	by	way	of	example,	in	the	studies	that	he	had	the	Hoschild	
firm	carry	out.
	 Additionally,	he	said	that	such	a	prospect	could	only	be	implemented	with	the	
participation	of	the	United	States	and	that	that	had	precisely	been	President	Truman’s	
point of view in the conversations they had held in Washington. 
	 Before	saying	good-bye,	I	told	him	–as	His	Excellency	the	President	of	the	
Republic	and	yourself	had	instructed	me–	that	 the	Government	of	Bolivia	had	the	
intention	of	explaining	its	position	in	regard	to	the	port	problem	to	the	Government	
of	the	United	States,	and	to	also	confirm	in	its	essential	part,	i.e.	direct	negotiations,	
the	position	that	had	been	anticipated	to	President	Truman.	
	 I	reiterate	to	you	the	assurances	of	my	highest	consideration.											

   [Signature]



360



361

Annex 276

“Let us not divide ourselves by political parties in resolving our foreign 
affairs”, El Imparcial	(Chile),	13	September	1950	

 (Original in Spanish, English translation)

El Imparcial Newspaper (Chile)
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“LET US NOT DIVIDE OURSELVES BY 
POLITICAL PARTIES IN RESOLVING OUR 

FOREIGN AFFAIRS” 

[El Imparcial,	13	September	1950]

“Because	we	might	cause	irreparable	harm	to	the	fate	of	the	Republic”,	
was	 Foreign	 Minister	 Walker’s	 brilliant	 and	 solid	 statement	 in	
response	to	the	attacks	by	the	opposition	before	the	Chamber.	“None	
of	the	international	guidelines	of	the	current	Government	have	been	
breached,	not	even	those	followed	by	former	Governments”.	Below	
is	the	text	of	the	explanation	made	by	the	Minister	of	Foreign	Affairs.
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 “These days, our capital city has witnessed an 
alarmist and exaggerated campaign launched by 
press and radio representatives who are subject of the 
influence exerted by some elements of the opposition. 

 Efforts have been mainly made to distort the nature 
and ends of the preliminary diplomatic demarche 
carried out to address the Bolivian question and the 
most absurd of suspicions have been created in that 
regard. These unfounded assertions have reached 
the point of sending information to Arica to the 
effect that the Chilean Government has resolved 
to hand over that port, regardless of my energetic 
public refusal to such absurd and evil statement. 

 Also, an attempt has been made to overlook the 
fact that, so as to be valid and binding, anything 
that is agreed to by the Foreign Ministries must 
be subjected to the ratification of the National 
Congress, which is the sovereign entity to approve 
or reject these measures and has, as a matter of 
fact, exercised this faculty on different occasions, 
without causing interruptions in our foreign affairs. 
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 When, back in 1895, a Chilean Government concluded a Treaty 
under which Chile was to cede Tacna and Arica to Bolivia –provided that 
they fell under its sovereignty as a result of the plebiscite– those who ruled 
the country did not face the offences of which the current leaders are now 
victim. The National Congress, on the other hand, complied with its duty 
by not ratifying that odd treaty.

 Currently, however, the press has reached the point of raising a 
constitutional accusation against the Minister who is now speaking, 
only owing to the fact that consent has been given to open a diplomatic 
negotiation. 

 This campaign is characterized by circumstances that define its 
nature and ends, which explains why it has not produced the results 
desired in a country of such an acute patriotic sentiment –but of such a 
penetrating critical mind also– as ours.   

 And this result sought was no other but to place upon the Minister 
who is now speaking all the responsibility for the acts carried out by a 
Government and by an entire governmental Administration.

 Among many other inaccurate assertions, the attitude of a Santiago 
newspaper stands out, inasmuch as it informed the public opinion, on the 
fourth page, in an eight-column report and with capitals, that “Walker 
offered Bolivia a port in return for non-territorial compensations”. 

 It did not matter that the heading was inconsistent with the cable 
that followed it –which contained no mention of said offer; it did not 
matter that this heading was a deliberate fallacy; it did not matter that a 
Minister 
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does	not	constitute	by	himself	the	Ministry,	
or	the	Government;	what	mattered	was	that	
the person now speaking had recently ran as 
the Conservative Party’s candidate for the 
Senate seat that was vacant for Santiago. 

 In this vein of ideas, the fact that 
efforts	 were	 made	 to	 present	 the	 current	
Minister	as	completely	opposed	to	any	of	
his predecessors is also worthy of attention. 

 The President of the Republic, tasked 
under the Constitution to direct foreign 
affairs,	 had	 impassively	 tolerated	 that	
each of his Ministers acted following their 
own	personal	whims;	that	one	followed	an	
international policy guideline, while the 
other followed a different one; and that in 
the	Ministry	 that	 is	most	 concerned	with	
State	 actions,	 all	 of	 them	 renounced	 to	
the purposes with which a president that 
has been characterized by the personal 
interest he has shown in all activities that 
concern	 the	 public	 administration	 began	
and	continued	his	government.	

	 These	millstones	are	

(GOES TO PAGE 7)
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too big for the national opinion to swallow. 

 The international policy followed by the current 
Government	–and	not	even	the	one	followed	by	preceding	
governments–	 has	 not	 been	 broken	 in	 addressing	 the	
Bolivian case. We will soon see that all that has been done 
is applying a traditional thesis of our Foreign Ministry with 
honesty and frankness. What has been broken, however, 
is Chile’s honorable tradition of not turning international 
affairs into weapons of internal or electoral policies.
 
UNFOUNDED ACCUSATIONS MADE IN RELATION 

TO THE PROCEDURE FOLLOWED 

 Most of the offensive attacks and expressions that 
have	 been	 put	 forward	 against	me	 do	 not	 relate	with	 the	
substance	 of	 the	 attitude	 assumed	 by	 the	Government	 by	
accepting	 to	 open	 diplomatic	 conversations	 with	 Bolivia,	
but	to	aspects	of	form	or	of	procedure.	

	 These	 attacks	 have	 sought	 to	 give	 the	 impression	
that	 both	 Chambers’	 Foreign	 Affairs	 Commissions	 were	
unaware	of	 the	Government’s	decision	to	consent	 to	enter	
into	negotiations	until	the	notes	were	published,	by	common	
agreement	between	the	Governments	of	Chile	and	Bolivia.	
According	to	those	who	have	criticized	me,	I	had	concealed	
that intention pursued by our Foreign Ministry. 

 I should be pleased to see that the President of the 
Chamber	and	the	Comities	of	the	different	political	parties,	
read	the	minutes,	and	their	stenographic	versions,	prepared	
by	the	Foreign	Affairs	Commission.	This	will	allow	them	to	
corroborate	what	I	will	now	assert:	the	above	accusation	is	
absolutely false.

	 There	 is	 even	 more:	 not	 only	 were	 both	 Congress	
Commissions’	aware	of	the	negotiations	with	Bolivia,	and	
of the latter’s port aspiration, but also the whole country, 
inasmuch	as	I	had	declared	the	following	to	the	press	on	11	
July:	
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	 ‘Chile	 has	 manifested	 on	 several	 occasions,	
including before the League of Nations, its willingness 
to listen, in direct negotiations with Bolivia, proposals 
from	 this	 country	 aimed	 at	 satisfying	 its	 aspiration	
to	 have	 its	 own	 access	 to	 the	 Pacific	 Ocean.	 This	
traditional Policy of our Foreign Ministry does not 
threaten the rights conferred on Chile by the treaties in 
force.	The	present	Government	is	consistent	with	the	
diplomatic	record	and	is	therefore	ready	to	enter	into	
discussions	with	Bolivia	in	reference	to	this	matter’.	

	 This	 public	 statement	 contains	 the	 substance	
of	the	note	sent	to	the	Bolivian	Ambassador,	which	I	
had	made	public	on	the	31st	of	the	last	month.	In	fact,	
both refer to the traditional policy followed by our 
Foreign Ministry; therein, it is declared that the current 
Government	will	be	consistent	with	 that	policy	and	
that, as a result, it is willing to enter into negotiations 
to study Bolivia’s port aspiration. The Note itself is 
even	more	explicit	than	the	press	statement,	inasmuch	
as	it	records	that	a	study	must	be	carried	out	to	define	
the	compensations	that	effectively	take	into	account	
Chile’s interests, excluding exchanges of territories.
As a result, the Note that has given place to such a 
hullabaloo does not contain, in the substance, anything 
new	of	which	 the	nation	had	been	unaware	–as	my	
distinguished friend, the Head of the Foreign Affairs 
Commission,	Mr.	Cañas	Flores,	was	right	to	state	in	
an eloquent speech.     

	 There	 is	 even	 more.	 That	 Commission	 had	
met	precisely	to	address	my	public	announcement	of	
the intention to open negotiations with Bolivia and 
devoted	 three	 sessions	 to	 that	 matter.	 Newspapers,	
radio	 transmissions	 and	 parliamentarian	 speeches	
made	then	in	relation	to	the	substance-matter	
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recorded	identical	observations	to	the	ones	made	
here. 

 For several years Messrs. Deputies, 
bringing frequent references to what discussed 
in the secret sessions of the Foreign Affairs 
Commission	 to	 this	 public	 debate	 has	 been	
regarded	fitting,	but	the	accuracy	of	the	references	
made	has	been	overlooked.	

	 I	thought	that	when	a	matter	was	discussed,	
with	the	consent	of	the	Commission,	in	a	secret	
session,	 the	Chamber’s	 debate	 had	 to	 be	 of	 an	
identical nature. The Honorable Senate shares 
that view in regard to this international affair that 
now concerns us. 

	 But,	 assuming	 that	 I	 am	 wrong,	 the	
repeated	references	 that	have	been	made	 to	 the	
Commission	sessions,	compel	me	to	not	remain	
silent	 inasmuch	 as	 I	 do	 not	 consent	 to	 being	
placed	 in	 a	 position	 in	 which	 I	 am	 unable	 to	
defend	myself.	

 If what is intended is to state that I did not 
take	to	the	Commission	the	notes	exchanged	with	
the	Bolivian	Embassy,	then	this	assertion	is	right.	
We will then see why I acted in that way. But if 
what	 is	 intended	 is	 to	 state	 –as	 has	 happened–	
that	 I	 did	 not	 inform	 the	 Commission	 of	 the	
Government’s	 intention	 to	 open	 negotiations	
with Bolivia to tackle its port aspiration, then this 
is	completely	false.	

	 I	hereby	categorically	assert	–and	I	would	
gladly	accept	the	procedure	I	proposed	to	confirm	
this	 assertion	 at	 the	 beginning	 of	 this	 address–	
that	 I	had	 transmitted	 to	 the	Commission,	 inter	
alia,	the	following	concepts:
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	 ‘There	exists,	as	I	have	stated	to	the	press,	the	intention	
to	 hear	 Bolivia’s	 proposals’.	 The	 Government	 of	 Chile	 is	
willing,	 as	 the	 preceding	 Governments	 have	 been,	 to	 listen	
to Bolivia’s proposals, TO OPEN NEGOTIATIONS to hear 
Bolivia’s	aspirations	concerning	the	different	possible	means	
to	 satisfy	 its	 aspirations’.	And	 I	 reiterated,	 ‘the	Government	
of Chile does not refuse to enter into NEGOTIATIONS 
with	Bolivia,	 because	 this	 is	 the	 only	means	 to	 give	 an	 ear	
to	a	country	and	 to	 the	proposals	 it	might	make’.	 ‘The	only	
thing	 I	 HAVE	 ACCEPTED’,	 I	 also	 stated,	 ‘is	 to	 initiate	
conversations	 or	 NEGOTIATIONS,	 whatever	 you	 might	
want	 to	 call	 them,	 to	 hear	Bolivia’s	 aspirations,	 study	 them	
and	 see	 whether	 it	 is	 advisable	 or	 not	 to	 accept	 them”.	

	 But	 there	 is	 something	 more	 Mr.	 President.	 Among	
the Deputies that have taken part in this debate, disputing 
the	 Government’s	 attitude,	 there	 is	 one	 who	 explicitly	
declared	 within	 the	 Commission	 that	 the	 first	 fact	 that	
had	 been	 established	 in	 the	 Commission	 was	 that	 the	
Government	 of	 Chile	 had	 accepted	 these	 negotiations.	

 If this is the case, how could it possibly be asserted 
that	 the	 Commission	 was	 not	 informed	 of	 the	 events?	
 
	 The	clarifications	I	have	made	in	relation	to	what	discussed	
within	the	Commission	are	the	best	response	I	could	have	given	
to the accusations, which are not only exaggerated but offensive, 
that	have	been	made	on	this	floor.	Any	of	the	deputies	will	be	
able	to	confirm,	based	on	the	minutes,	who	has	been	untruthful.	

 It has also been established that, while it is true that 
the	 Commission	 members	 were	 unaware	 of	 the	 text	 of	 the	
notes exchanged with the Bolivian representative, they were 
however	aware	of	their	content	and	clear	and	precise	object.	

POWERS RESERVED EXCLUSIVELY TO THE 
PRESIDENT OF THE REPUBLIC  

Is the Executive Branch authorized to decide when a 
parliamentarian	 Commission	 is	 to	 be	 informed	 of	 the	
components	of	a	diplomatic	demarche	in	the	period	preceding	
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the	adjustment	of	an	international	treaty?

	 My	response	is	in	the	affirmative.	And	this	whole	situation	
has to do with, and with nothing else, this faculty.

	 It	 is	common-ground	 that	public	powers	have	exclusive	
and	common	or	shared	faculties	under	our	constitution.	

	 One	 of	 the	 most	 common	 examples	 of	 the	 special	
attributions conferred on the President of the Republic is the 
one	enshrined	in	Article	72,	Nº	16,	of	 the	Constitution,	which	
reads:	 ‘to	 maintain	 political	 relations	 with	 foreign	 powers,	
receive	 their	 Agents,	 admit	 their	 Consuls,	 hold	 negotiations,	
make	 preliminary	 stipulations,	 conclude	 and	 sign	 all	 peace,	
alliance,	 truce,	 neutrality,	 commerce,	 treaties,	 concordats	 and	
other conventions are the special attributions of the President of 
the	Republic.	Before	their	ratification,	treaties	must	be	subject	
to Congress approval. Discussions and deliberations on these 
questions	shall	remain	secret	if	the	President	required	it’.

 As a result, it is the exclusive faculty of the President 
of	 the	 Republic	 to	 carry	 out	 negotiations,	 make	 preliminary	
stipulations, and conclude and sign treaties, whatever their 
nature.	And	 the	 Congress	 is	 to	 either	 approve	 or	 reject	 these	
treaties. 

	 And	Article	4.o	of	our	Constitution	establishes	an	elemental	
public	law	principle	by	stating	that	‘no	judiciary	entity,	person,	
or	group	of	people	can	confer	upon	themselves	–not	even	under	
extraordinary	 circumstances–	 any	 other	 faculty	 or	 right	 than	
those	EXCLUSIVELY	conferred	by	the	legislation.	Any	act	that	
runs counter to this article is null’.   

 We are thus before a prohibitive precept, and there not 
only	isn’t	any	‘express’	provision	in	the	Constitution	authorizing	
the	Honorable	Chamber	of	Deputies	to	disown	–not	even	under	
extraordinary	circumstances–	the	Governmental	faculties	I	have	
referred	to,	there	also	is	an	‘express’	precept	that	confers	these	
faculties to the President of the Republic as exclusive powers.   
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	 I	 should	 like	 to	 give	 the	 floor	 in	 regard	
to	 this	 matter	 to	 the	 eminent	 parliamentarian,	
treatise writer and Minister of Foreign Affairs, 
Mr. Miguel Cruchaga Tocornal.

	 In	 1933,	 the	 Senate	 sent	 him	 a	 note	
recording	 the	 request	 formulated	 by	 several	
Senators to the effect that copies of the public 
and	reserved	agreements	reached	in	the	Mendoza	
conferences be sent to that organ.

 Minister Cruchaga refused to send those 
copies	and	among	other	considerations,	he	put	
forward	the	following:	

	 ‘Article	 72,	 Nº	 16	 of	 our	 Constitution	
provides	 that	 to	 maintain	 political	 relations	
with	 foreign	 powers,	 hold	 negotiations,	 make	
preliminary	 stipulations,	 etc.,	 are	 the	 special	
attributions of the President of the Republic. We 
have	always	understood,	even	in	the	times	of	the	
parliamentarian	regime,	that	this	faculty	did	not	
authorize the Congress to intervene in PENDING 
negotiations.	 Furthermore,	 this	 is	 a	 principle	
that	 has	 not	 only	 materialized	 in	 the	 practice,	
but	which	 is	also	promoted	by	 treatise	writers,	
and this can clearly be understood by reading 
the	publications	made	by	 the	commentators	of	
our	 Constitution.	 Parliamentarian	 oversight	
CAN BE EXERCISED ONLY IN RELATION 
TO	NEGOTIATIONS	THAT	HAVE	COME	TO	
AN END and which, as a result, 
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CANNOT BE HINDERED IF ITS PRECEDENTS 
WERE DISCLOSED”.     

 After this question was forwarded to the 
Constitution,	 Legislation	 and	 Justice	 Commission,	
I	 was	 tasked	 with	 explaining	 it	 accompanied	 by	
senators	 from	 different	 political	 parties,	 Messrs.	
Nicolas	Marambio,	Alvaro	Santa	Maria,	Raul	Puga	
and Aurelio Meza. After recalling the report on the 
exclusive faculties of the President of the Republic 
–to	which	I	have	referred	above–	it	was	stated	that:

	 ‘In	the	course	of	negotiations,	the	responsibility	
for	which	rests	completely	on	the	Executive	Branch,	
without	 the	 obligation	 to	 inform	 any	 authority	 or	
person of the changes and orientation that the latter 
intends	to	give	them,	the	Government	is	able	to,	if	it	
deems	it	fitting	to	facilitate	the	agreement	–or	for	any	
other	reason–	keep	
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the strictest reserve not only in relation to the public 
opinion	of	the	country	in	general,	but	EVEN	IN	REGARD	
TO THE OTHER STATE POWERS, WHICH DO NOT 
HAVE	A	VOICE	IN	THE	DEALINGS	CONCERNING	
SUCH	COVENANTS’.
    
	 Once	the	Executive	Branch	has	decided	to	submit	
to the Congress the text agreed to, the Congress and any 
of	 its	 Members	 is	 conferred	 the	 right	 to	 be	 informed	
in	 detail	 of	 the	 negotiation	 and	of	 its	 ultimate	 possible	
consequences,	 as	well	 as	 the	 resulting	 right	 to	 demand	
that	 any	 precedent	 they	 deem	necessary	 to	 revise	 it	 be	
brought to their notice, and they will be able to refuse 
their	approval	if	they	do	not	consider	that	the	matter	has	
been	dully	clarified	owing	to	a	lack	of	necessary	elements	
to assess it’.

	 Summarizing	 its	 conclusions,	 the	 Commission	
proposed	 the	 following	 agreement	 draft:	 ‘The	 Senate	
hereby declares that its lack of oversight faculties does 
not	eliminate	its	right	to	be	informed	of	the	documentation	
concerning State affairs by requesting for the precedents 
 
 

(GOES TO PAGE 18)
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of the case to exercise its diverse constitutional functions, 
PROVIDED	THAT,	BY	DOING	SO,	IT	DOES	NOT	INVADE	
THE	 EXCLUSIVE	 ATTRIBUTIONS	 CONFERRED	 ON	
THE	 PRESIDENT	 OF	 THE	 REPUBLIC,	 SUCH	 AS	 THE	
ONES	RELATED	TO	NEGOTIATING,	CONCLUDING	AND	
SIGNING TREATIES’.

	 During	the	debate	it	was	further	stated	that:	

	 ‘The	details	surrounding	treaties,	while	these	are	in	their	
gestation period, are not published in any country of the world’. 

 The Honorable Senate adopted, with very few votes 
against,	the	Commission’s	report.	

 Today, acting as Minister, I uphold what I had upheld 
seventeen	 years	 ago	 as	 a	 reporting	 member	 of	 a	 Senate	
Commission,	 which	 is	 the	 same	 assertion	 I	 upheld	 on	 other	
occasions,	 both	 when	 my	 party	 integrated	 the	 Government	 as	
when it was part of the opposition. 

________________

	 From	what	I	have	just	explained	it	follows	that	I	had	the	right	
to	not	take	to	the	Foreign	Affairs	Commission	of	the	Chamber	the	
confidential	notes	exchanged	with	the	Bolivian	Embassy,	which	
I	sent	to	that	very	Commission	on	the	30th	of	the	past	month	and	
had published by the press the day after.

	 It	has	been	said	in	some	newspapers,	in	radio	transmissions	
and	even	by	some	parliamentarians	that	I	denied	the	existence	of	
these	notes	before	the	Commissions	of	the	Honorable	Senate	and	
of	the	Chamber.	This	assertion	is	absolutely	false	and	to	refute	it	
I	hereby	invite	them	to	read	the	minutes	and	their	stenographic	
versions concerning these notes.
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 In the substance, the notes contain nothing dif-
ferent	from	what	I	stated	before	the	press	or,	particu-
larly,	in	the	information	I	provided	to	both	Chambers’	
Commissions,	wherein	it	had	been	placed	on	record,	
as I said above, that the intention was to open a nego-
tiation with Bolivia concerning its port aspiration with 
compensations	 that	 effectively	 take	 into	account	our	
country’s interests.

 Given that this was the case, what inconvenient 
could I have had, even if I was under no obligation to 
do	so,	to	inform	the	Commission,	in	the	brief	contacts	
I	keep	with	it,	of	documents	which	contained	practi-
cally	nothing	new,	preserving	the	utmost	deference?	

	 There	was	only	one	severe	 impediment	which	
any	honorable	man	would	have	experienced:	the	For-
eign Ministries of Chile and Bolivia had agreed not to 
publish	the	notes	until	they	both	agreed	to	do	so	simul-
taneously,	on	a	date	they	would	fix.	

	 On	the	eve	of	the	trip	the	Bolivian	Ambassador	
to	Chile	made	to	his	country	of	origin,	an	agreement	
was	reached	to	publish	the	notes	on	the	31st	of	the	past	
month,	namely,	when	that	diplomat	would	already	be	
in La Paz. 

 Since their publication had to be carried out by 
common	agreement,	I	could	have	exerted	some	influ-
ence	to	try	to	delay	it,	inasmuch	as	I	was	well	aware	of	
the	reaction	that	my	public	statements	had	caused	in	
some	representatives	of	the	opposition	
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parties	and	I	understood	the	way	in	which	certain	media	
would try to take advantage of this situation linking it 
with the elections concerning the Senator for Santiago. 
But	 the	 idea	never	 crossed	my	mind	 that	 I	 could	use	
my	 position	 as	 Minister	 to	 gain	 benefit	 for	 political	
interests, because I do not believe it appropriate that 
these sorts of interests should interfere in international 
affairs.

	 On	 the	eve	of	 the	day	fixed	 for	 the	publication	
of the notes, I thought it would be an act of deference 
to	send	them	to	the	Foreign	Affairs	Commission	of	the	
Senate	and	to	that	of	the	Chamber	of	Deputies	–which	
had	shown	interest	in	this	matter–	before	handing	them	
over to the press, and that is exactly what I did.

	 What’s	 more,	 I	 did	 not	 want	 the	 notes	 to	 be	
published	in	the	morning	of	the	31st	in	order	to	give	the	
Commissions	time	to,	if	they	thought	it	fitting,	read	them	
before	the	public	did,	which	is	what	the	Commission	of	
the Honorable Senate did. That is why the publication 
was	made	in	the	afternoon	of	that	day.

	 Some	newspapers	and	radio	stations	have	asserted	
that	 the	Bolivian	ambassador	had	published	 the	notes	
before	the	time	agreed	to.

 This is yet another unfounded and arbitrary 
accusation. His Excellency, Mr. Ostria Gutierrez and 
his	Foreign	Ministry	abided	entirely	by	the	commitment	
assumed.	The	procedure	I	thought	appropriate	to	follow	
can be criticized in any way wished, but there is no 
right	 to	make	artificial	accusations	against	a	diplomat	
who acted with the correctness and nobility that have 
characterized	him	in	fulfilling	his	mission	in	Chile	and	
that,	 by	 the	way,	with	 the	 diligence	 due	 –as	 it	 is	 his	
duty–	do	not	oppose	to	his	country’s	interests.	
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Honorable	Mr.	Undurraga	stated	before	the	Honorable	
Chamber	that	if	it	had	not	been	by	Mr.	Ostria	Gutierrez	
the Deputies would still ignore the notes in question. 

	 Unfortunately,	that	Deputy	forgot	that	the	fact	
I	 had	 sent	 these	 documents	 to	 the	 Foreign	Affairs	
Commissions	 of	 both	Chambers	 the	 day	 before	 the	
date	fixed	for	their	publication	so	it	would	have	been	
impossible	that	the	Deputies	were	unaware	of	them.	

	 This	 assertion,	 furthermore,	 ascribes	 extreme	
and	 awkward	 ineptitude	 to	me,	 for	 it	 suggests	 that,	
aware of the fact that the Bolivian Foreign Ministry 
would publish the notes and that, as a result, they 
would	become	known	in	Chile,	I	had	sought	to	expose	
myself,	with	no	reason	whatsoever,	to	severe	criticism	
for having kept a useless and unexplainable reserve.

	 Mr.	 President,	 I	 am	 aware	 that	 I	 have	 given	
exaggerated	 importance	 to	 the	 accusations	made	 in	
relation	to	this	matter	against	me	inside	and	outside	this	
Chamber.	I	am	aware	that	to	those	who	know	of	and	
judge	without	passion	my	lengthy	and	intense	public	
actions,	the	refutations	I	have	made	are	unnecessary	
and	 even	 tiresome.	 But,	 when	 one	 analyses	 the	
political	atmosphere	we	are	experiencing,	when	one	
hears	time	after	time	the	radio	transmissions	that	have	
released their poison and have corrupted our healthy 
intentions	 –regardless	 of	 whether	 they	 are	 right	 or	
wrong,	when	one	reads	newspapers	that	shamelessly	
alter	 the	 information	 with	 animosity	 to	 try	 bring	
down	a	single	man,	it	is	simply	not	possible	to	restrict	
oneself to general refusals. 
 
	 At	 the	 same	 time	 as	 I	 must	 apologize	 to	 the	
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for	having	taken	so	long	in	addressing	a	matter	of	form,	I	
also	wish	to	make	some	brief	similar	observations	before	
turning to aspects of general interest.

 I have pointed to the reason why I was unable to take 
to	the	Commission	notes	which	did	not	alter	at	all	a	well-
known situation. 

	 I	will	now	frankly	give	you	one	more	reason.

 Even supposing that I did not have the view I have 
in relation to the word pledged; even supposing that the 
commitments	assumed	with	a	foreign	Government	have	no	
relation	with	parliamentarian	 commitments,	 could	 I	 have	
acted in a different way being aware that no secrecy is 
kept	within	secret	sessions?	Did	I	not	read	in	the	press	the	
transcription	–though	distorted–	of	 a	dialogue	 I	had	held	
with	a	Deputy	in	the	Chamber?	Have	we	not	read	versions	
of	what	is	said	in	these	sessions?	Have	I	myself	not	been	
compelled	to	rectify	some	of	these	reports?	

	 I	 need	not	 to	delve	 into	 this	matter,	 because	many	
deputies	have	themselves	acceded	to	what	I	am	saying.	

 Soon after the publication of the controversial notes, 
His Excellency the President of Bolivia gave a detailed 
explanation before the Congress of his country of the 
precedents of the policy followed by Bolivia in relation to 
the	 port	 question	 and	 the	 dealings	with	 our	Government	
and	he	did	not	say	a	single	word	about	the	communications	
that had been exchanged between both Foreign Ministries 
and	thus	kept	the	temporal	reserve	that	had	been	agreed	to.
 
	 Would	any	of	the	Deputies	have	wanted	me	to	disown	
the	world	pledged	before	the	world	in	marked	contrast	with	
the	attitude	of	the	Bolivian	Head	of	State?	

	 For	my	part,	I	reject	that	possibility	and	I	have	the	
firm	belief	that	I	preserved	the	decorum	and	solemnity	of	
my	country	and	of	the	functions	I	discharge.	
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NEW RECTIFICATIONS
 
	 Honorable	 Mr.	 Merino	 affirmed	 in	 his	 address	 this	
the	 Minister	 DID	 NOT	 EVEN	 MENTION	 in	 the	 Foreign	
Affairs	 Commission	 the	 conversations	 held	 between	 His	
Excellency	 Mr.	 Gonzalez	 Videla	 and	 President	 Truman.	

	 I	 was	 struck	 by	 this	 assertion	 made	 by	 a	 Deputy	 of	 the	
characteristics	of	Mr.	Lira,	inasmuch	as	he	himself	attended	the	meetings	
of	 that	Commission	and	 the	first	of	 the	minutes	drafted	 therein	 record	
that	 I	 not	 only	 mentioned	 the	 said	 meeting	 but	 also	 explained	 it.	

	 Honorable	 Mr.	 Bulnes	 handed	 to	 the	 media	 a	 speech	
that contains offensive concepts in regard to Bolivia and 
I	 cannot	 overlook	 them	 without	 raising	 a	 formal	 protest.	

 Bolivia is a friendly and sister nation with which our country 
keeps very cordial relations and I do not see the purpose sought in 
trying	 to	 disturb	 these	 relations	 with	 statements	 that	 are	 inconsistent	
with	 the	 responsibilities	 incumbent	 upon	 any	 parliamentarian.	

	 His	 Excellency,	 Mr.	 Urriolagoitia	 was	 elected	 President	 in	
a popular election and has sought to defend the stability of his 
country’s	 institutions	 against	 totalitarian	 elements	 –as	 communism	
and	 others–	 that	 have	 intended	 on	 many	 occasions	 to	 alter	 the	
public	 order	 to	 impose	 government	 forms	 that	 our	 country	 rejects.	

CHILE’S TRADITIONAL THESIS IN REGARD TO THE 
BOLIVIAN PROBLEM            

           
 Our	 Foreign	 Ministry	 has	 always	 upheld	 and	 maintains	 to	 the	
present the international law principle that treaties cannot be revised. 

 Consistently with that rule, our Foreign Ministry opposed 
energetically to Bolivia’s appeals to International Conferences to revise 
the	1904	Treaty	–which	put	an	end	to	the	differences	resulting	from	the	
war of 1879. 

	 In	 the	 note	 I	 addressed	 to	 Mr.	 Ambassador	 of	 Bolivia	
dated	 last	 20	 June,	 	 	 the	 same	 line	 of	 conduct	 is	 recalled.
  
	 Our	 delegates	 magnificently	 upheld	 this	 thesis	 before	
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the League of Nations Conference. Together with opposing to 
revising	the	Treaty	with	solid	legal,	and	of	all	kinds,	arguments	
they	declared,	 through	our	eminent	 foreign	affairs	official,	Mr.	
Augustin	Edwards,	in	1921	that:

	 “Bolivia	can	find	satisfaction	in	direct	and	freely	consented	
negotiations.	Chile	has	never	closed	this	door	to	Bolivia,	and	I	am	
able	to	declare	that	nothing	would	please	us	more	than	to	discuss	
directly	 with	 Bolivia	 the	 best	 means	 to	 help	 its	 development.	
What Chile wants is its friendship; our burning desire is for it to 
be happy and prosperous. It is also in our own interest, since it is 
our	neighbor	and	its	prosperity	will	reflect	on	ours”.

	 With	 this	 statement,	 a	 political	 guideline	 of	 our	 Foreign	
Ministry	 was	 established	 and	 would	 then	 be	 confirmed	 by	
different	Governments.	

	 This	 is	 evidenced	 by	 the	 statements	 –which	 I	 need	 not	
to	read	because	everyone	is	aware	of	them–	made	by	President	
Alessandri in his address to the Congress in 1922 and by Ministers 
of Foreign Affairs Luis Izquierdo and Jorge Matte The latter, for 
instance,	 stated,	 ‘the	Government	of	Chile	has	not	 rejected	 the	
idea of granting a strip of territory and a port to the Bolivian 
nation’ and agreed to consider the proposal in principle. 

 Many Deputies and an opposition newspaper editorial have 
stated	that	statements	made	by	the	Government	of	Chile	on	this	
matter	precede	the	conclusion	of	the	Treaty	of	1929	with	Peru.	

 This assertion is inaccurate. As a case in point, the Minister 
of	Foreign	Affairs,	Mr.	German	Riesco,	referring	to	a	statement	
President	Peron	delivered	in	favorable	terms	in	regard	to	Bolivia’s	
aspiration,	reiterated	to	the	press	on	1	January	last	year	that:	

	 ‘The	 cordial	 Chilean-Bolivian	 relations	 AND	 THE	
FACT	THAT	CHILE	HAS	NEVER	REFUSED	TO	DISCUSS	
DIRECTLY	 WITH	 BOLIVIA	 THE	 ISSUE	 CONCERNING	
ITS	 LANDLOCKED	 CONDITION	 make	 the	 intervention	 of	
unofficial	agents	unnecessary	and	even	detrimental’.	     
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 Better said, Mr. Riesco upheld the concept that Chile does 
not	oppose	to	hearing	Bolivia	in	direct	negotiations,	just	as	it	had	
been declared before the League of Nations and on preceding 
opportunities.
  
	 The	note	I	sent	to	the	Bolivian	Ambassador	past	June	is,	as	
a result, but an application of the traditional thesis followed by the 
Chilean Foreign Ministry. 
 
 Thus, I have neither invented nor pushed forward this policy. 
I	have	simply	applied	it	with	honesty	and	frankness,	as	befits	the	
solemnity	of	the	acts	carried	out	by	the	Chilean	Foreign	Ministry.																						
Could	 anyone	 have	 intended	 that	 our	 Government’s	 repeated	
statements	 to	 the	 effect	 that	Chile	was	willing	 to	 hear	Bolivia’s	
propositions concerning its port aspiration were good for the paper 
only	but	that	once	in	the	field	of	the	practice	we	ought	to	have	told	
Bolivia	that	‘we	refuse	categorically	to	hearing	your	proposals?’
    
	 For	my	part,	owing	to	our	country’s	prestige,	I	categorically	
reject	that	possibility.	

	 And,	how	is	a	country	heard	in	the	diplomatic	sphere?	By	
discussing	the	matter	and	launching	conversations	on	it.	The	word	
negotiation	means	no	more	 than	 that,	 and	 it	 is	 common	practice	
to	begin	negotiations	by	means	of	an	exchange	of	memoranda	or	
notes	–as	happened	in	the	present	case.		

	 The	 problem,	 in	 all	 its	 aspects,	 is	 being	 studied	 in	 these	
conversations, together with both parties’ viewpoints and the 
compensations	that	might	be	agreed	upon.	

	 The	 compensations	 offered	 might	 not	 be	 convenient	 for	
Chile, as was the case with other countries, but there was one thing 
that	 could	 not	 have	 been	 done:	 to	 break	 the	 reiterated	 promises	
made	to	the	effect	of	hearing	Bolivia,	which	had	been	requesting	a	
direct	and	friendly	demarche	for	many	years,	and	this	is	evidenced	
in the archives of the Foreign Ministry. 

	 This	is	not	a	new	matter,	but	one	that	has	been	dragged	along	
for	a	long	time	and	which	Chile	cannot	and	must	not	avoid	with	
mere	dilatory	resources.	We	cannot	give	a	nation,	or	the	whole	
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of	America,	 the	 impression	 that	we	are	not	willing	 to	 implement	
in	the	practice	what	we	publicly	and	repeatedly	promised.	Such	a	
conduct would oppose to our solid prestige as a nation and would 
run	counter	to	the	clarity,	frankness	and	loyalty	with	which	we	must	
address	international	affairs.	For	my	part,	I	refuse	to	disown	these	
rules. 

	 Honorable	Mr.	Bulnes	has	stated	that	the	negotiations	‘might	
have related to declaring Arica a free port, granting Bolivia certain 
rights or any other related issue, but not to give it an own access to 
the	Pacific	Ocean	by	force,	as	is	now	being	projected’.	This	would	
allegedly	have	entailed	a	 substantial	change	 in	 the	Government’s	
policy. 

 However, as we have seen before the reiterated the 
statements	made	by	the	Government	of	Chile	referred	precisely	and	
determinately	to	an	own	outlet	to	the	Pacific	Ocean,	which	was	the	
object	 of	 Bolivia’s	 claim	 before	 international	 Congresses	 and	 of	
constant	direct	demarches	vis-à-vis	the	Chilean	Foreign	Ministry.	

	 What	then	is	the	intention	behind	the	accusation	and	argument	
that	we	could	now	change	the	conversation	to	discuss	other	matters?	
Can the assertion that a “substantial change” has been produced in 
the	Government’s	policies	be	founded	in	these	considerations?	

	 Allow	 me	 to	 repeat	 it	 once	 more,	 no	 changes	 have	 been	
produced	 in	our	 foreign	policy	 [in	 relation	 to	Bolivia]:	 there	has	
only been a sincere, frank and honest application of that policy, 
without	any	fear	for	the	attacks	that	might	result	from	this	attitude,	
whatever	their	motives.	

	 So	as	not	to	tire	the	Honorable	Chamber,	I	will	not	continue	
addressing Honorable Mr. Bulnes’ observations on the irrigation 
project	 of	 which	 he	 spoke	 and	 according	 to	 which	 it	 would	 be	
necessary to lay a pipeline of three quarters the extent of Chile’s 
territory. What would have actually been in the interest of the 
Honorable	 Chamber	 was	 to	 know	whether	 our	 Government	 had	
ever	 adopted	 such	 project,	 because	 I	 otherwise	 see	 no	 point	 in	
mentioning	it.	
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	 I	 will	 neither	 stop	 to	 examine	 this	 Deputy’s	 theory	
that	 ‘if	 the	northern	 region	were	 turned	 into	 a	 farming	 land,	
the	 climate	 in	 that	 region	would	 change	completely,	 causing	
rains that would result in the loss of our saltpeter wealth’. This 
theory	 contradicts	 scientific	 principles.	 Even	 supposing	 that	
forests are planted, that would not result rains. It is the sea, 
and	not	forests,	that	causes	rains	–as	the	experience	of	several	
countries	has	demonstrated.

	 In	 any	 case,	 it	 is	 too	 early	 to	 talk	 about	 projects	 on	
utilization of electrical energy to collect ground water and 
foster industry or others, because we have only agreed to enter 
into conversations with Bolivia and no proposal authorizing a 
consideration	on	compensations	 that	Chile	would	 accept	has	
been received yet.

	 There	 are	 other	 aspects	 of	 relevance	 that	 justify	 our	
Foreign	Ministry’s	attitude	–which	has	caused	this	debate–	but	
I believe these can be discussed in a secret session. 

	 To	conclude	my	observations,	I	hereby	invite	the	Deputies	
to	take	the	consideration	of	our	international	affairs	to	a	field	
of	solemnity,	wherein	 the	 intelligence	and	efforts	of	 the	men	
who represent all sectors can be brought together in pursuit of 
a national orientation. Let’s restrict our political discrepancies 
to	the	field	where	they	belong.	Let	us	not	divide	ourselves	by	
political	parties	in	solving	our	foreign	affairs	because	we	might	
cause	irreparable	harm	to	the	fate	of	the	Republic.

	 And	when	resolving	our	problems,	let	us	not	look	only	at	
the actions carried out in the present, but also look into future 
projections	 that	 could	 derive	 from	 our	 diplomatic	 actions	
together.

	 Let	 us	 be	 encouraged	 by	 an	 ideal	 of	 true	 American	
brotherhood, seeking, not the politics followed by other 
countries or isolation within the Continent, but a broad union 
of	all	States	that	integrate	this	continent	in	order	for	them	to,	
once they are dully united, contribute effectively to defending 
the Christian civilization that is now being threatened.              
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Annex 277

“Ambassador Ostria spoke of the Chilean-Bolivian port 
problem in La Paz”, El  Diario  Ilustrado (Chile), 

6 January 1951

(Original in Spanish, English translation)

El Diario Ilustrado Newspaper (Chile)
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El Diario Ilustrado 6 January 1951
AMBASSADOR OSTRIA SPOKE OF THE CHILEAN-

BOLIVIAN PORT PROBLEM IN LA PAZ 
Both	countries’	positions	have	been	explained.	Simultaneously,	 the	 initial	 stage	
towards	a	solution	was	opened.	Interview	given	to	United	Press	and	the	press	of	
La Paz.
La	 Paz,	 5.	 (UP)	 –Interviewed	
by	 the	 United	 Press	 and	 local	
newspapers, the Bolivian 
Ambassador	 in	Chile,	Mr.	Alberto	
Ostria Gutierrez recalled that in 
June, Chile and Bolivia exchanged 
Notes on the port question and that 
Bolivia proposed to hold direct 
negotiations to obtain an outlet 
to the sea, on bases that take into 
account reciprocal advantages. 
Chile has replied that the 
Government	is	willing	to	formally	
enter into a direct negotiation 
aimed	 at	 searching	 for	 a	 formula	
that	could	make	it	possible	to	give	
Bolivia an access to the sea, and for 
Chile	 to	obtain	compensation	of	a	
non-territorial character.
Mr. Ostria Gutierrez stated, “In 
this	way,	the	Bolivian	port	problem	
was	 faithfully	 formulated	 and	
recognized by Chile, opening an 
initial stage of great transcendence 
and excluding territorial 
compensations	 by	 Bolivia,	 which	
had	 reached	 the	 maximum	 of	
sacrifices	 by	 losing	 its	 coastal	
territory as a consequence of the 
war	of	the	Pacific”.
Mr. Ostria Gutierrez added, “A 
brief break followed the exchange 
of	 Notes,	 but	 this	 does	 not	 mean	
that negotiations have been 
interrupted,	 inasmuch	 as	 ideas	
are still being exchanged with the 
Chilean	Government,	which	retains	
a favorable position that has been 
officially	 expressed	 in	 the	 note	 of	
June 1950. 
“As it is only logical, international 
negotiations 

require	 time:	 they	must	 overcome	
successive stages before reaching 
their closing stages. That is the case 
of	the	Bolivian	port	problem”.	
He then refuted the allegation that 
Bolivia would give in the waters of 
Lake Titicaca in return for a port 
area and said, “This is nothing but 
a	mere	fantasy”.	
He declared that Chile had 
confirmed	 the	 presence	 of	
groundwater	 flows	 in	 Tamarugal	
prairie and that rising vents of 
steam	 had	 been	 discovered	 in	
Patio hill, close to San Pedro, in 
the Antofagasta-Bolivia railroad, 
with which electric power could be 
supplied to the north of Chile and 
some	 Bolivian	 regions.	 “Besides,	
the waters of Lake Titicaca could 
not	 have	 been	 compromised	
without Peru’s prior consent, which 
shares sovereignty over that lake”. 
Mr.	Ostria	Gutierrez	informed	that	
the so-called “tax on turn over”, 
which had been charged on people 
and	 goods	 since	 1938,	 under	 the	
1904 Treaty and the Covenants of 
1912	 and	 1937,	 has	 recently	 been	
eliminated.	 “The	 President,	 Mr.	
Gonzalez	 Videla	 and	 Minister	 of	
Foreign Affairs Horacio Walker 
Larrain	 told	 me	 of	 the	 favorable	
solution reached for the Bolivian 
thesis; that is, to free the Bolivian 
trade	 from	 the	 payment	 of	 five	
million	Chilean	pesos”.	
He	 informed	 that	 a	 covenant	
entered into allowed Chileans to 
travel	 to	 Bolivia	 under	 simple	
safeguards and that what had to 
be	 examined	 was	 the	 right	 for	
Bolivians to visit Chile, which was 
applied only in zona Chica.                
Mr.	Ostria	Gutierrez	informed	that	
Chile	 had	 successfully	 overcome	
the	 financial	 basis	 on	 grounds	

of	 order	 and	 sacrifices	 for	 the	
taxpayers. 
“The growth of industry, 
development	 of	 agriculture,	
important	 electric	 powerhouses,	
the recently created steel plant 
of Huachipato, are rapidly 
transforming	 the	 Chilean	
economy”.	
In regard to the international 
policy	 followed	 vis-à-vis	 Bolivia,	
Mr. Ostria Gutierrez stated, “it 
is essential that three things be 
borne	 in	 mind	 in	 Bolivia:	 first,	
cessation of conspiracies to allow 
the	 Government	 to	 give	 general	
amnesty,	 second,	 that	 general	
elections	 be	 completely	 free;	 and	
third, that the election results be 
respected”.                                     
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